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This year’s cover illustration depicts MIA’s role in 
helping accounting professionals evolve their traditional 
functions—represented by the colourful numbers entering 
the funnel—to one that contributes meaningfully to 
industry and nation building, as symbolised by the light 
bulbs exiting the funnel.

In today’s competitive environment where leadership
must evolve in tandem with the ever-changing landscape 
of commerce and industry, MIA reinforces its commitment 
to help shape the accounting profession to lead a 
knowledge-based economy, as represented by the
persons holding the funnel.

The graphic fingerprint underscores MIA’s recognition of 
the contribution of the individual accounting professional  
in the industry’s collective effort to raise the standard of 
the profession.
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The Chartered Accountant Malaysia or “C.A.(M)” is 
a designation conferred by the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants (MIA) to a professional in accountancy, 
business and finance with a recognised accountancy 
qualification and relevant work experience. C.A.(M) 
are the industry captains, corporate leaders and 
decision makers that play significant roles in 
nation building.

MIA was established under the Accountants Act 
1967 as the statutory accountancy body that 
regulates, develops, supports and enhances the 
integrity and status of the profession while upholding 
the public interest. 

MIA’s Strategic Objectives

• Develop and enhance the competency of 
Accountancy Professionals to meet market 
demand;

• Advance and enhance the status of members 
and the accountancy profession in Malaysia;

• Support the practice of the accountancy 
profession in Malaysia consistent with global 
standards and best practices;

• Regulate the Practice of the Accountancy 
Profession in Malaysia consistent with Global 
Standards;

Our Management Core Values

• Integrity
• Mutual Trust and Respect
• Professionalism
• Accountability
• Commitment
• Teamwork

MIA’s Functions

Section 6 of the Accountants Act 1967 (the Act) 
states that the functions of the Institute shall be:
• To determine the qualifications of persons for 

admission as members;
• To provide for the training and education            

by the Institute or any other body, of persons 
practising or intending to practice the profession 
of accountancy;

• To approve the MIA Qualifying Examination(QE) 
and to regulate and supervise the conduct of    
that Examination;

• To regulate the practice of the profession of 
accountancy in Malaysia;

• To promote, in any manner it thinks fit,                
the interest of the profession of accountancy           
in Malaysia;

• To render pecuniary or other assistance to 
members or their dependents as it thinks fit with 
a view to protecting or promoting the welfare of 
members; and

• Generally to do such acts as it thinks fit for the 
purpose of achieving any of the aforesaid objects.

           MIA’s Vision

To be a globally recognised and renowned institute 
of accountants committed to nation building. 

           MIA’s Mission

To develop, support and monitor quality and 
expertise consistent with global best practices 
of the accountancy profession in the interest of 
stakeholders.

Working closely alongside strategic business 
partners and stakeholders, MIA connects its 
members to a wide range of continuous professional 
development programmes, updates and networking 
opportunities. Presently, there are over 30,000 
members making their strides across all industries in 
Malaysia and around the world.

Chartered Accountants Malaysia and MIA
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6. To approve the following Resolution proposed by the 
Council: 
 
“IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT the final 
examination of Management and Science University for 
the Degree of Bachelor in Accountancy (Hons) for the 
academic programme for which first commenced from 
the Academic Session November 2010 onwards, be 
recognised by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(“Institute”) as equivalent to the final examinations 
specified in Part I of the First Schedule to the 
Accountants Act 1967, and that the Minister of Finance 
be advised by the Institute to amend Part I of the First 
Schedule to the Accountants Act 1967 accordingly”.

7. Any other business.

By Order of the Council

SUDIRMAN MASDUKI 
Registrar

26 August 2015

Notice of the 29th Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that in accordance with Rule 10 of the Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants (Membership and Council) Rules 2001, the Twenty Ninth 
Annual General Meeting of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants will be 
held on Saturday, 19 September 2015 at 12.00 noon at the Mahkota 
Ballroom, Istana Hotel, 73 Jalan Raja Chulan, 50200 Kuala Lumpur.

1. To elect three (3) members of the Council for the 
ensuing year pursuant to the provisions of paragraph 
(g) of subsection (1) of section 8 of the Accountants 
Act, 1967. 
 
The following members of Council have retired 
pursuant to sub-paragraph (1)(b) of paragraph 2B of 
the Second Schedule to the Accountants Act, 1967 
and are not offering themselves for re-election at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting:

 • Paul Chan Wan Siew
 • Dealanathan J. Lourdes
 • Soo Hoo Khoon Yean 

 Nominations have been received for the following 
members for election to the Council:

 • Brian Wong Wye Pong
 • Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani
 • Salihin bin Abang
 • Sam Soh Siong Hoon

2. President’s address.

3. To consider and accept the minutes of the 
Twenty Eighth Annual General Meeting held on 
27 September 2014. 

4. To adopt the annual report of the Council.

5. To receive the financial statements of the Institute for 
the year ended 30 June 2015 and the report of the 
auditors thereon.

AGENDA



Messages from the
Immediate Past President,

President,
and Chief Executive Officer



If adopted, reforms proposed 

by the Committee to Strengthen 

the Accountancy Profession 

(CSAP) will transform the 

profession’s regulatory and 

operational landscape 

and affect the Institute’s 

raison d’etre 

significantly.”

“

Datuk Johan Idris
>  I M M E D I A T E  P A S T  P R E S I D E N T



Malaysian Institute of Accountants    •   ANNUAL REPORT 2015          7

Whilst this addresses the issue of upgrading accountants 
in midstream, we need to start early to attract high-calibre 
candidates to the profession and compete with other sectors 
which face the talent crunch as well. An ongoing initiative 
is to attract youth to accounting careers and professional 
qualifications by engaging with students in secondary 
schools and institutes of higher learning. We also worked 
together with Talent Corporation on the MIA – TALENTCORP 
Incentive Programme to organise mini career fairs focused 
on attracting talent to the accounting and tax sectors.

Broadening the net, the Institute is emphasising on diversity 
in talent to enrich the talent pool. Rather than confining 
the search to professional and graduate accountants, we 
actively seek out non-accountants and non-accounting 
students to take up professional accounting exam and join 
the world of accountants. Talent from this dimension would 
bring multidisciplinary viewpoints towards decision making 
within the profession.

A key priority is to increase the numbers of Bumiputera 
professional accountants, and thus catalyse financial 
inclusion and social wellbeing among Malaysia’s Malay 
majority. Currently, the Committee to Strengthen the 
Accountancy Profession (CSAP) estimates that only 8% 
of professional accountants are Bumiputera. The Institute 
hopes that the establishment of the Malaysia Professional 
Accountancy Centre (MyPAC), and International 
Professional Accountancy Centre (IPAC) in collaboration 
with Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM) will remedy 
the situation. MyPAC and IPAC are geared to provide 
professional qualifications to the cohort of Bumiputera 
accounting students and degree holders.

Dear members,

As the outgoing President of MIA, it is an honour to pen 
a brief review of the Institute’s strategy and key thrusts 
undertaken during the FY14/15 period. 

Fundamentally, the Institute sought to discharge its 
overarching mandate of developing the accountancy 
profession to support nation-building and good governance 
in the public interest. 

Building Capacity and Competency 

A major thrust of my term as President was to build up the 
supply and quality of professional accountants to meet 
market demands, hence furthering the nation’s economic 
and social aspirations of becoming a highly developed and 
high income nation. Currently, there are more than 31,000 
accountants registered with the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants, and the Securities Commission-led Committee 
to Strengthen the Accountancy Profession (CSAP) estimates 
that the nation needs 60,000 accountants to meet market 
demand by 2020. 

In response, the Institute identified several initiatives to help 
produce the necessary talent to cover this shortfall. Some of 
these are akin to plucking low-hanging fruit, while others will 
probably come to fruition over the medium and longer-term.  

Education Initiatives

Notably, the Institute collaborated with leading global 
professional bodies such as ACCA, CIMA, CPA Australia 
and CIPFA to provide fast-track professional certification 
schemes for our qualified members. I encourage 
our members to consider taking up these chartered 
qualifications which will improve their career prospects in the 
medium and long term.

         Immediate Past President’s Message 
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We are also collaborating with Yayasan Peneraju Pendidikan 
Bumiputera (YPPB) on an initiative whereby eligible 
Bumiputera MIA members can apply to earn a professional 
accounting qualification through YPPB’s Peneraju 
Profesional Akauntan and Peneraju Profesional Pensijilan 
Perakaunan programmes. I strongly urge our Bumi members 
to strive to upgrade themselves not only for personal 
progress, but to enrich the community and the country.

Liberalising regulations can be an effective solution to 
address the talent shortage. The Institute identified foreign 
accountants as a potential talent pool to bridge employer 
demand for finance professionals and worked to facilitate their 
entry and recognition. In November 2014, Malaysia, through 
MIA, signed a Mutual Recognition Agreement with the other 
ASEAN Member States (AMS). The key objective of the 
MRA is to facilitate a freer flow and mobility of accountancy 
service professionals across ASEAN. Moving forward, the 
ASEAN Professional Regulatory Authorities will continue to 
work on how best to harmonise the AMS’ economic and legal 
frameworks to implement and optimise the MRA.

Nevertheless, liberalisation is hardly new. Malaysia has 
been registering foreign accountants since the enactment 
of the Accountants Act in 1967, and the Government’s 
subsequent liberalisation of the accountancy profession in 
2012. Currently, there are 120 qualified foreign accountants 
registered with the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(MIA) and the Act also recognises a number of foreign 
professional qualifications. 

Prospects

Going forward, the Institute and the profession face many 
potential sources of disruption which will affect our operating 
environment and our sustainability. Yet, these disruptions 
present numerous opportunities for the profession to 
reinvent itself and become more relevant to various 
segments and sectors by moving up the value chain.

CSAP Reforms

If adopted, reforms proposed by the Committee to 
Strengthen the Accountancy Profession (CSAP) will 
transform the profession’s regulatory and operational 
landscape and affect the Institute’s raison d’etre significantly. 

In 2014, the CSAP released a 68-page consultative 
document containing 15 recommendations in response to 
a 2012 World Bank report on Malaysia’s compliance with 
accounting and auditing standards and codes. This also 
became an opportunity to formulate ways to strengthen the 
country’s accountancy profession in order to keep pace with 
the forces that are reshaping the economy. 

A key CSAP reform recommends separating the Institute’s 
regulatory and membership functions to empower 
enforcement and governance for the profession and to 
enhance the Institute’s effectiveness as a professional 
membership organisation. These recommendations 
are currently being deliberated and the outcome will be 
disclosed by the CSAP at a later date. In response, the 
Institute will disclose its future strategy and business model 
at an appropriate time. In the meantime, the Institute will 
continue to focus on building capacity and competency in 
accordance with our goals.

The Malaysian accounting fraternity must be
prepared to invest significantly in building up 
our capacity and capabilities if Malaysia wishes 
to compete as a regional hub.”

“
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Crossborder Opportunities via AEC and the MRA 

The launch of the ASEAN Economic Community (AEC) 
and the signing of the ASEAN MRA for professional 
accountancy services would be immense game changers 
for the profession and other sectors.  Currently, as a single 
entity, ASEAN is the 6th largest economy in the world with a 
GDP close to USD2.5 trillion.  With a projected annual GDP 
growth of 5.4% over the next six years, the region is poised 
to reach an economic size of approximately USD3.7 trillion 
by 2020, four times the size it was a decade ago, according 
to Bank Negara Malaysia as of May 2015. The sheer 
potential is expected to catalyse demand for accountants 
and other finance and business professionals.

Feasibly, developing the Malaysian accountancy profession 
and strengthening accountancy education puts the country 
in a position of strength as a possible regional hub for 
accountancy centre of excellence. This is indeed a great 
opportunity for  MIA to position itself as the nexus of ASEAN 
accountancy professional development, based on its 
leadership in the region’s vibrant accountancy sector. 

Therefore, the Malaysian accounting fraternity must be 
prepared to invest significantly in building up our capacity and 
capabilities if Malaysia wishes to compete as a regional hub. 
First and foremost, our members must upskill themselves 
and gain professional qualifications which are universally 
recognised as a yardstick of quality, and this is already being 
emphasised by the Institute. Second, our existing talent pool 
as well as accountants-in-training must be educated to look 
beyond Malaysian borders. Our accountancy educators and 
counsellors thus play an influential role in ensuring that our 
accounting graduates are competent, equipped with technical 
and soft skills including communication skills, and able to 
leverage on Malaysia’s diversity and wealth of multi-culturalism 
to succeed cross border. Third, we must be willing and able 

to reform our accountancy higher education programmes in 
line with the standards and best practices recommended by 
the likes of IFAC (the International Federation of Accountants), 
IASB (International Accounting Standards Board) and IAESB 
(the International Accounting Education Standards Board). 
The accountancy profession is globalising swiftly and 
harmonising standards worldwide based on IFRS; compliance 
with global standards in all aspects can open up abundant 
opportunities for Malaysia and its talent pool.

Islamic Finance is potentially another area where 
Malaysian accountants can excel and add value. 
Accountants will play an important role in Islamic finance 
going forward as the Islamic Financial Services Act 
(IFSA) 2013 calls for the financial statements of Islamic 
financial institutions to be prepared in accordance with 
the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, which is the 
domain of accountants. Members may also want to explore 
opportunities in shariah governance and audit which utilise 
existing skillsets in audit and assurance. Towards this end, 
the Institute has been collaborating with agencies such 
as Islamic Banking and Finance Institute Malaysia (IBFIM) 
on Islamic finance regulatory and reporting development 
initiatives in compliance with IFSA.   

Other areas of opportunity unfolding for members and 
accountants going forward include Government accrual 
accounting as the Government makes the transition from 
cash-based accounting, and advisory services for GST 
post-implementation.
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Strengthening the Team

The management team is the backbone of the Institute’s 
success. I am grateful for the support and hardwork of the 
team in meeting the objectives set by the Council. Upon 
realising the importance of building a strong and competent 
team to bring the Institute to the next level, several initiatives 
were undertaken to attract the right talent to join the Institute 
including the recruitment of a Deputy CEO in July 2015. 

Acknowledgements

Indeed, it has been a steep learning curve, but my term as 
MIA President which ended as of 15 July 2015 has been 
highly rewarding. I would like to thank all those who have 
been of great help and support in advancing the goals of 
the Institute during my term – my fellow Council members, 
the management and staff of the Institute, the Government, 
the regulators, the professional accounting bodies, the 
academics, and most important of all, the members. The 
Institute will always endeavour to place members’ interests in 
the forefront as it seeks to develop the profession.

On behalf of the Council and Institute, I am delighted to 
welcome Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Azmi who takes office as 
the new MIA President and Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan who 
was elected as the MIA Vice-President for a new term with 
effect on 27 July 2015. 

I am confident that the Institute will benefit tremendously 
from their diverse strengths. Dato’ Faiz is the Executive 
Chairman of PriceWaterhouse Coopers (PwC) Malaysia with 
significant experience in audit and assurance, technical, 
and Islamic finance. The latter is particularly notable as the 
Institute is positioning accountants as potential finance and 
assurance leaders in the Islamic finance sector.  

Backed by extensive experience in Maybank, the Malaysian 
Rating Corporation (MARC) and now serving as Managing 
Director of Capital Intelligence Advisors Sdn Bhd and 
independent director in several PLCs, Datuk Zaiton brings 
considerable corporate and board governance experience 
to the table. This links to the Institute’s efforts to establish 
finance professionals as corporate leaders and board 
advisors, moving beyond their traditional roles in the 
finance function. 

I would also like to welcome four new appointments to 
the MIA Council who will enhance the Institute’s efforts to 
build capacity and competency especially in innovative 
new areas. Prof Dr Romlah Jaffar represents Universiti 
Kebangsaan Malaysia, Dato’ Gan Ah Tee represents ICAEW 
Malaysia, and Mr. Wong Chin Aik represents CPA Australia. 
While all are leaders in their own sphere, Prof Dr Maliah 
Sulaiman of International Islamic University Malaysia brings 
blue ocean expertise in environmental accounting and 
reporting, nascent areas where accountants can add value 
as business sustainability and climate change issues gain 
traction globally. 

Although the mantle of leadership has been passed 
on, I hope to continue to serve the Institute and the 
profession to the best of my abilities. Despite the fear of 
the unknown, I believe that there has never been a more 
auspicious era to be an accountant, as disruptions open up 
unforeseen opportunities. I strongly encourage all my fellow 
accountants to manage change by continuously upskilling 
and reskilling. Continuous learning is the key to adding 
value and remaining relevant. 
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As the profession moves ahead, the Institute’s roadmap 
includes identifying and implementing the necessary reforms 
and structural adjustments required to attract, develop 
and retain top accounting talents in the industry. We need 
to ensure that MIA members and accountants offer and 
maintain consistently high service standards to the markets 
in which we operate, by providing them with the tools and 
support needed to excel in the domestic, regional and global 
environment. In future, I trust that the Institute will continue 
to champion the accounting profession, maintain high 
standards among members and nurture the next generation 
of accountants, while navigating the future and focusing on 
continuous improvement. 

Thank you!

DATUK JOHAN IDRIS
Immediate Past President



MIA should consider              

a general 3R strategy

– Reposition, Rebrand and 

Recruit - in executing its task 

to develop and strengthen 

the accountancy 

profession.”

“

Dato’ Mohammad
Faiz Azmi

>  P R E S I D E N T
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        President’s Message 

Our Repositioning efforts will pivot around the CSAP 
proposals as a platform for change. Although the CSAP 
is not an MIA initiative, we welcome CSAP as a window 
for beneficial reform. Hence, with the cooperation of our 
stakeholders, MIA would like to take the opportunity to 
leverage CSAP to implement positive changes to the 
accountancy landscape. 

Rebranding refers to MIA’s roles post-CSAP. A key reform 
proposed by CSAP is to separate MIA’s regulatory and 
professional roles. Carving out the regulatory role will 
mean that MIA has to reposition itself as a professional 
membership and certification body at the national level, 
and perhaps even at the regional level. Nevertheless, MIA 
will need to offer a different value proposition in a highly 
competitive accountancy education landscape in order to be 
sustainable.

Recruit refers to Malaysia’s target of producing 60,000 
accountants by 2020 to meet economic demands and 
support nation-building. MIA takes its obligation to promote 
and recruit fit-for-purpose accountants very seriously. We 
have to be innovative and diligent to compete in the war 
for talent; initiatives will include exposing young talent to 
prospects in the profession, and rebranding the profession 
as an attractive career option. 

Dear members,

On 27 July 2015, the MIA Council elected me as MIA 
President and returned Datuk Zaiton as Vice President for a 
new term.  I would like to express my thanks to the outgoing 
President, Datuk Johan Idris for his leadership and efforts 
during his presidency.

This role as MIA President is quite a daunting one.  However, 
I am humbled by the support and help that has been 
extended to me in this new role.

As accountants, transparency is expected of us.  I 
understand that there are pressing issues which require 
answers and closure, in particular those relating to the 
reforms proposed in 2014 by the Committee to Strengthen 
the Accountancy Profession (CSAP), a committee under the 
auspices of the Securities Commission. However, given that 
I have only just been elected, I hope that members will grant 
me a few months’ grace until the end of the year to study 
the CSAP and its potential impacts before revealing MIA’s 
subsequent direction. In the interim, I propose from now 
until year-end, to engage with MIA’s various stakeholders 
to gauge their views on the CSAP proposals and 
implementation process in order to reach a solution which is 
amenable to all. 

3Rs

While the granular details of MIA’s strategy will be clarified 
in 2016, my initial thoughts are that MIA should consider 
a general 3R strategy – Reposition, Rebrand and Recruit 
- in executing its task to develop and strengthen the 
accountancy profession. 



14          Malaysian Institute of Accountants    •   ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Restoring Trust

One other matter I wish to remind all members is that 
irrespective of change, our raison d’etre remains the same. 
Delving back into history, we can see that auditors and 
accountants have been around for decades, dating back 
to the use of Islamic Accounting frameworks in the 14th 
Century to Pacioli’s description of double-entry book-
keeping among Venetian merchants in the 15th century. A 
key function of the profession has been to provide comfort 
to providers of financial capital that their monies were being 
applied properly.  It later evolved into the role of an auditor, 
who gives assurance that the monies received by limited 
liability companies, are used for the intended purpose.  
Today, this fundamental role of an assurance provider is part 
of the profession’s DNA even as the business landscape 
evolves. Accountants enjoy legitimacy and credibility as long 
as we can assure our stakeholders that we are discharging 
our roles to safeguard their interests.  

Nevertheless, there have been recent incidents both 
locally and globally that have called into question whether 
accountants have lived up to our principles and have been 
found wanting.  The financial scandals could not have 
been perpetrated without the involvement or acquiescence 
of accountants both in business and in the profession.  
The shockwaves of these events are still rippling today.  
Among the consequences were the imposition of costly 
and complex regulations and an erosion of trust in the 
profession; accountants were questioned and we are forced 
to re-examine the substance and impact of our standards 
and processes.

Fast forward to 2015, we need to work hard to reclaim this 
trust by returning to our roots. We have to discharge our 
obligations and regain the trust and also safeguard the 
interests of the public and stakeholders by voicing out our 
dissent and taking appropriate measures when we suspect 
wrongdoing. Silence and apathy signals our collusion and 
empowers wrongdoers. We have a moral responsibility and 
duty to operate in compliance with global standards and 
professional codes of ethics to ensure financial transparency 
and accountability.

Regardless of future developments, accountants as a 
profession must always behave with integrity and a clear 
conscience. Stripping aside our technical excellence 
and financial skills, this is where we add genuine value 
as a profession. Let us all work together to uphold 
professionalism and exemplary governance, and reclaim 
back public trust.

Finally, I would like to thank all the members of MIA for their 
support and patience as we work towards a constructive 
resolution of outstanding issues. I would also like to thank 
the outgoing Council members for their contributions.  I 
hope to be able to serve the Institute to the best of my 
abilities as it seeks to develop and uplift the accountancy 
profession. 

Thank you!

DATO’ MOHAMMAD FAIZ AZMI
President

We have a moral responsibility and duty
to operate in compliance with global standards 
and professional codes of ethics to ensure 
financial transparency and accountability.”

“





16          Malaysian Institute of Accountants    •   ANNUAL REPORT 2015

“The Institute continued to orient 

our efforts in two directions: 

one, developing the accountancy 

profession to support 

nation-building, and two, 

enforcing regulations to 

uphold exemplary 

behaviour and protect 

the public interest.”

Ho Foong Moi
>  C H I E F  E X E C U T I V E  O F F I C E R



For FY2015/2016, the Institute aims to maintain its stellar 
performance while managing costs prudently. Empathising 
with members’ fiscal challenges in an environment of 
rising costs, the Institute will strive to downplay reliance 
on membership income. Hence, Continuing Professional 
Education (CPE) programmes will continue to be a key 
revenue generator, although the boost provided by GST 
implementation was most likely a one-off event. The 
downside is that professional accountancy training and 
events is a highly competitive segment where the Institute 
competes with many other global and local professional 
bodies. To differentiate itself, the Institute will continue to 
identify new exciting segments in which to provide high-
quality and relevant learning programmes, and to market 
its CPE programmes beyond the Institute’s membership 
circles in order to expand its customer base. These new 
CPE subjects include accrual-based accounting for 
public sector finance, integrated reporting, GST post-
implementation, MPERS, IFRS updates, Islamic finance, 
finance shared services, board governance, quality 
disclosure, finance function leadership, and data analytics, 
among others. Another effective strategy is to collaborate 
on CPE programmes and events with other professional 
bodies to promote win-win situations for all. We hope 
that members will continue to attend the Institute’s CPE 
programmes to benefit from on-trend learning while aiding 
the Institute’s efforts towards self-sufficiency.
   

Dear members,

On behalf of management, it is a privilege to be able to 
report on the Institute’s performance, achievements and 
challenges for the year under review, as well as to clarify the 
risks and opportunities which lie ahead. 

Consistent with our mandate, the Institute continued to 
orient our efforts in two directions: one, developing the 
accountancy profession to support nation-building, and two, 
enforcing regulations to uphold exemplary behaviour and 
protect the public interest. 

To achieve these, the Institute utilised several different 
capitals, which are primarily financial, human, intellectual 
and social, and attempted to augment these to protect our 
sustainability and licence to operate in the long term.

Strengthening Financial Capital 

As the Institute is a non-profit agency with minimal funding 
obtained from other Government agencies, it constantly 
strives to build up its financial capital in order to achieve 
financial self-sufficiency and adequate resources to fund 
high-calibre learning programmes and development 
initiatives for the benefit of our members and the profession.

I am delighted to report that the Institute’s financial 
results outperformed previous years’ financials, driven 
by robust growth in the events and conference segment. 
Membership income rose marginally to RM12,814,400 from 
RM12,305,950 for FY2014/2015. Income from events and 
conferences surged to RM30,289,199 from RM19,246,667, 
driven by education initiatives linked to the implementation 
of the Goods and Services Tax (GST) effective 1 April 2015. 
Buoyed by the events and conferences segment, total 
revenue jumped from RM31,552,617 to RM43,103,599 and 
surplus before tax rose to RM7,799,728 from RM2,719,690.
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         Chief Executive Officer’s Message 
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Expanding Human and Intellectual Capital

During the year under review, the Institute endeavoured to 
develop the necessary capacity and competency to support 
nation building. Put simply, we worked hard to increase 
the numbers of high-quality accountants and accountants-
in-training to ensure that Malaysia can draw on financial 
human capital to meet economic and investor demand. We 
hope that our efforts could also help fulfil national goals of 
fostering social and financial inclusion - the Institute believes 
that expanding the number of competent accountants can 
improve their long-term career and economic prospects, 
collectively increase the number of middle and high income 
earners and bridge income gaps, and hence uplift social and 
community wellbeing.

Membership development is a critical element of the Institute’s 
mandate. As at 30 June 2015, the total membership stands 
at 31,395, comprising 31,130 Chartered Accountants, 
3 Licensed Accountants and 262 Associate Members. 
In the financial year 2014/2015 (FY 14/15), 1,511 qualified 
individuals were admitted as MIA members, comprising 
1,482 Chartered Accountants and 29 Associate Members. 
Going forward, the Institute faces intense competition for 
new member registration from other professional accounting 
bodies, but will endeavour to market the benefits of MIA 
membership to more Malaysian accountants.

Apart from pursuing growth in membership volume, the 
Institute deployed several strategies to enrich human capital 
quality and competency during the year under review. CPE 
is pivotal to augment quality and ensures that members 
comply with global standards to inspire confidence in 
stakeholders. For the financial year ended 30 June 2015, 
MIA successfully delivered 796 CPE programmes, including 
74 new titles, affirming CPE’s value-adding innovation. 
Where possible, the Institute subsidised CPE or offered 
complimentary programmes to facilitate access to learning 
for more accountants, especially those employed in sectors 
with limited resources.

As a professional accounting body focused on upskilling for 
quality, the Institute places intense emphasis on education 
from the cradle to grave. We believe that we need to start 
at the very earliest possible to attract potential human 
capital to the accountancy profession, and to combat the 
challenge of diminishing interest in accountancy due to the 
perception of dull work and long hours, and the glamour and 
allure of other professions.  During the year under review, 
the Institute’s Membership Development and Education 
division has emplaced an array of initiatives to attract interest 
from a broad range of candidates. These include a financial 
literacy programme with embedded accounting content and 
the ongoing Accounting Quiz for secondary schools. The 
Institute also supported Talent Corporation’s initiatives, the 
Aspiring Accountants Programme (AAP) and Structured 
Internship Programme (SIP) which placed suitable 
candidates and interns with employers.

At tertiary level, the Institute demonstrates a keen interest 
in restructuring accountancy education in accordance with 
global standards and requirements. Towards this goal, the 
Institute conducts systematic reviews and recommends 
improvements to the syllabi and qualifications of tertiary 
institutions under Part 1 of the First Schedule to the 
Accountants Act, 1967.  

While the Institute welcomes accountants and potential 
accountants from all backgrounds, we are committed 
to increasing the numbers of professional accountants 
quickly in the shortest time possible in order to raise 
quality, improve career prospects, and improve financial 
inclusion for social and economic wellbeing. In line with the 
recommendations from the Committee to Strengthen the 
Accountancy Profession (CSAP), a pragmatic strategy is 
to upskill experienced accountancy graduates or holders 
of accountancy degrees by facilitating their professional 
certification. This is being done through collaborative 
schemes with other global professional chartered 
associations.  

“The Institute endeavoured to
develop the necessary capacity 

and competency to support
nation building.”
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The Institute engaged with ACCA, CIMA, CPA Australia 
and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountants 
(CIPFA) to provide special pathways to fast-track eligible 
members to chartered qualifications and membership. Since 
professional certification can be costly, the Institute has 
engaged with Government agencies such as Talent Corp 
and Yayasan Peneraju Pendidikan Bumiputera to facilitate 
funding for deserving candidates aspiring to qualify as 
professional accountants.  

While all segments of our membership (public practice, 
professional accountants in business, academics and public 
sector) are important, the Institute has deemed it especially 
urgent to assist small and medium practitioners (SMPs) 
develop. SMPs make up the majority of members in the 
public practice segment. The majority of SMPs today are 
constrained by limited resources and burdened by evolving 
regulations and compliance requirements, which may hinder 
their progress in a dynamic environment. In response, the 
Institute recently established a dedicated SMP Department 
to support their capacity building and act as a coordinator 
and focal point for small and medium size firms.

Internally, the Institute increased its headcount to diversify 
and strengthen our human capital. I am delighted to 
welcome the Institute’s new Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer (DCEO), Dr Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan, who brings 
significant experience in public practice, corporate, and 
academia to the Institute.    

Enhancing Social Capital

The Institute relies heavily on engagement to earn credibility 
and acceptance from its stakeholders, build robust 
linkages, and hence enhance its social capital and secure 
its licence to operate. At the same time, these linkages 
enable the Institute to promote the interests of the Malaysian 
accountancy profession, explore new opportunities for 
growth, and benefit its members. 

The Institute prioritises engagement in areas which are being 
disrupted by regulations and enforcement, hence leading to 
potential issues affecting members. Importantly, the Institute 
works very closely with CSAP, which issued a Report on the 
Strengthening of the Accountancy Profession in Malaysia for 
public feedback in December 2014. The Institute anticipates 
that if CSAP’s recommendations are adopted, there will be 
major changes and reforms in the accounting landscape 
which will disrupt the Institute’s business model. Regardless, 
the Institute remains committed to executing its mandate of 
developing the profession to the best of its abilities. 

Policing the Profession

The Institute has a fundamental responsibility to embed good 
governance and professional integrity in the accountancy 
profession to inspire public and stakeholder confidence. 
Indeed, this aspect of the Institute is essential to strengthening 
our social capital, ensuring our relevance in the market, and 
granting us credibility and legitimacy. In line with its statutory 
obligations under the Accountants Act, 1967, the Institute 
seeks to regulate the Malaysian accountancy profession 
through its surveillance and enforcement division, which 
oversees the compliance unit and the statutory investigative, 
disciplinary and appeals committees. 

Activities conducted under the purview of the compliance 
unit include practice review and financial statements review, 
as well as awards to champion excellence in financial 
reporting and disclosure. Where justified, the three statutory 
committees work to deter and sanction non-compliant 
behaviour in order to enhance members’ standards of 
professional conduct, thereby improving the quality of 
professional services and upholding the public interest. 
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Institute’s Functions
Section 6 of the Accountants Act 1967 (the Act) states that 
the functions of the Institute shall be:
• To determine the qualifications of persons for admission 

as members;
• To provide for the training and education by the Institute 

or any other body, of persons practising or intending to 
practise the profession of accountancy;

• To approve the MIA Qualifying Examination (QE) and to 
regulate and supervise the conduct of that Examination;

Governance Framework

• To regulate the practice of the profession of 
accountancy in Malaysia;

• To promote, in manner it thinks fit, the interests of the 
profession of accountancy in Malaysia;

• To render pecuniary or other assistance to members or 
their dependents as it thinks fit with a view to protecting 
or promoting the welfare of members; and

• Generally to do such acts as it thinks fit for the purpose 
of achieving any of the aforesaid objects. 
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Institute’s Governance and 
Internal Control Statement
The following report outlines how the Institute has 
applied the main principles and best practices as set 
out in the relevant codes of corporate governance in 
order to discharge its duties and optimise assurance, 
independence and oversight. This statement also explains 
how management, controls and risk management practices 
are structured in order to minimise risks and optimise 
performance.

Council
Pursuant to Section 9 of the Act, the general power of the 
Council is to manage the Institute and its fund. Specifically, 
as per Section 10 of the Act, the Council shall have power 
to make by-laws, to appoint staff, to take cognisance of 
anything affecting the Institute or professional conduct of 
its members, to communicate with other similar bodies and 
with members of the profession in other places, to establish 
branches and delegates in its absolute discretion any of its 
power, privileges and discretions, to appoint Committees 
of the Institute, to exercise all such powers, privileges 
and discretions which are not required to be exercised by 
members in the general meeting and to use the official seal 
of the Institute.

The President of the Institute shall be the Chairman of the 
Council. The appointment and composition of the Council 
members are in accordance to Section 8(1) of the Act.  
 
During the financial year, the Council conducted eight (8) 
meetings and the agenda of its meetings included:
1. Approval of Audit & Assurance Standards and Institute’s 

By-Law;
2. Review of Statutory Committees and Other Committees 

Progress and Activities;
3. Appointment of Boards/ Committees members as 

recommended by Nominating Committee;
4. Approval of the Institute’s Year-End Financial Statement 

and Review of Monthly Financial Statement;
5. Review of Institute’s involvement in International Bodies/ 

Committees;
6. Approval of the Institute’s membership application;
7. Approval of Institute’s recommendation to the relevant 

stakeholders such as IFAC Boards and CSAP; and
8. Approval of the Institute’s yearly budget. 

Executive Committee (EXCO)
The EXCO was established by the Council as an Operating 
Committee which functions as a medium between Council 
and management to ensure that business strategies, 
daily operations and any operational issues are carried 
out effectively and efficiently and that good corporate 
governance practices are observed.

The Terms of Reference of EXCO was approved by the 
Council. The Chairman of EXCO is the President of MIA and 
it comprises six (6) Council members. During the financial 
year, the EXCO conducted eight (8) meetings and the 
agenda of its meeting included:
1. Review of the Institute’s Monthly/ Year End Financial 

Statement;
2. Review of the Institute’s yearly budget;
3. Approval of the Institute’s revised operation manuals;
4. Review of Regional Offices’ activities; and
5. Approval of any expenses based on the Institute’s Limit 

of Authority (LOA)

Nominating Committee (NC)
The NC was established by the Council and its primary 
objective is to establish a mechanism for the formal 
assessment of each candidate before he/she is 
recommended to the Council for appointment to the 
Committees of the Institute. The Committee ensures that 
appointed members bring characteristics that satisfy the 
required mix of responsibilities, skills and experience.

NC which consists of the President, Vice President, two (2) 
Council members and a representative of the Accountant 
General’s Department and the Committee shall meet as and 
when the Committee deems necessary.

During the financial year, the Committee conducted seven 
(7) meetings to nominate various committee members to the 
Council for approval. 

Audit & Risk Management 
Committee (ARMC)
The ARMC was established by the Council and its primary 
objective is to assist the Council in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities for the system of internal control, financial 
reporting, risk management process and governance of 
the Institute.

The Terms of Reference (TOR) of the ARMC was approved 
by the Council on 26 July 2007 and the latest revision was 
approved on 19 September 2014. The ARMC comprises 
five (5) Council members who are not members of the EXCO. 
  
As at to date, the Committee conducted four (4) meetings 
and amongst its activities were to review the Institute’s 
Year-End Financial Statements, Internal Audit Reports, 
MIA Risk Management Practices and Activities, MIA Key 
Risks Profile and the interim and final audit process (by an 
external auditor appointed by the Auditor General) for MIA’s 
Financial Statement. For the year-end Financial Statement, 
an external auditor appointed by the Auditor General Office 
and representatives from the Auditor General Office were 
invited twice to the ARMC meeting to brief the Committee 
on the Audit Planning Memorandum (APM) prior to the 
audit and subsequently to highlight any issues to the 
Committee post audit.
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Institute’s Control Environment 
and Structure
A. Institute’s Committees

The Council is supported by a number of established 
Committees in the execution of its responsibilities. Each 
Committee has clearly defined terms of reference and are 
divided into certain types of Committees as follows:

continue to operate satisfactorily and effectively. The IAD 
also provides objective assurance and consulting activity 
by evaluating and improving the effectiveness of the risk 
management, control and governance process of the Institute.

It is the responsibility of the IAD to provide the ARMC with 
independent and objective reports on the state of internal 
control of the various units within the Institute and the extent 
of compliance of these units to the Institute’s established 
policies and procedures as well as relevant statutory 
requirements.

The internal audit function adopts a risk-based audit 
approach and performs its review based on a two-year 
internal audit plan approved by ARMC. The enterprise risk 
management framework is one of the elements considered 
by the IAD to form the basis of this plan. IAD also practices 
an adaptive audit planning approach, which provides the 
flexibility needed to respond to the emerging risks as well as 
potential future risks in carrying out its activities.

The following is a summary of the IAD activities for the 
financial year under review:
i. Regular review on business processes – risk-based 

auditing was performed on the key risk areas/ Institute 
activities approved by ARMC.  Four (4) internal audit 
review exercises, which assess the principal risks of 
the audited areas, were carried out during the financial 
year with significant issues noted as well as the 
responses from the audited units from the completed 
exercises were deliberated in the ARMC meetings. 
The areas for improvement were recommended and 
agreed upon by Management. Where necessary, 
ARMC also made recommendations to further improve 
the internal control, risk management and financial 
reporting process. 

ii. The IAD facilitated and advised the Institute in 
its Enterprise Risk Management activities. Risk 
Management related activities carried out during the 
financial year consist of:
• Institute’s Key Risks Profile – Three (3) strategic 

risks and four (4) key risks at operational level were 
identified and necessary controls were put in place 
or are in the process of implementation to ensure 
the objectives of the Institute are achieved.  

• Three (3) special exercises assessing the risk(s) 
and impact(s) on the implementation of goods 
and services tax (GST), office relocation and 
Committee to Strengthen the Accountancy 
Profession (CSAP) report to the Institute.  Results 
of these exercises were subsequently shared with 
the Management.  

iii. IAD has also conducted the Institute’s occupational, 
safety and health review exercise in the financial year.

1

2

3

4

5

Governance
Committees

Statutory
Committees

Technical
Committees

Representative of
Membership Committees

Surveillance
Committees

Institute’s control environment and structure
A. Institute’s committees

For type 1, the details are stated in the table on page 26 and 
for other types of committees, the details are stated in the 
section entitled Committees.

B.  Institute’s Management 

Responsibility for implementing the Institute’s strategies
and daily operations is delegated to the Institute’s 
Management. Clear lines of authority, responsibility and 
accountability have been established to enable Institute’s 
objectives to be achieved. The divisional structure enhances 
the ability of each division to focus on their assigned core of 
support functions within the Institute. The Institute is headed 
by the CEO.

C.  Internal Audit Function

The internal audit function of the Institute is carried out by 
the Internal Audit Department (IAD) that reports directly to 
the ARMC and administratively to the CEO. The Internal 
Audit Charter was approved by the Council on 26 July 
2007 to govern the authority of the IAD in performing its 
responsibility. IAD supports the oversight role of the ARMC 
by undertaking independent, regular and systematic review 
of the systems of internal control so as to provide reasonable 
assurance on the adequacy, integrity and that such systems 
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The internal audit reports arising from these assignments 
were issued to the Management for their response and 
corrective actions. The Management is responsible for 
ensuring that corrective actions on reported weaknesses 
are taken within the required timeframe. The audit reports 
that provide the results of the audit conducted are submitted 
to the ARMC for deliberation. Key control issues and 
recommendations are highlighted to enable the Committee 
to execute its oversight function.

D.  Risk Management

The Institute regards risk management as an integral part 
of the Institute’s control environment. The Institute’s risk 
management policy and process was established under the 
Enterprise Risk Management manual, which was approved 
by the Council. The Management Risk Management 
Committee (MRMC) is responsible for the risk management 
of the Institute with the facilitation from IAD on the activities 
and processes.

E.  Financial Statement Audit 

Pursuant to the Act, the MIA is established as a statutory 
body under the Ministry of Finance and is audited by the 
Auditor General in accordance with the Audit Act 1957 
via its appointed external auditor. The external auditor 
performed an interim and final audit of the Institute’s financial 
statements and was invited to highlight any issues in two (2) 
ARMC meetings. The Certificate of the Financial Statements 
of MIA was issued by the Auditor General.

F.  The Institute’s Key Processes, Policies and 
Procedures

In the financial year, the following key processes, policies 
and practices were in place as part of our system of 
internal control:
• MIA has a Limit of Authority (LOA) set out defining 

authorisation limits for various levels ranging from staff 
to Council levels

• The Institute has established an organisational structure 
with clearly defined lines of responsibilities, authority 
limits and accountability aligned to business and 
operations requirements

• The Institute has established the Council Committees 
with clearly defined delegation of responsibilities within 
the definition of terms of reference and organisation 
structures.  These Committees include the Governance 
Committees, Statutory Committees, Surveillance 
Committees and Technical Committees.  The 
Committees have the authority to examine all matters 
within their scope and report to the Council with their 
recommendations

• Operational and administrative committees have also 
been established with appropriate empowerment to 
ensure effective management and supervision of the 
Institute’s business operations

• Policies and procedures of operating and business 
processes are documented in a series of Operation 
Manuals and implemented throughout the Institute. 
These manuals are subject to regular reviews, updates 
and continuous improvements to reflect the changing 
risks and operational needs

• A detailed budgeting and reporting process has been 
established. Comprehensive budgets are prepared by 
the operating units and presented to the EXCO and 
Council for review and approval respectively. These 
budgets are cascaded throughout the organisation 
to ensure effective execution and follow through. The 
financial results are monitored and reported to the EXCO 
and Council in every meeting

• A formal performance appraisal system for all levels of 
employees has been implemented, which allows for the 
assessment of individual employees’ actual performance 
against his/her Key Performance Index (KPIs)

• The Staff Code of Conduct was established and 
published in the Employee Handbook

• As an IFAC member body, MIA reported its compliance 
with the Statement of Membership Obligations as 
required under the IFAC Member Body Compliance 
Programme  
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Composition of the Council/Governance Committees
The composition of the Council and Governance Committees as well as the attendance of its members at meetings are listed 
as follows:

Council

No of meetings: 8

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Johan Idris Chairman/
President

- 8/8

2. Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan Vice President - 6/8

3. Saat Esa - Appointed on 8 January 2015 2/4

4. Abu Bakar Rajudin Member Appointed on 20 December 2014 3/4

5. Ahmad Zahirudin Abdul Rahim Member Retired on 27 September 2014 2/2

6. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mohamat Sabri Hassan Member - 3/8

7. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nor Aziah Abu Kasim Member Retired on 28 February 2015 0/5

8. Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member - 5/8

9. Dato' Abdul Rauf Rashid Member - 7/8

10. Dato' Heng Ji Keng Member - 5/8

11. Dato' Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi Member Appointed on 20 December 2014 4/4

12. Dato' Narendra Kumar Jasani Member Retired on 24 September 2014 1/2

13. Dato' Rosini Abd Samad Member Retired on 22 December 2014 2/4

14. Dato’ Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Member - 2/8

15. Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member - 6/8

16. Dr. Mohd Nordin Mohd Zain Member - 6/8

17. Dr. Nurmazilah Dato' Mahzan Member Retired on 31 July 2014 1/1

18. Dr. Veerinderjeet Singh Member - 4/8

19. Eugene Wong Weng Soon Member - 1/8

20. Foong Mun Kong Member Elected on 27 September 2014 4/6

21. Kua Choo Kai, Simon Member Retired on 27 September 2014 1/2

22. Leong Kah Mun Member - 7/8

23. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member - 8/8

24. Mohamad Azmi Ali Member - 6/8

25. Mohd Noh Jidin Member Retired on 30 November 2014 2/3

26. Mohd Zabidi Md Nor Member - 3/8

27. Ng Kean Kok Member Elected on 27 September 2014 4/6

28. Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member Retired on 31 December 2014 3/4

29. Prof. Dr. Ayoib Che Ahmad Member - 4/8

30. Prof. Dr. Che Ruhana Isa @Muhamed Isa Member Appointed on 20 December 2014 2/4

31. Prof. Dr. Rozainun Hj Abdul Aziz Member - 5/8

32. Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Member - 6/8

33. Tan Theng Hooi Member Appointed on 20 December 2014 4/4

34. Yap Seng Chong Member Elected on 27 September 2014 5/6

35. Yeo Tek Ling Member - 8/8
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Executive Committee

No. of Meetings: 8     
 

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Johan Idris (Chairman) President - 8/8

2. Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan Vice President - 5/8

3. Saat Esa Member Appointed on 8 January 2015 3/5

4. Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member Retired on 18 December 2014 2/3

5. Dato' Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi Member Appointed on 20 December 2014 4/5

6. Dato' Rosini Abd Samad Member Retired on 22 December 2014 1/3

7. Dato’ Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Member Appointed on 18 December 2014 1/5

8. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member - 8/8

Nominating Committee

No. of Meetings: 7                                          

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Johan Idris (Chairman) President - 7/7

2. Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan Vice President - 6/7

3. Saat Esa Member Appointed on 8 January 2015 3/5

4. Dato' Abdul Rauf Rashid Member - 5/7

5. Dato' Narendra Kumar Jasani Member Retired on 24 September 2014 1/1

6. Dato' Rosini Abd Samad Member Retired on 22 December 2014 1/2

7. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member Appointed on 1 August 2014 6/6

Audit & Risk Management Committee

No. of Meetings: 4

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Mohd Zabidi Md Nor Chairman Reappointed 18 December 2014 4/4

2. Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member Reappointed 18 December 2014 4/4

3. Mohammad Azmi Ali Member Appointed 24 July 2015 2/3

4. Mohd Noh Jidin Member Retired 30 November 2014 1/1

5. Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member Retired 31 December 2014 0/1

6. Tan Theng Hooi Member Appointed 1 January 2015 3/3

7. Yap Seng Chong Member Appointed 1 January 2015 3/3





Nurture
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Membership Development and 
Education - Executive Summary
The nation’s Economic Transformation Plan (ETP) mandates 
that the country has a pool of resources that will contribute 
to Malaysia’s aspirations to become a high income and 
developed nation. As detailed in the ETP roadmap, 
accountancy was identified as a significant driver and 
accounting is a quintessential function in all businesses 
across the economy. As an organisation that regulates 
and charged with the development of the accountancy 
profession in Malaysia, MIA is conscientious in developing a 
sustainable number of competent Chartered Accountants to 
realise these aspirations.

In support of the transformation effort, the Membership 
Development and Education’s initiatives are aligned to the 
nurture – develop – sustain modality. As the Institute is 
acutely aware that there is a decline in the interest to take 
up accountancy as a profession due to perceptions of long 
working hours and a less glamorous career as compared 
to other professions, MIA is focused on addressing this at 
the nurturing stage. A financial literacy programme with 
a focus on accountancy will be initiated at the secondary 
school level to advocate accountancy as an interesting 
and rewarding career whilst building a healthy pipeline 
of accountants. Nevertheless, the Accounting Quiz for 
secondary schools, which is in its third year, continues to be 
a platform to promote accountancy as a career. 

Also included in the nurturing stage, the Institute has 
developed a Structured Internship Programme (SIP), 
which provides guidance to interns and employers on 
a structured approach on initial work experience. The 
programme hopes to prepare students towards their chosen 
career in accountancy. Apart from the comprehensive 
internship guidance booklet, a specially designed induction 
programme, which encompasses relevant and topical issues 
in accounting, has been embedded into the SIP.

For MIA Chartered Accountants to remain relevant and meet 
global challenges, the Institute is working towards the setting 
in place an educational eco-system that endeavours to 
provide quality pre and post qualification development.

At the pre-qualification level, the Institute continues to 
carry out systematic reviews of the qualifications of tertiary 
institutions under Part 1 of the First Schedule to the 
Accountants Act, 1967, whereby recommendations for 
improvements are made.  

As a penultimate step towards accounting graduates turning 
into full-fledged Chartered Accountants, a methodical 
approach to develop the readiness of accounting 
graduates is via the Chartered Accountants Relevant 
Experience (CARE) programme. The CARE Programme 
consolidates the efforts of both the mentor (employer) and 
mentee (graduates) where the outcome is an accounting 
professional who has acquired the necessary technical and 
generic competencies. Although the CARE Programme 
had been enhanced over time since its inception in 2009, 
a reformation is currently in process, which will further 
strengthen the quality of the learning outcomes.

Recognising the importance of professional accounting 
qualifications, MIA had signed three Memorandums of 
Understanding/ Agreements, which provides an excellent 
opportunity for MIA members who are without professional 
qualifications to acquire one. The professional bodies, 
namely, ACCA, CIMA and CPA Australia, have provided 
special pathways that include waiver of registration 
and exemption fees to assist eligible members to gain 
a professional qualification. On financial support, in 
collaboration with Government agencies, such as Talent 
Corporation (Talent Corp) and Yayasan Peneraju Pendidikan 
Bumiputera (YPPB), funding provided by these organisations 
have also enabled a number of aspiring accountants to 
embark on the journey in gaining professional qualifications 
as Chartered Accountants.  On other initiatives, the Institute 
has teamed with Talent Corp and YPPB to create awareness 
and promote the acquiring of professional accounting 
qualifications via various forums, such as the Mini Sector 
Focused Career Fairs and organised talks to students taking 
up professional studies.

With rapid pace of change in the profession and global 
accounting landscape, it necessitates our members 
to continually keep abreast with these developments. 
In support of our members’ continuing professional 
development, MIA develops and designs programmes for 
those servicing different industries in our economy. 
Whilst on a boarder perspective, the annual MIA 
International Conference provides a forum for our members 
to gain insights into the current and future issues in the 
accountancy profession as well as a networking opportunity. 
Also responding to our Prime Minister’s request, a series 
of seminars, workshops and conferences have also been 
organised to create awareness and educate members and 
the public of the goods and services tax implementation.
Combining the initiatives, the Institute is confident in 
developing a pool of Chartered Accountants who are 
able to make an impact and be a key stakeholder in the 
nation’s aspirations to becoming a high-income and 
developed country.

Membership Development
As at 30 June 2015, the total membership stands at 31,395, 
comprising 31,130 Chartered Accountants, 3 Licensed 
Accountants and 262 Associate Members. 

In the financial year 2014/2015 (FY 14/15), 1,511 qualified 
individuals were admitted as MIA members, comprising 
1,482 Chartered Accountants and 29 Associate Members. 
Of the 1,482 Chartered Accountant members, 1,456 
members qualified under the Part I and Part II of the
First Schedule to the Accountants Act, 1967, where 26 were 
MIA Qualifying Examination (QE) graduates. 

Overall in the Financial Year 14/15, 43% of the members 
were admitted via the professional membership route, 53% 
are local graduates, 2% via the MIA QE and 2% possess 
other qualifications.  Over the past 12 months, 114 applicants 
were reinstated as members.
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Admission of Members Via Part I of the First Schedule to the 
Accountants Act, 1967

University

Bachelor of
Accounting,

University of Malaya 
Admitted: 49

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),
Universiti Kebangsaan

Malaysia
Admitted: 44

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),

Universiti Teknologi
MARA

 Admitted: 255

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours), 

Universiti
Utara Malaysia

 Admitted: 159

01

04

02 03

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours), 

Universiti
Putra Malaysia

 Admitted: 61

05

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours), 

Universiti Islam
Antarabangsa Malaysia 

Admitted: 36

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours), 

Universiti
Sains Malaysia

 Admitted: 32

06 07

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),

Universiti Tenaga Nasional
(the academic programme for which
first commenced from the academic

year 2002/2003 onwards)

 Admitted: 26

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),
Universiti Multimedia

(the academic programme for which first 
commenced from the academic

year 2002/2003 onwards)

Admitted: 66

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours), 
(Information System),

Universiti
Utara Malaysia
Admitted: 28

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),

Universiti Malaysia 
Terengganu

Admitted: 14

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),

Universiti
Malaysia Sabah
Admitted: 16

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),

Universiti
Industri Selangor
Admitted: 16

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),

Universiti Sultan
Zainal Abidin
Admitted: 1

Bachelor of
Accounting (Honours),

Universiti Sains
Islam Malaysia
Admitted: 5

10 11 12

13 14 15

08 09

Malaysian Institute
of Certified Public

Accountants 
Admitted: 14

Institute of
Chartered Accountants

in England & Wales
Admitted: 15

01

Association of
Chartered Certified 

Accountants
(United Kingdom)
 Admitted: 391

03

02

Institute of
Chartered Accountants

in Australia
Admitted: 7

04
CPA Australia

Admitted: 18405

Institute of
Chartered Accountants

of India 
Admitted: 1

06

Chartered Institute
of Management

Accountants
(United Kingdom)
Admitted: 36

07

Admission of Members Via Part II of the First Schedule to the 
Accountants Act, 1967

Professional Body
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Pursuant to Rule 7(1) of MIA’s (Membership and Council) 
Rules 2001, a total of 348 members were removed from 
the Register of Members for failing to settle their annual 
subscription within the stipulated time frame. Two members 
were removed due to disciplinary action. 151 members 
resigned while 28 members passed away during the FY. 
Overall, the membership growth for the financial year was 3.6%.

High-Income Economy

Accountants in Malaysia are encouraged to upskill their 
knowledge, and a recommendable route is to acquire 
professional qualifications. In May 2014, the Institute had 
entered into an agreement with CPA Australia whereby 
members with a minimum of 10 years membership with 
the Institute were entitled to a special pathway into CPA 
Australia.  Following this in the current Financial Year, the 
Institute had signed agreements with the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants (CIMA & CGMA Fast Track Route) 
and Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA 
Incentivised Pathway). These efforts have created interest 
amongst members to enrol for professional programmes. 
It is hoped that accountants in Malaysia will emerge with 
enhanced quality and globally recognised qualifications. This 
will also accomplish the country’s aim to transform Malaysia 
into a high-income economy.

On 30 March 2015, the Institute signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU) with the Certified Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). This signing supports the 
Government in transitioning to accrual accounting as well 
as to advance high quality public financial management in 
Malaysia.  The MoU gives eligible MIA members an exclusive 
privilege to gain the CIPFA Membership.

Amongst the priorities engendered by the Government, 
the need to intensify efforts in increasing the number of 
Bumiputera accountants is in the forefront. In fact, as cited 
in the 2015 budget announcement, the Government has 
allocated RM72 million for Yayasan Peneraju Pendidikan 
Bumiputera (YPPB); an agency under the Prime Minister’s 
Department to implement three programmes in the form 
of scholarship, training and financial assistance. MIA has 
supported YPPB to encourage more Bumiputeras to enrol 
for professional accountancy programmes. Eligible members 
can apply to earn a professional accounting qualification 
through YPPB’s Peneraju Profesional Akauntan and Peneraju 
Profesional Pensijilan Perakaunan programmes.   

MIA – TALENTCORP Incentive Programme

Talent Corporation Malaysia Berhad (TalentCorp) in 
collaboration with MIA, has organised 2 Mini Sector Focused 
Career Fairs (SFCF) for the accounting and tax sectors at 
Telekom Malaysia Convention Centre and main campus, 
Universiti Sains Malaysia. The main participants of the Mini 
SFCFs were our MIA’s member firms and tax companies.

The objectives of the Mini SFCF are:
• To provide a platform for employers to connect or meet 

face-to-face with potential candidates with specific areas 
of qualifications;

• To encourage preliminary networking/ relationship 
between employers and potential candidates prior to 
graduation and actual job search by promoting the 
internship programme – that may result in offers of long 
term employment;

• To provide opportunity for students to obtain 
information, guidance and advice from the 
representatives present at the fair;

• To enable students to learn useful techniques and skills 
for job interviews; and

• To encourage potential candidates to take up a career in 
accountancy and promote awareness on the fundings to 
pursue professional qualifications.

Apart from the MIni  SFCF, the Institute and TalentCorp 
have collaborated on various initiatives, notable ones are 
the Aspiring Accountants Programme (AAP) and Structured 
Internship Programme (SIP) for member firms. The AAP 
is a foundation course to facilitate students from non-
accounting disciplines to be trained and qualify as Chartered 
Accountants. Subsequent to joining the AAP, candidates 
will be placed in a six weeks foundation course, which is 
fully funded by TalentCorp. Upon successful completion of 
the course, candidates will be offered a training contract 
towards gaining a professional accounting qualification 
whilst working in one of our members’ firm. For this initiative, 
the participating professional bodies are ACCA and ICAEW.

The SIP was launched in this FY whereby approved Small 
and Medium Practice (SMP) firms will be eligible for a double 
tax deduction incentive on related expenses incurred on 
interns hired under this programme. SIP aims to encourage 
Malaysian students who are pursuing accounting degree (or 
equivalent) to gain relevant work experience in an accounting 
environment. The programme also provides opportunity for 
SMPs to engage with potential employees whilst coaching 
them during the internship period. To date, 21 audit firms 
have registered for this programme.

MIA continues to promote and grow its membership to 
support the Economic Transformation Programme. The 
Institute has undertaken a number of recruitment strategies 
which includes holding awareness programmes and on-
site registration at firms, organisations and institutions of 
higher learning (33 events), holding pre-admission talks and 
registration days (14 events) and participation in seminars/ 
exhibitions/ career fairs (17 events).  

This initiative also allows MIA to educate the public on the 
requirement for membership of the Institute in upholding 
the Accountants Act, 1967 and the accountancy profession 
in Malaysia.  
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Membership Statistics
Geographic Distribution
Table 1: Membership By Geographic Distribution (As of 30 June 2015)
*Including F.T. Labuan

State AM CA LA Total

Johor 10      1,863 1 1,874

Kedah 16         589  605

Kelantan 30         219  249

Melaka 14         629  643

Negeri Sembilan 8         641  649

Pahang 29         387  416

Penang 4      2,064  2,068

Perak 29         997 1 1,027

Perlis 16           55  71

Sabah 5      1,028  1,033

Sarawak 11      1,767  1,778

Selangor 52     12,631  12,683

Terengganu 17         265  282

Federal Territory* 20      7,094 1 7,115

Overseas 1         901  902

Grand Total 262     31,130 3 31,395

Membership Growth
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Membership by
Qualifications

Membership by 
Age Group

Membership by
Employment

Membership by
Gender

Professional

Accountancy Degree

60.06%

38.86%

  0.85%

  0.23%

MIA QE

Others

Female

Male

49%

51%

Below 30

31-40

41-50

51-60

Above 61

35%

14%

  5%

 9%

37%

Academia

Commerce/ Industry

Public Practice

Public Sector

  2%

8%

68%

22%

During the FY, a total of 244 practising certificates were 
issued. There were also a total of 32 re-applications for the 
practising certificates. A total of 71 practising certificates 
were cancelled due to non-payment of practising certificate 
fees and non-renewal of PII (12), non-commencement of 
public practice within 6 months from date of issuance of the 
certificate (17), cessation of practice (32), resignation from 
MIA membership (4) and on the demise of the certificate 
holders (6).

Profile of PC 
holders by age 

Profile of PC 
holders by gender

  2%

20%
23%

Below 30

31-40
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Above 61

17%

38%
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75%

25%

Status of Practising Certificates (PC) Issued

M
e

m
b

e
rs

 
C

a
te

g
o

ry

To
ta

l a
s 

a
t 

3
0

/0
6

/2
01

4

N
ew

 
A

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s

R
e

-a
p

p
lic

a
ti

o
n

s

C
a

n
c

e
lla

ti
o

n

To
ta

l a
s 

a
t 

3
0

/0
6

/2
01

5

Chartered 
Accountants

2,780 244 32 -70 2,986

Licensed 
Accountants

4 - - -1 3

TOTAL 2,784 244 32 -71 2,989

In this FY, 145 firms were registered with the Institute 
consisting of 46 audit and 99 non-audit firms. MIA 
deregistered 14 audit and 29 non-audit firms, which 
had ceased operations. 3 audit firms were suspended 
due to inactive firm status and pending documentation 
from the Companies Commission of Malaysia (SSM) 
for deregistration. 5 non-audit firms converted their 
firms to audit firms. From the total number of firms, 20 
audit firms and 4 non-audit firms have registered under 
Limited Liability Partnerships (LLP) in the Local Chartered 
Accountant (LCA) category with the SSM.

The following table shows the distribution of member firms 
(audit and non-audit) registered within the Institute.
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Member Firms by State (As of 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2015)
*Including F.T. Labuan

State

As at 30 June 2014 As at 30 June 2015

Audit Firms Non-Audit 
Firms

Total Audit Firms Non-Audit 
Firms

Total

Johor 127 83 210 128 90 218

Kedah 26 15 41 27 20 47

Kelantan 11 7 18 11 8 19

Melaka 34 18 52 34 21 55

Negeri Sembilan 20 15 35 20 14 34

Pahang 23 10 33 23 10 33

Penang 113 50 163 113 59 172

Perak 53 56 109 55 58 113

Perlis 1 2 3 1 2 3

Sabah 86 44 130 86 46 132

Sarawak 76 43 119 76 44 120

Selangor 311 203 514 326 224 550

Terengganu 9 4 13 9 4 13

Federal Territory* 488 221 709 498 236 734

Total 1,378 771 2,149 1,407 836 2,243

Section 510 of the Institute’s By-Laws (on Professional 
Ethics, Conduct and Practice) stipulates that every member 
in public practice is required to ensure that his or her firm 
carries and maintains a policy of professional indemnity 
insurance (PII). PII was made mandatory for all members 
in public practice where the minimum mandatory limit of 
indemnity was set at RM250,000 per partner per firm.  

The Institute is pleased to report that majority of its members 
in public practice had provided valid PII when renewing their 
practising certificates for the financial year 2014/2015. 4 
members were unable to provide evidence of his/her PII and 
their PC’s have been cancelled in this FY.

Upon cancellation of the practising certificate, respective 
authorities such as the Ministry of Finance (MOF) and 
Companies Commission of Malaysia (CCM) were notified 
accordingly in the case of approved auditors.  With regard to 
non-audit firms, the member’s firm may be required to cease 
operation.

Approved auditors must comply with the Institute’s By-Laws 
and other specific rules. This compliance is important as 
the Institute will only support the renewal of audit approvals 
of members who have met their obligations. During the 
previous FY, a total of 694 out of 900 (77%) complied with all 
their obligations when the Institute’s support was requested 
at first instance. This FY, a total of 537 out of 700 (77%) 
complied with all their obligations at the first instance. The 
Institute eventually supports all renewals when all obligations 
have been met.

Resource Centre

Attesting to the quality of its materials, the Resource Centre 
(RC) has recorded a higher number of users, both members 
and non-members. RC continues to provide its users 
with facilities to access material online namely the CCH 
Intelliconnect (Legal, Accounting, Tax, HR and Company 
Law), Lexis Malaysia (Collection of legal cases) and Lawnet 
(Government gazette).

The Resource Centre has also registered a higher number of 
audit approval applicants who use its services to prepare for 
their interviews. The Resource Centre carries book titles and 
other reading material, which will assist the interviewee to 
prepare for the interviews.

The Resource has also expanded its number of 
publications for sale. The RC sources for titles, which 
would be of interest to our members and are sold to 
members at preferential rates.
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Helpdesk

MIA’s Helpdesk continues to provide assistance to 
members and the public who seek information from the 
Institute. Helpdesk monitors queries received through the 
MIA e-feedback form in the Institute’s website to ensure 
timeliness in responses. 

The MIA Survey 2014 launched in March 2014, examines 
members’ expectation to activities conducted or services 
provided by MIA. Amongst the focus of the survey was to 
obtain feedback on the Institute’s Continuing Professional 
Education (CPE) activities, Institute’s Branding, Accountants 
Today, Surveillance & Enforcement measures and Education 
initiatives.  

We received 3,567 responses with the majority of 
respondents from the Public Sector (39.9%), followed by 
28.6% from the Public Practice and PAIB with 25.9%.  We 
also received 5.6% respondents from the Academia.

Overall, members were satisfied with the services provided 
by MIA in terms of the range of CPE programmes; the 
enforcement mechanism such as Investigation Committee, 
Disciplinary Committee, Disciplinary Appeal Board; MIA 
practice review programme that raised the standards on 
quality control for the auditing profession in Malaysia, 
especially for the small and medium-sized firms; MIA 
technical guidance in solving their technical needs; MIA’s 
media publicity and branding; the information shared by 
the Institute on its website and also through its online 
communication channels; and the Accountants Today 
magazine published by MIA.

Nevertheless, there was much feedback with regard 
to members’ expectations and also some constructive 
feedback.  The Institute through its various Committees and 
Departments are in the process of implementing some of 
these feedbacks.

Regional Offices

The four regional offices (Johor, Northern, Sabah and 
Sarawak) of the Institute continue to serve members in 
their respective regions with the support of the Regional 
Committees. The main regional activities are conducting 
Professional Development events, providing clarification 
to members on their obligations and other assistance, 
building and maintaining rapport with local stakeholders, 
and organising activities for members in the regions such 
as annual dinners and social events. Annual dinners, social 
events, forums provide a platform for members to share 
issues related to the profession and allow members within 
the region to have better networking.

The Institute continually encourages participation from 
members to serve in Committees. The Regional Committee 
led by the Chairman guides as well as supports the 
Management in carrying out activities and representing the 
Institute in its respective regions.

Accelerating Knowledge and 
Competency Development
The availability of competent and skilled accounting and 
finance professionals is crucial in maintaining the integrity 
of the financial reporting chain. It ensures public interest 
is protected and the profession continues to thrive in a 
demanding and ever-changing environment.

The Professional Development Department (PDD), a 
strategic business unit of MIA, develops and delivers 
Continuing Professional Education (CPE) programmes for 
members, non-members and stakeholders and help them 
prepare to undertake present and future challenges. 
PDD CPE programmes are offered in various forms and 
formats - workshops, seminars, short courses, forums, 
and conferences as well as online and customised in-house 
training – keeping accounting professional abreast on the 
latest developments in the profession as well as new needs 
and demands of the sector.

MIA, via PDD and its Regional Offices, also serves its 
members and stakeholders throughout the country. PDD’s 
customer base consists of approximately 60% MIA members 
and 40% non-members, who are serviced by three strategic 
business units within PDD as shown in the chart on the 
following page (Appendix1).

PDD is tasked to carry out research work on CPE/ training 
needs and topics for the accounting profession, formulate 
appropriate CPE programmes, source facilitators/ speakers 
or subject matter experts or secure partners, manage the 
marketing and promotions, and finally present the CPE 
programmes. 
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• Regular training workshops 

• Core topics such as 
Accounting, MFRSs, 
MPERS, Audit, Tax, 
GST, Management  
Accounting, Strategic/ 
Financial Management, 
Banking & Finance, Legal,  
Corporate Governance, 
IT and Soft Skills  
 

• Members Induction Course 

• Customised in-house 
corporate training 

• E-Learning modules 
(online)

• Industry focused/Market   
intelligence seminars 

• Forums/Mini Conferences/  
Annual events 
 

• International speakers series 

• Partnership events with   
specialist organisations 

• Sponsored events/talks   
(free for members)

• MIA International    
Accountants Conference   
(MIA Conference)  

• Sponsorships and   
Exhibition

CPE
Programmes 

Unit

Special
Projects 

Unit

MIA
Conference 

Unit

PDD

PDD’s CPE Programmes Unit Focuses on:

1. Producing and delivering regular workshops on core 
topics such as Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
(MFRS), Malaysian Private Entities Reporting Standards 
(MPERS), Audit, Tax, Goods and Services Tax (GST), 
Management Accounting and so forth.

2. Managing the Members Induction Course via an 
e-learning portal for newly-admitted members.

3. Offering online CPE courses and customised in-house 
training programmes to organisations with emphasis on 
MFRS/ MPERS topics, Goods & Services Tax (GST) and 
other technical topics relevant to the accounting fraternity.

PDD’s Special Projects Unit Focuses on:

1. Value-added CPE activities such as industry-focused and 
market intelligence seminars. 

2. Forums and mini conferences targeting specific segments 
of the accounting profession and business community. 

3. Delivering international speakers’ series through 
partnerships with specialist organisations 

4. Organising sponsored CPE events and talks that MIA 
members participate at no cost.

PDD’s MIA Conference Unit Focuses on:

1. Managing the MIA International Accountants Conference 
in terms of crafting the programme and acquisition of 
speakers and delegates.

2. Managing the Conference sponsorship in terms of 
designing various types of sponsorship packages and 
acquisition of sponsors and supporters. 

MIA Conference 2014 was attended by more than 2,600 
delegates, including representatives from 23 countries. 
Thus, it has become one of the country’s premier 
international accountancy events and has helped to position 
MIA on the global map of the accounting profession.
 

Appendix 1
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The delegates to the conference represent:
1. Professional Accountants in Business (56%), 
2. Public Sector (31%), 
3. Public Practice (7%), 
4. Academia (6%). 

Its sheer significance is also reflected in the support 
received by MIA. The Conference received sponsorship and 
support from over 50 organisations, including leading global 
professional bodies and accounting firms. Prime Minister, 
YAB Dato’ Sri Haji Mohd Najib bin Tun Haji Abdul Razak 
officiated the Conference and delivered the keynote address. 

Overall CPE Performance

For the financial year ended 30 June 2015, MIA successfully 
delivered 796 CPE programmes, including 74 new titles.
251 industry specialists and subject matter experts served 
as facilitators and speakers for the CPE programmes, 
including 92 new speakers. This further cements MIA’s 
growing reputation as a leading provider of continuing 
professional education for the accounting profession. In the 
year under review, MIA delivered CPE programmes in these 
categories:

Categories
No. of 

Events
%

GST & Taxation 386 49%

Information Technology 116 15%

Management Accounting 
& Strategic Management

85 10%

FRS & Accounting 81 10%

Soft Skills 29 4%

Audit, Assurance 
& Risk Management

26 3%

Public Practice & Consultancy 25 3%

Legal & Corporate Governance 19 2%

e-Member Induction Course/ 
e-Learning

15 2%

Others 14 2%

Total 796 100%

MIA recorded a total of 35,263 participants of which 
18,408 were members. This represents 58% of the MIA’s 
total membership. The remaining 16,855 participants were 
non-members from the accounting fraternity. The growing 
interest suggests the increasing confidence of the public and 
accounting family towards MIA’s programmes.

PDD is MIA’s main income generator. The income generated 
from this business unit provides MIA with funding for its other 
core support functions namely professional standards and 
practices in supporting members on technical areas, and 
surveillance & enforcement, which is carried out to protect 
public interest.

For the financial year 2014/2015, the Institute’s CPE activities 
housed under PDD generated a revenue of RM30.3 million, a 
RM11.1 million increase compared to RM19.2 million recorded 
in the corresponding year. The significant increase in the CPE 
revenue was due to the increased number of GST related 
programmes produced and delivered during the financial year. 
In terms of net contribution from CPE activities, PDD recorded 
RM16.7 million for the year under review. 

The CPE needs of MIA members based in various parts of 
the country have never been neglected. As MIA represents 
the profession, besides Klang Valley CPE programmes were 
also organised in other parts of the county. Below are the 
locations of the programmes. 

Regions
No. of

Programmes
%

Klang Valley 568 72%

Penang 50 6%

Johor 74 9%

Sarawak 38 5%

Sabah 42 5%

Others 24 3%

Total 796 100%

MIA has recorded a steady growth in terms of the number 
of CPE programmes delivered and income generated. The 
number of CPE programmes delivered over the years has 
also increased substantially. The growth statistics for the 
number of programmes delivered and the revenue generated 
for the last eight (8) years are as follows:

No. of Programmes Delivered from 2008 to 2015 
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Revenue Generated from 2008 to 2015

Close collaboration with external organisations has been 
one of the key factors contributing to the steady rise of MIA’s 
CPE services. MIA has excellent working relationships with 
leading accounting firms, professional bodies, regulatory 
bodies and other specialised organisations. During the year 
under review, MIA jointly worked on CPE programmes and 
activities with the following partners:

Partners and Supporting Organisations

04
•  Asian Institute of Finance  
 (AIF)
•  Asian Pacific Association  
 of Banking Institutes   
 (APABI)
•  BizNet Global
•  CRADLE
•  Crimsonlogic
•  CSI World Headquarters
•  FA Advisory
•  Focus
•  FPLC
•  Franklin Covey
•  Global Event Asia
•  GlobalAcc
•  GSTACADEMY
•  Help University
•  IBFIM
•  IBM
•  ICFE Group of Companies
•  Institute of Business   
 Analytics Pte Ltd
•  ISACA
•  Islamic Banker
•  Islamic Finance News

•  ITD World
•  Jackson BodyLanguage  
 International
•  Labuan IBFC
•  Leadership Resources   
 Malaysia
•  Lee Hishammuddin   
 Allen & Gledhill
•  London SpeakerBureau
•  MALAYSIA SME
•  Malaysian National   
 Computer Confederation
•  MEF Academy
•  Meridian Communications
•  Mesiniaga
•  MSME News Networks
•  MSWG
•  Taylor’s University
•  The Malaysian Reserve
•  TRATAX
•  UNITAR
•  Wardrobe
•  Women’s Institute   
 of Management
•  YYC & CO

03
•  Auditing & Assurance
 Standards Boards   
 Malaysia
•  Bank Negara Malaysia
•  BAR Council
•  BURSA Malaysia
•  Inland Revenue Board   
 of Malaysia
•  Jabatan Audit Negara
•  Ministry of Finance
•  Ministry of Education
•  Malaysian Accounting   
 Standards Board (MASB)

01
• ACCA
•  CPA Australia
•  CIMA
•  CIPFA 
•  ICAEW
•  IFAC

Professional
Bodies

•  ACT Partners
•  Baker Tilly  
•  Deloitte KassimChan   
 Tax Services Sdn Bhd  
•  Ernst & Young Malaysia 
•  Grant Thornton
•  KPMG
•  PricewaterhouseCoopers  
 (PWC)

02
Accounting

Firms

Regulatory Bodies/ 
Government
Departments

Specialist
Organisations

•  Persatuan Akauntan 
 Percukaian Malaysia   
 (MATA)
•  Royal Malaysian
 Customs Department 
• Securities Industry   
 Development 
 Corporation (SIDC) 
•  SME CORP
•  Suruhanjaya Pencegah   
 Rasuah Malaysia (SPRM)
•  Suruhanjaya Syarikat   
 Malaysia (SSM)
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Free CPE Courses For MIA Members
members to support their professional development. More 
than 1,100 MIA members benefited from these free courses 
and seminars during the year as follows:

No Programme Title Partner Date
No of 

Participants

1. Leading People: Key Competencies & Sharpening 
Your Skills

Mr. Harban Singh 22 Jul 14 37

2. Strategic Business Realignment in light of Goods and 
Services Tax (GST)

TraTax 10 Jul 14 37

3. Outreach Programme by SSM SSM 25 Aug 14 27

4. White Collar Crime: How You Can Make a Difference? Suruhanjaya Pencegahan 
Rasuah Malaysia

26 Aug 14 59

5. From Theory to Practical – Understanding and Applying 
the 23 GST Tax Codes

HELP University 4 Aug 14 142

6. CFO Dialogue 2014: The Cutting Edge CFO CIMA 8 Sep 14 94

7. CFO Connect: Driving the CFO Leadership Agenda Microsoft Malaysia 18 Sep 14 8

8. How to Achieve Business Goals Faster Mr. Jeevan N. Sahadevan 18 Sep 14 40

9. Special Members Briefing Royal Malaysian Customs 
Department

4 Sep 14 252

10. A Look at Labuan IBFC's Foundation Structures for 
Business Succession Planning (FOC) Briefing

Labuan IBFC 30 Sep 14 45

11. Members Dialogue with MIA President MIA President 16 Oct 14 48

12. Integrity in Business Practice Suruhanjaya Pencegah 
Rasuah Malaysia

11 Nov 14 46

13. Unclaimed Money Act 1965 Jabatan Audit Negara 
Malaysia (JANM)

4 Dec 14 29

14. Breakfast Discourse 2nd Series – Impact of IFRS15 on 
Different Business Sectors

UNITAR International 
University

27 Jan 15 107

15. Transforming Your Finance Teams for Higher Performance Mr. Ernie Turner 
Mr. Gurbakhish Singh

28 Jan 15 44

16. Potential Goods & Services Tax Issued Faced by Business 
Taxpayers in Malaysia

Mr. Appadu Santhariah 11 May 15 63

17. Tax Audit Framework and Voluntary Disclosure Mr. Renganathan Kannan 24 Jun 15 40

Total 1,118

MIA continues to challenge itself in developing more 
innovative and forward-looking corporate social 
responsibility (CSR) initiatives. Besides the subsidised CPE 
programmes, MIA offered numerous free CPE courses to its 
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Preparing Members for GST

In the 2014 Budget announcement, the Government 
declared to proceed with the implementation of the Goods 
& Services Tax (GST) starting 1 April 2015. Following the 
announcement, MIA initiated a series of seminars and 
workshops to educate its members and the general public 
on GST. During the year MIA worked with various GST 
experts and organisations; 386 seminars and workshops 
nationwide on GST topics were delivered. The seminars 
were well-received with over 23,000 attendees.
The initiative includes the series of 6-day GST Preparatory 
Course, organised in collaboration with the Royal Malaysian 
Customs Department. The majority of the participants were 
members from public practice.

Supporting Members in Public Practice and 
Improving Audit Quality

As an ongoing effort to improve the audit quality in Malaysia 
especially audit works carried out by SMPs, MIA designed 
various types of CPE initiatives namely seminars, workshops 
and forums to support and educate members of the public 
practice. During the year, the following CPE/ initiatives were 
carried out:
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1. Audit Quality 
Enhancement 
Programme 
for SMPs

Sept 14 – 
Apr 15

KL, PG, 
JB, KCH

199

2. Interview For 
Approved 
Company 
Auditor and 
Liquidator

Sept 14 – 
Jun 15

KL 216

3. MIA Public 
Practice 
Programme

Aug 14 – 
May 15

KL, JB, 
KK,  PG

397

4. Practitioners 
Updates 2014

17 Sep 14 PG 68

5. Public 
Practitioners 
Forum 2014

11 Sep 14 KL 64

6. Audit & ISA Jul 14 –  
Jun 15

Nationwide 206

Total 1,150

Specific CPE Initiatives and 
Achievements During The Year
Enriching Members on MPERS Knowledge 
and Skills

MASB announced the issuance of the Malaysian Private 
Entities Reporting Standards (MPERS) to be applied 
effectively on 1 Jan 2016. MIA as the national regulatory 
body for accountancy profession was entrusted to 
develop and enhance the competency of local accounting 
professionals and ensure they practise and comply with 
MPERS. During the financial year MIA delivered the 
necessary technical skills training to MIA members on 
MPERS via a series of training programmes. A total of 24 
CPE programmes were organised and they were attended 
by 542 participants who were mainly members of PAIB and 
Public Practice.

Educating Members on 2015 Budget 

YAB Dato’ Sri Haji Mohd Najib bin Tun Haji Abdul Razak, 
the Prime Minister and Minister of Finance unveiled the 2015 
National Budget on 10 October 2014. Following the budget 
announcement, MIA organised a nationwide roadshow to 
educate and update its members and the public on key 
highlights of the Budget, especially in promoting good tax 
planning and practices. MIA, in collaboration with MATA, 
organised 16 events with over 2,500 attendees. The 
locations of the events were as follows:
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1. Central 
Region

Kuala Lumpur, 
Petaling Jaya

Oct – 
Nov 14

845

2. Northern 
Region

Penang, Alor Setar, 
Ipoh

527

3. East Coast Kuantan, Kota Bharu, 
Kuala Terengganu

127

4. Southern 
Region

Johor Bharu, 
Melaka

608

5. Sabah Kota Kinabalu, 
Sandakan, Tawau

246

6. Sarawak Kuching, Sibu, Miri 266

Total 2,619
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Supporting Members in Public Sector/ 
Government on MPSAS

Malaysia is preparing to adopt the full accrual-based 
accounting in the near future. This shift from cash-based 
accounting to accrual accounting will enable the public sector 
to report its financial performance, financial position and cash 
flow more accurately. This will enhance accountability and 
transparency in its financial management. In supporting the 
Government’s call as well as the accounting professionals 
in public sector, MIA has rolled out customised in-house 
and public CPE programmes on Malaysian Public Sector 
Accounting Standard (MPSAS). 

Supporting Members in the Academia on New 
Updates and Practical Insights

Accounting educators today face a unique challenge 
in meeting the demand of producing progressive and 
knowledgeable graduates who are able to thrive in a 
dynamic and volatile market environment. Cultivating and 
developing graduates, who are able to learn, unlearn and 
relearn will ensure the availability of high performance human 
capital assets to lead the nation and ensure the country 
remains competitive on the international stage. Recognising 
the importance of MIA members in the academia field, MIA 
has rolled out several CPE initiatives specifically for the 
academicians during the year as follows:
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1. GST for 
Accounting 
Educators 
– A Comprehensive 
Understanding

Mar – May 15 KL, KCH 69

2. National 
Accounting 
Educators 
Convention 
(NAEC) 2015

26-27 May 15 KL 59

3. Mind Mapping 
for Educators

28 May 15 KL 16

Total 144

International Speaker Series Specially Arranged 
for MIA members

The International Speaker Series are talks delivered by 
sought after international speakers on a broad range of 
topics related to leadership, innovation, management and 
accounting profession. The series are mainly organised in 
collaborations with focused organisations. During the year 
MIA members had the opportunity to see and listen to these 
renowned experts: 
• AARON CHARLES LAVELL, 

a founding member of WMS
• PAUL THAMBAR, 

Accounting Discipline Group (ADG) at the UTS 
Business School

• RICHARD ONG, 
Accredited Tax Advisor (GST) of Singapore Institute of 
Accredited Tax Professionals Limited

• ROLF DOBELLI, 
author, ‘THE ART OF THINKING CLEARLY’

• MARK THOMPSON, 
CEO & CO-FOUNDER, Virgin Unite Mentors

• MERVYN E. KING, 
Chairman of the International Integrated Reporting 
Council (IIRC)

• IAN BALL, 
Chairman, CIPFA

• RICHARD QUEST, 
CNN INTERNATIONAL ANCHOR

• PAUL THOMPSON, 
Director of the Global Accountancy Profession 
Support, IFAC

• SHANKER IYER, 
Founder and Chairman of Iyer Practice, 
Singapore & Hong Kong

• SIR BOB GELDOF, 
Founder of LIVE AID, LIVE 8 & BAND AID

• MORRIE CHENG, 
Head of Tax and Accounting, Asia of Sun Life Financial

• MIKKEL LARSEN, 
Managing Director and Head of Tax and 
Accounting Policy, DBS Bank

• IAN CARRUTHERS, 
Policy & Technical Director, CIPFA

• ERNIE TURNER, 
President and Senior Founder of LIM (Leadership in 
International Management)

• MICHAEL EVANS, 
Senior Fellow of University of Melbourne

• JONATHAN ALLEN YABUT, 
Winner of Apprentice Asia

• DENISE KELLER, 
Winner “BEST PRESENTER” at the Asian 
Television Award

• CHESTER LEONG, 
Director, Boardroom Business Solutions

• DAVID GOLDWICH, 
author of Win-Win Negotiations: Developing the Mindset, 
Skills and Behaviours of Win-Win Negotiators
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Promoting Quality and 
Competency Through Education
During the year under review, MIA implemented the following 
initiatives to ensure the competency of its members:

MIA Qualifying Examination (MIA QE)

The 23rd  and 24th sittings of the MIA QE were successfully 
conducted on 17 – 19 September 2014 and 18-19 March 
2015 respectively at five examination centres, namely 
Universiti Teknologi MARA in Shah Alam and the MIA 
Regional Offices in Johor Bahru, Penang, Kota Kinabalu and 
Kuching. A total of 119 and 111 candidates registered to sit 
for the respective examinations.

The results of the September 2014 and March 2015 
examinations were announced on 19 November 2014 and 
18 May 2015 respectively. 

The results for September 2014 sitting were satisfactory.
1. There were two papers i.e. Business & Company 

Law (BCL) and Audit and Assurance Services (AUD) 
papers which recorded an increase in its passing rate 
compared to the March 2014 sitting.

2. For the Advanced Financial Accounting & Reporting 
(AFAR) paper; the number of passes dropped slightly to 
29% from 33% in March 2014.

3. The number of passes for the Taxation (TAX) paper 
significantly dropped to 26% from 63% in March 
2014 sitting. 

The total number of candidates who passed with distinction 
in various papers reduced to 26 candidates compared to 28 
candidates during the March 2014 sitting.

The results for the March 2015 sitting were also satisfactory.
1. The result for the Taxation paper recorded the highest 

passing rate at 58% compared to 26% in the September 
2014 sitting.

2. The Business & Company Law saw an increased 
number of candidates scoring passes with distinction 
at 46% compared to 39% in the September 2014 sitting.

3. Advanced Financial Accounting & Reporting paper 
dropped slightly to 25% from 29% in the September 
2014 sitting.

4. However, the performance for the Audit and Assurance 
Services paper saw a drop to 27% of passing rate 
compared to 55% in the September 2014 sitting.

29 candidates scored passes with distinction in various papers.

A total of 30 candidates successfully completed the 
examination, increasing the total number of graduates 
to 281. Details of the September 2014 and March 2015 
examination results are as follows:
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September 2014 QE Results

GRADE BCL AFAR AUD TAX

Pass with Distinction 9 3 14 0

Pass 6 7 7 6

Fail 8 25 17 17

Absent 4 5 8 4

TOTAL 27 40 46 27

LEGEND

BCL Business and Company Law
AFAR Advanced Financial Accounting and Reporting
AUD Auditing and Assurance Services
TAX Taxation
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March 2015 QE Results

GRADE BCL AFAR AUD TAX

Pass with Distinction 13 0 3 13

Pass 1 7 6 5

Fail 14 21 24 13

Absent 7 6 1 4

TOTAL 35 34 34 35

Key Stakeholders’ Linkages
MIA connects with our relevant stakeholders through 
various channels and initiatives to advocate the profession’s 
interests while simultaneously generating more interest in the 
profession. Furthermore, MIA acts as a platform that enables 
the profession to communicate with its key stakeholders and 
articulate issues that can be crucial to the development of 
the profession.

During the year under review, MIA undertook several key 
strategic events to build up stakeholder linkages: 

1. Accounting Students Conference (ASC) 
 
The seventh ASC was organised from 14 to 16 
November 2014 at the Flamingo Hotel, Ampang, 
Selangor Darul Ehsan. ASC 2014 was hosted by the 
Universiti Malaya (UM) and Universiti Kebangsaan 
Malaysia (UKM). Among the ASC’s objectives were to 
expose students to the accountancy profession and 
educate them on the criteria to excel in their career. The 
ASC also aims to inculcate a lifelong learning culture 
among students and nurture their self-confidence 
through participation in a major professional conference 
before embarking on their careers. 
 
In conjunction with ASC 2014, MIA honoured 15 
accounting students from various universities under Part 
I of the First Schedule to the Accountants Act 1967 for 
their outstanding achievements in accounting studies. 
The awards were presented by MIA Registrar, Tuan Haji 
Sudirman Masduki, who officiated ASC 2014. 

2. MIA – Sunway TES Accounting Quiz 2015  
 
MIA and Sunway TES jointly organised the 3rd 
Accounting Quiz this year. This online competition 
commenced from 2nd March 2015 until the Grand Finals 
that will end on 12 September 2015 at Sunway College, 
Petaling Jaya, Selangor.  
 
The objective of the competition is to provide students 
an insight into the world of professional accountancy. In 
this Internet era, we believe the online competition will 
allow students to demonstrate their aptitude on basic 
accounting in “a fun and entertaining environment” while 
promoting the profession. 
 
MIA-Sunway TES Accounting Quiz 2015 is supported 
by the Ministry of Education (MOE), professional 
accountancy bodies and accounting firms. The 
competition was open to all Form 4 and Form 5 
students in Malaysia. These include students from all 
secondary schools under MOE, secondary schools 
under the purview of other Government agencies and 
private secondary schools. 

LEGEND

BCL Business and Company Law
AFAR Advanced Financial Accounting and Reporting
AUD Auditing and Assurance Services
TAX Taxation
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Institutions
of Higher
Learning
(Public)

19
Sessions

1
Session

7
Sessions

Secondary
Schools

Institutions
of Higher
Learning
(Private)

27
Sessions

TOTAL

3. Career and Awareness Talks 
 
MIA conducted various career and awareness talks 
at institutions of higher learning (IHLs) and schools, 
highlighting the potential of the profession and 
encouraging students to consider accountancy as a 
future career option. Sessions also focused on the 
means and ways to become qualified accountants and 
the importance of registering as an MIA member. To 
maximise the impact of these sessions, MIA members 
were invited to share their knowledge and experience 
with the students. 

Career And Awareness Talks 
(July 2014 – June 2015)

On accrediting additional or new universities for 
consideration to be included in the First Schedule to the 
Accountants Act, 1967, the Council of the Institute at 
the meeting held on 23 March 2015 has reaffirmed the 
Institute’s position to suspend the undertaking of any new 
accreditation review of accounting degree programmes 
conferred by Institutions of Higher Learning. The decision 
was made based on the impending and possible changes 
to the Institute’s governance structure as the Committee 
to Strengthen the Accountancy Profession (CSAP) works 
towards finalising its recommendations on the accountancy 
framework in Malaysia. 

During the current year, only applicants that have progressed 
to the concluding stage of the accreditation exercise were 
allowed to progress to a closure with the respective Task 
Forces completing the review and table to the Council of the 
Institute for the necessary approvals. For the financial year, 
MSU was the only applicant that fell in this category.

Review Exercise 

MIA is determined to ensure that the quality of the 
accredited accounting degree programmes listed in Part I
of the First Schedule to the Accountants Act, 1967,
remain at the highest standard. Subsequent to the 
announcement of the review outcomes of the eleven 
universities which was made in March 2014, MIA 
continues to monitor the progress of the universities via 
reports submitted by the respective universities on their 
improvement and enhancement plans.

For this financial year, the Institute carried out reviews 
on two universities recently gazetted in the Act, namely 
Universiti Selangor and Universiti Sultan Zainal Abidin. This 
exercise is to ensure that the accredited accounting degree 
programmes continue to meet and comply with the required 
standards determined by MIA. Two task force groups were 
formed in March 2014 to review these two universities.

The review exercise was conducted based on the review 
framework developed by the MIA Education Committee. The 
universities were being assessed based on the following 
six components and the “Hala Tuju 2 for Accounting 
Programmes offered by Public Institutions of Higher Learning 
in Malaysia” was referred as the main standards:

Accreditation Exercise
MIA is empowered under the Accountants Act, 1967,
to determine the qualifications of persons for admission as 
members of the Institute. This will ensure that qualifications 
recognised under the Act fulfil the requisite standards and 
quality required by MIA. It is via this function that MIA admits 
qualified, competent and professional accountants as 
members who are able to effectively fulfil the needs of 
the public.

During the year, the main accreditation activity undertaken 
by the Institute was on the Bachelor of Accounting (Honours) 
degree programme conferred by the Management and 
Science University (MSU). After careful consideration and 
deliberation, the Council in its meeting held on 23 April 2015 
granted recognition to the said degree programme.



46          Malaysian Institute of Accountants    •   ANNUAL REPORT 2015         

No Components Weightage (%)

A Academic Curriculum and 
Examination

30

B Students Admission and 
Development

5

C Academic staff 15

D Facilities 5

E Quality Management Systems 15

F Professional Assessment 30

Total 100

The Committee has outlined three categories as the 
outcomes of the review exercise and the details are as 
follows:

No Components Outcomes

1 • At least 75% of total 
overall score; and

• At least 60% for each 
component.

Compliance

2 • Between 50% – 74% of 
total overall score; and

• Between 50% – 59% 
for academic curriculum 
and professional 
assessment 
components

• Conditional 
Compliance 
– subject to a number 
of conditions to be 
rectified; and

• Specified period 
(6 months – 1 year) 
will be given to rectify 
the areas highlighted 
for improvement.

3 Below 50% of total 
overall score

Non-compliance 
– accreditation 
declined/ withdrawn.

On 23 March 2015, the MIA Council concluded that based 
on the findings, both universities do not fall under the Non-
Compliance outcome category during the review exercise.

Chartered Accountant’s Relevant 
Experience (CARE) Programme
The MIA CARE is a structured assessment programme 
based on the mentor-mentee approach. The mentees 
(accounting graduates) are required to appoint a mentor 
(a Chartered Accountant of MIA) to monitor and verify their 
three years relevant work experience. Once the mentees 
have completed the mandatory three years relevant work 
experience and ascertained by MIA, they will be eligible to 
be a Chartered Accountant of MIA. As at 30 June 2015, 
there are 4,766 registered CARE mentees in the programme 
and of those, 1,797 registered in the programme have 
become MIA members.

CARE Learning Programme 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2015, MIA conducted 
11 sessions of the CARE Learning Programme. 9 of these 
sessions were held in MIA offices and the remainder were 
invitations from organisations. The objectives of the session 
are to instil a better understanding of the CARE Programme 
among CARE mentors and mentees, to get MIA members 
to register as volunteer mentors and encourage mentees 
to update their record of work experience in the online 
database. Also, during the learning activities, consistent 
emphasis is placed on the importance to developing and 
cultivating strong technical and generic competencies.  

Details of the sessions are as follows:
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Klang Valley 10 173 80 50

Penang 1 64 55 3

Grand Total 11 237 135 53

CARE Awareness Programme (CAP)

MIA organised 10 sessions of the CARE Awareness 
Programme for accounting students in universities under 
Part I of the First Schedule to the Accountants Act, 1967, 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2015. The CAP 
is aimed to enhance the understanding of the final year 
accounting students and get them to be registered as 
preCARE mentees in the online system. It provides a 
platform for the mentees to appoint a mentor and update 
their record of work experience in the CARE portal as soon 
as they start working. 
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Details of the sessions are as follows:
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1 01 Oct 14 UniSZA, 
Terengganu

72 71

2 28 Oct 14 UPM, Selangor 71 67

3 12 Nov 14 UIA, Selangor 45 45

4 18 Nov 14 UTAR 86 82

5 04 Dec 15 UiTM Bandaraya 
Melaka

70 70

6 12 Mar 15 UniSZA 80 57

7 29 Apr 15 USIM 28 0

8 13 May 15 USIM, Nilai* 70 17

9 22 May 15 USM, Penang 120 92

10 28 May 15 UiTM Segamat* 56 23

Grand Total 698 524

*Some of the students have already registered as PreCARE. 

Stakeholder Engagement 

Stakeholder engagement is a strategic means for the 
Institute to position the Malaysian accountancy profession 
as a competent and unmatched source of quality, talent and 
expertise in a borderless business environment. 
 
Key to this is enhancing linkages and communications 
with diverse stakeholders at the national, regional and 
international levels to promote the interests of the Malaysian 
accountancy profession and ensure its development and 
maturity. 

All divisions in MIA are instrumental in managing diverse 
stakeholder relationships, including with Government 
ministries/ agencies and foreign professional bodies and 
international agencies to ensure a positive and facilitative 
environment for our members and the profession. Via close 
collaboration, MIA can safeguard the profession’s interests 
while ensuring that members remain relevant despite 
a volatile business landscape, increasing stakeholder 
expectations and complex challenges, such as globalisation, 
liberalisation of trade in services and changes in policies, 
standards and regulations, among others. 

International Relations
Globalisation and liberalisation trends should open up a 
wealth of potential for cross-border trade in accountancy 
services, especially for Malaysian accountants who are 
mobile and technically competent.

MIA closely monitors the global trends and developments 
affecting the local accountancy profession as well as the 
process of globalisation and liberalisation of trade in services 
at the multilateral, regional and bilateral levels in order to 
assess their impact on the profession.  

i. INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF 
ACCOUNTANTS (IFAC) 
 
MIA as a full member of IFAC is committed to perform 
ongoing self-assessments of its compliance with 
each of the Statement of Membership Obligations 
(SMO). The Institute’s latest SMO Action Plan (dated 
March 2015) is now published on the IFAC website. 
MIA is also eligible to submit its updates of the SMO 
Action Plan on a biennial instead of yearly basis due 
to our regular timely submissions. 
 
The Institute shares updates from IFAC with members 
via the MIA e-news to keep them updated with 
international accounting news. 
 
The President and CEO attended the IFAC Council 
meeting in November 2014.  The CEO also attended 
the IFAC Chief Executive Forum in February 2015. 
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ii. ASEAN FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS (AFA) 
 
MIA continues to play an active role in AFA. The 
Institute is now leading one of the Task Forces 
established by the AFA Council with the objective 
for AFA to be recognised as an Acknowledged 
Accountancy Grouping under IFAC. 
 
MIA’s representatives in the AFA Council attended all 
three (3) AFA Council and Task Force meetings held 
during the year. MIA also participated as a panellist at 
the AFA LICPA Conference in Laos. 
 
AFA is collaborating with the World Bank in producing 
a study on “Current Status of the Accounting and 
Auditing Profession in ASEAN Countries”. 
 
MIA successfully hosted the 117th AFA Council 
meeting and organised the MIA AFA Seminar with the 
theme “Accounting Profession – Beyond Borders” in 
Kuala Lumpur on 30 and 31 January 2015. 

iii. ASEAN Mutual Recognition Arrangement on 
Accountancy Services (MRA) 
 
Malaysia, through MIA, is a member in the negotiation 
of the MRA with other ASEAN Members States 
(AMS). The key objective of the MRA is to facilitate 
a freer flow and mobility of accountancy service 
professionals across ASEAN. The MRA was signed 
by all Trade Ministers of AMS in November 2014. 
 
While it is acknowledged that all the AMS are at 
different stages of development and have varied legal 
frameworks, the meeting of ASEAN Professional 
Regulatory Authorities continues to work on the best 
way to operationalise the MRA. 

iv.  Sharing of knowledge and experiences  
 
Throughout the year, MIA received many requests 
from foreign Professional Accountancy Organisations 
(PAOs) and relevant agencies to hold study visits and 
share with them our knowledge and experiences as 
Malaysia’s premier accountancy body. 
 
MIA received visits from the following bodies/ 
agencies during the year: 

 

Date PAO/ Agency

Oct 14 and 
May 15

Myanmar – Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, Central Bank, Office of 
Auditor General and Accountancy Council

Feb 15 Kampuchea Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and Auditors

Mar 15 Ministry of Finance of Vietnam

Jun 15 The Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India – Thrissur Branch







Develop
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Professional Standards and Practices (PSP) - Executive Summary
Competency and adherence toward professional standards 
and practices by our members are essential in maintaining 
public confidence and trust in the accountancy profession. 
Through our PSP Division, activities organised are to 
support our members in understanding and conforming 

to professional standards and conduct. The work carried 
out by our PSP Division is driven by the following technical 
functions and representative of membership with direction 
from the respective boards and committees:

Technical

• Ethics Standards Board  
 (ESB)
• Capital Market        
 Advisory Committee
 (CMAC)
• Integrated Reporting
 Steering Committee   
 (IRSC)
• SSM Committee
• Anti-Money Laundering  
 and Anti-Terrorism 
 Financing Act   
 (AMLATFA) Committee

• Auditing and Assurance  
 Standards Board
 (AASB)

• Financial Reporting   
 Standards
 Implementation   
 Committee (FRSIC)
• Public Sector   
 Accounting Committee
• Islamic Finance
 Committee

• Taxation Practice
 Committee

Auditing and
Assurance

Ethics, Regulatory
and Governance

TaxationAccounting

• Professional Accountants in Business
 (PAIB) Committee

• Small and Medium Practices Committee (SMPC)
•  Public Practice Committee (PPC)
• Insolvency Practice Committee (IPC)

Professional Accountants
in Public Practice

Professional Accountants in Business

Representative of Membership



Malaysian Institute of Accountants    •   ANNUAL REPORT 2015          53

Enhancing Competency and Quality

This year, a number of technical pronouncements relating to 
financial reporting and auditing and assurance were adopted 
and issued. These technical pronouncements include:
• Six (6) International Standard on Auditing and a 

conforming amendment to other ISAs;
• One (1) International Standard on Assurance 

Engagements;
• Two (2) FRSIC Consensus;
• Frequently Asked Questions and Answers (FAQs) on MIA 

By-Laws; and
• Guidance Note on “Combined Financial Statements”. 

In addition to the technical pronouncements, two (2) guides 
on understanding annual report and auditing and assurance 
for Malaysian listed companies were launched on 30 
September 2014 with CPA Australia. Further, these guides 
were made available publicly on the Institute’s website for free.

Another main activity that the PSP Division was involved is 
research efforts relating to accounting.  The researches, 
which the PSP Division had carried out and supported 
throughout the year, include:
• Performed research on accounting issues in support of 

FRSIC objectives; and
• Conducted a members’ survey on potential 

implementation issues arising from application of 
the Malaysian Private Entities Reporting Standards 
(MPERS).

Strategic Engagement

Engagement, either with our members or other stakeholders, 
is fundamental to us in understanding and communicating 
matters revolving the accountancy profession. Whether to 
recognise the needs of our members or provide input to 
assist regulators, engagement is one of the ways for us to 
connect and build better relationships with our members 
and stakeholders.

In our effort to engage effectively with our members and 
stakeholders, the PSP Division undertook the following 
activities this year:
• Participated in dialogues with Government agencies and 

regulators;
• Organised complimentary seminars and networking 

coffee session related to ethics, public practitioners and 
professional accountants in business;

• Courtesy visits and engagement sessions with 
stakeholders on enhancing the Malaysian capital market 
and corporate governance; and

• Speaking on matters relating to professional standards 
and practices at international and local conferences.

Award and Recognition

We realise that efforts to promote the adoption and 
development of best practices by our members or any 
individuals within the accountancy profession need to be 
recognised. As part of celebrating and giving due recognition 
to those efforts, through our PSP Division, we had organised 
and presented two awards to the deserving professional 
accountants in business, namely, the MIA Articles of Merit 
Award and the National Award for Management Accounting 
(NAf MA) (jointly organised with CIMA).

Advocacy

It is important to us that views of our members are 
channelled and heard by regulators and policymakers. The 
PSP Division involves actively in providing feedback to the 
relevant bodies and Government agencies, either locally or 
internationally.

Throughout the year, the PSP Division:
• Provided comments on consultation papers and 

exposure drafts issued by the standard-setting boards 
under the purview of IFAC and other regulators; and

• Submission of joint memorandum with other 
professional bodies in Malaysia to local authorities.

Technical
Support

Advocacy

Enhancing
Competency
and Quality

Awards and
Recognition

Strategic
Engagement

Highlights of work by the PSP Division 
throughout the year

In supporting our members to develop competency and 
adherence to professional standards and practices, our 
PSP Division has carried out the following key initiatives 
throughout the year:

KEY
INITIATIVES
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Technical Support

One of the main roles that the PSP Division performs is as 
the secretariats for the technical and practice-related boards 
and committees of the Institute. Part of this role entails that 
the PSP Division provides technical support to the respective 
boards and committees. Besides assisting the boards and 
committees, the PSP Division also provides technical support 
to our members via the Institute’s e-Feedback.

In addition to technical support, coaching sessions were 
also held for candidates pursuing audit approval interview 
to become approved company auditors. The coaching 
session is to assist candidates to increase the possibility of 
passing the interview.

Auditing and Assurance
1. Contributed directly to the international development 

of quality control, auditing, review, other assurance 
and related services pronouncements with the aim of 
providing constructive feedback to the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB).  
 
During the financial period, comments were submitted 
on the following consultations: 

Exposure Draft/ 
Re-Exposure Draft

Date 
submitted 
to IAASB

Proposed International Standard 
on Auditing (ISA) 720 (Revised), 
The Auditor’s Responsibilities 
Relating to Other Information

21 Jul 14

Proposed Changes to the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs) - 
Addressing Disclosures in the 
Audit of Financial Statements

11 Sep 14

Proposed ISAs – ISA 800 (Revised), 
Special Considerations – Audits of 
Financial Statements Prepared in 
Accordance with Special Purpose 
Frameworks and ISA 805 (Revised), 
Special Considerations – Audits of 
Single Financial Statements and Specific 
Elements, Accounts or Items of a 
Financial Statement

24 Apr 15

 
 

2. Adopted and issued the following IAASB 
pronouncements in Malaysia as Malaysian Approved 
Quality Control, Auditing, Review, Other Assurance and 
Related Services Pronouncements: 

Pronouncement
Month 
issued to 
Members

International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), 
Assurance Engagements Other than 
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information

Mar 15

International Framework for Assurance 
Engagements 

Mar 15

New and revised Auditor Reporting 
standards, comprising:

• ISA 700 (Revised), Forming an 
Opinion and Reporting on Financial 
Statements; 

• ISA 701, Communicating Key Audit 
Matters in the Independent Auditor’s 
Report; 

• ISA 705 (Revised), Modifications 
to the Opinion in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report; 

• ISA 706 (Revised), Emphasis of 
Matter Paragraphs and Other Matter 
Paragraphs in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report; 

• ISA 570 (Revised), Going Concern; 
• ISA 260 (Revised), Communication 

with Those Charged with 
Governance; and 

• Conforming amendments to 
other ISAs.

Apr 15

 

3. Participated in the Audit Oversight Board (AOB) dialogue 
with audit firms on 29 September 2014. 

4. Participated in panel session on what are the 
expectations by the stakeholders and how the audit 
profession may be able to move closer toward meeting 
them at Launch of Guides for Malaysian Listed 
Companies, jointly organised by the MIA and CPA 
Australia on 30 September 2014. Two free on-line 
guides, A Guide to Understanding Annual Reports: 
Listed Companies and A Guide to Understanding 
Auditing and Assurance: Listed Companies are available 
to help Malaysian investors better understand annual 
reports as well as annual audits of listed companies. 
The guides are intended to help existing as well as 
prospective investors and users of financial statements 
make better-informed investment decisions. 
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5. Meeting with representatives of the Royal Malaysian 
Customs Department on 27 November 2014 on auditor 
reporting for approved company auditor on special 
refund claims pursuant to the requirements of the Goods 
and Services Tax Act 2014. 

6. Participated in the Malaysian Investment Dialogue 
Authority (MIDA) dialogue with audit firms on 11 March 
2015 on “Disbursement of Grant: Guidelines and 
Procedures”. 

7. Participated in panel session on “Win-Win Relationship: 
How Can The Audit Committee Optimise Insights From 
External Audit, Internal Audit and the CFO” in 2015 Audit 
Committee Conference on 24 March 2015. This session 
discuss how audit committees should set very clear 
expectations for themselves and all parties with which 
they interact. 

8. Meeting with the representatives of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad jointly with The Malaysian Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA) and AOB on 
13 April 2015 on implementation of enhancements to 
auditor reporting in Malaysia.

Ethics, Regulatory & Governance
1. Commented on the following exposure drafts and 

consultation paper issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA):

Exposure Draft/ 
Consultation Paper

Date submitted 
to IESBA

Proposed Changes to Certain 
Provisions of the Code 
Addressing Non-Assurance 
Services for Audit Clients 

7 Aug 14

Proposed Changes to Certain 
Provisions of the Long 
Association of Personnel with an 
Audit or Assurance Client

12 Nov 14

Improving the Structure of the 
Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants

6 Feb 15

Proposed Changes to Part 
C of the Code Addressing 
Presentation of Information 
and Pressure to Breach the 
Fundamental Principles

15 Apr 15

2. Collaborated with Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) on 
the awareness event on Anti-Money Laundering and 
Counter Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT) on 13 
August 2014.  The event attracted approximately 100 
MIA members.  This awareness event helped members 
identify the potential red flag and keep MIA members 
abreast of the latest updates on AML/CFT policy as well 
as amendments to the Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-
Terrorism Act 2001. 

3. Provided input during the on-site interview assessment 
on Mutual Evaluation by Asia Pacific Group on Money 
Laundering and Financial Action Task Force on 13 
November 2014.  The purpose of the interview was 
to showcase the implementation of anti-money 
laundering and anti-terrorism measures including the 
understanding of risk. 

4. Reviewed and provided comments on Consultation 
Paper No.4/2014 ”Proposed Review of The Ace Market 
Listing Requirements and Proposed Amendments to 
the Main and ACE Market Listing Requirements Arising 
from the Financial Services Act 2013” issued by Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Malaysia (the Exchange). Comments 
were submitted to the Exchange on 31 December 2014. 

5. Issued the Frequently Asked Questions and Answers 
(FAQs) on MIA By-Laws on 1 April 2015. This set of 
FAQs covered issues amongst others, relating to partner 
rotation, group audit independence requirement, 
professional clearance, family relationship and 
employment with an audit client. 

6. Issued the Guidance Note on “Combined Financial 
Statements” on 15 April 2015. The Guidance Note 
provides guidance on certain circumstances with 
respect to the preparation of combined financial 
statements in connection with submissions to the 
Securities Commission and offering documents such as 
prospectus. 

7. Ethics Standards Board’s Initiatives: 
 
ESB Outreach “Ethical Challenges in Today’s 
World” on 19 December 2014 
 
As part of the Ethics Standards Board (ESB)’s 
continuous effort to uphold and encourage ethical 
behaviour, the ESB conducted an outreach event 
entitled “Ethical Challenges in Today’s World” in Kuala 
Lumpur on 19 December 2014. The event attracted 
about 150 participants consisting of professional 
accountants from business, public practice, as well as 
students. Such outreach offered members and students 
an opportunity to keep themselves abreast of the latest 
updates on MIA By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, 
Conduct and Practice) and help them analyse and find 
solutions to practical ethical dilemmas by weighing the 
potential impact and outcomes. 
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The panel discussion was moderated by MIA Ethics 
Standards Board Chairman, Eugene Wong Weng Soon. 
The panel speakers included Nik Mohd Hasyudeen 
Yusoff, Executive Chairman of the Audit Oversight 
Board, Datuk Bazlan Osman, Group Chief Executive 
Officer of Telekom Malaysia Berhad, Ravi Navaratnam, 
Executive Vice President of Minconsult Sdn Bhd and 
Ong Ching Chuan, Partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Malaysia. The discussion emphasised that the 
professional accountants must abide to the five 
fundamental principles of professional ethics at all times. 
The five fundamental principles are integrity, objectivity, 
professional competency and due care, confidentially 
and professional behaviour.  
 
An ethics board game called “Living Ethics” was 
introduced to the participants at the above-mentioned 
outreach. The board game reflects real life situation 
whereby in the midst of attempting and struggling to 
beat business competition or achieving goals, people 
tend to choose “merely moderate” solution and forget 
about the ethical side of a business decision. By playing 
the board game, participants were also reminded that 
by reinforcing ethical practices and promoting ethical 
culture in their organisation, it would result in enhancing 
stakeholders’ confidence and benefit the professional 
accountant as well as their organisation’s progression. 
 
ESB Outreach “Walking the Ethical Tightrope” on 
18 May 2015 
 
”Walking the Ethical Tightrope” was a joint event 
organised by both the MIA and the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW).  The event 
attracted about 135 participants who consisted of 
professional accountants in public practice, professional 
accountants in business and university students. 
 
The outreach began with a presentation by David 
Stevens, Integrity and Law Manager from the ICAEW. 
He explained integrity in accountancy profession and 
emphasised that ethics is an important foundation of 
the profession. The presentation was then followed 
by a panel discussion entitled “Walking the Ethical 
Tightrope”.  The members of the panel discussion were 
Eugene Wong Weng Soon (MIA Ethics Standards Board 
Chairman), Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Azmi (Executive 
Chairman of PwC Malaysia), Nik Mohd Hasyudeen 
Yusoff (Executive Chairman of Audit Oversight Board) 
and David Stevens. 
 
In the last session of the outreach, participants played 
an ethics board game called “Living Ethics”. The game 
served to remind the participants to practice ethical 
values and promote ethical culture in their organisations.

Accounting
a. Financial Reporting Standards 

Implementation 

1. Issued FRSIC Consensus 23, Application of MFRS 
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” on 
Sale of Residential Properties in response of FRSIC 
Issue No. 38 which entailed the revenue recognition 
method for sale of residential properties (except for 
build then sell contract) in Peninsular Malaysia that 
is executed prior to the issuance of the residential 
property’s certificate of completion and compliance 
to be used by property developers in accordance 
with the requirements of MFRS 15. The Consensus 
was issued on 16 January 2015. 

2. Issued the following draft consensus for public 
comments. As at 30 June 2015, analysis on the 
comments received has been done and will be 
tabled at the next FRSIC meeting in July 2015.

Title
Date of 
Exposure

FRSIC Draft Consensus 13, Application 
of the MFRS Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers on Sale of Residential 
Properties in Sabah

20 May 15

FRSIC Draft Consensus 14, Application 
of the MFRS Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers on Sale of Residential 
Properties in Sarawak

20 May 15

3. Initiated and embarked upon technical research 
initiatives for the following FRSIC issues:
a. Accounting for currencies held for sale in money 

services businesses;
b. Treatment of land cost when the input method 

is used to measure progress towards complete 
satisfaction of a performance obligation;

c. Determining the commencement of depreciation 
of bearer plants when the cost method is used;

d. Fair value of produce growing on a bearer plant;
e. Revenue from contracts with customers on 

sale of residential properties in Sabah and 
Sarawak; and 

f. Capitalisation of borrowing costs in property 
development.
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4. Participated in the following working groups (WGs), 
task force and outreach held by the Malaysian 
Accounting Standards Board (MASB):
a. WG 29 Agriculture;
b. WG 51 Improvement Projects;
c. WG 54 Issuance of Amendments 

to IFRS for SMEs;
d. WG 60 Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement;
e. WG 66 Revenue;
f. WG 68 Rate-Regulated Activities;
g. WG 70 Disclosure Initiative;
h. Outreach Meeting with the IASB; 
i. Malaysian Private Entities Reporting 

Standard (MPERS) Task Force; and
j. MFRS 9 Financial Instruments Task Force.

5. Initiated and embarked upon a survey amongst the 
Institute’s members on the potential implementation 
issues following the issuance of MPERS by the 
MASB. The survey was carried out online from 
19 March 2015 to 3 April 2015 with 343 completed 
responses received. Adoption of MPERS is effective 
for financial statements beginning on or after 
1 January 2016, with early application permitted. 

6. Jointly organised a two-day workshop on the 
International Financial Reporting Standards for Small 
and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) with the 
MASB and the IFRS Foundation on 30 June –  
1 July 2014 in Kuala Lumpur. The workshop 
provided insight for stakeholders into the 
requirements for IFRS for SMEs.

b. Public Sector Accounting

1. Datuk Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman, former 
Accountant General of Malaysia serves as 
a member of the International Public Sector 
Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB).

2. Provided technical support to Datuk Wan Selamah 
Wan Sulaiman following her role in the IPSASB. 

3. Attended quarterly IPSASB meetings as follows:
• September 2014;
• December 2014;
• March 2015; and
• June 2015.

4. Attended the Government Accounting Standards 
Advisory Committee (GASAC) meetings held by the 
Accountant General’s Department. The Committee 
approves the Malaysian Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (MPSASs), which are adopted and 
based on the International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (IPSASs) to facilitate the migration to 
accrual accounting by the Government of Malaysia.

5. Provided input to the IPSASB by reviewing and 
providing comments on the following IPSASB 
consultation documents:

Consultation Documents
Date of 
Submission 
to IPSASB

Exposure Draft 55, Improvements to 
IPSASs 2014

17 Oct 14

Consultation Paper, The Applicability 
of IPSASs to Government Business 
Enterprises and Other Public Sector 
Entities

12 Jan 15

6. Participated as speaker and participant in the 
IPSASB outreach event titled “Public Managers 
and the adoption of the International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards: The IPSAS Board 
Perspective” held in Santiago, Chile on 9 March 
2015, in conjunction with March 2015 IPSASB 
quarterly meeting. 

7. Engagements with various Government ministries 
and departments on the IPSASB current projects. 

c. Islamic Finance 
 
In the area of Islamic Finance (IF), MIA through various 
initiatives and collaborations aims to showcase 
Malaysia’s expertise in IF and promote its accountants’ 
marketability, locally and internationally. It plans to 
develop the knowledge base on application of IFRS on 
Islamic Finance as well as to encourage research on this 
area through collaborations and share the findings with 
stakeholders. 

Taxation
1. Submitted a joint response on issues relating to the 

implementation of the proposed practice by the Inland 
Revenue Board (IRB) dealing with tax agents who are 
approved under Section 153(3) of the Income Tax Act 
1967 on 4 November 2014. The joint parties are MIA, 
the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(MICPA), the Chartered Tax Institute of Malaysia (CTIM) 
and the Malaysian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators (MAICSA). 

2. Submitted a joint memorandum on issues relating 
to the 2015 Budget Proposal & Finance (No. 2) Bill 
2014 and Other Technical Matters to the IRB on 25 
November 2014. The joint parties are MIA, MICPA, 
CTIM and MAICSA. 

3. Submitted the Goods and Services Tax (GST) technical 
issues to the Royal Malaysian Customs Department 
(RMCD) on 19 May 2015. 
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4. Submitted 34 budget proposals for 2016 to Ministry of 
Finance (MOF) jointly with MICPA on 1 June 2015. 

5. Attended the IRB Dialogue with Tax Practitioners 
in Perak organised by the IRB Ipoh Branch on 
4 June 2015.

Professional Accountants in 
Public Practice
a. MIA Small and Medium Practices (SMP) 

Department: Supporting the needs 
of SMPs 
 
To help SMPs improve their audit quality, a SMP 
Department was established in May 2015 to support the 
capacity building of SMPs. The SMP Department also 
acts as the coordinating department for all the Institute’s 
initiatives and activities and be a focal point, which 
SMPs can contact to obtain information/ assistance on 
SMP matters. 
 
A senior practitioner with vast audit and training 
experiences in both large and small firms, has been 
appointed to lead the SMP Department, supported by 
the existing 3 staff of the Public Practice Unit which has 
been transferred from the MIA Professional Standards 
and Practices (PSP) Division. Moving forward, the SMP 
Department will continue to refine its strategies, enhance 
technical excellence and forge stronger relationships 
with authorities that will benefit the SMPs.

b. Enhancing Competency and Quality 
 
Complimentary Seminars for Members in 
Public Practice 
In this reporting period, the Institute continued to 
engage members through a wide spectrum of events 
and several complimentary seminars were organised to 
help members in public practice to manage technical 
and practice management related challenges. These 
complimentary seminars include the MIA – CPA 
Australia Launch of Guide and Forum on Stakeholders’ 
Expectation of Audit (30 September 2014) and Merger, 
Acquisition and Affiliation of Accounting Firms: A Market 
Update seminars in Kuala Lumpur (18 December 2014) 
and Kota Kinabalu (11 June 2015). 
 
Coaching Sessions for Candidates Pursuing Audit 
Approval Interview 
The Institute continued its initiative for candidates who 
intend to become approved company auditor, but have 
had two or more failed attempts at the audit approval 
interview sessions at Accountant General’s office. 
Coaching sessions were conducted upon request 
and served as an opportunity to discuss areas for 
improvement of candidate in order to further enhance 
the possibility of passing the interview.

c. Advocacy 
 
The past year has seen a number of issues related to the 
accounting profession attracting mainstream attention, 
such as the Committee to Strengthen the Accountancy 
Profession (CSAP) Report on the Strengthening of the 
Accountancy Profession in Malaysia, issued for public 
feedback in December 2014. The CSAP leads in the 
strengthening of the accountancy profession and it is 
important that MIA strengthens its working relationships 
with CSAP to develop the accountancy profession. 
The Public Practice Committee has also taken the 
opportunity to provide their feedbacks on the CSAP 
Report via the Institute’s special committee set-up by 
MIA Council. 
 
Throughout the year, the Institute continued to ensure 
members’ views were heard by policymakers. The 
Institute regularly makes submissions to the Government 
and other stakeholders on matters of policy where the 
profession has the expertise to contribute. 
 
For example, the Institute submitted a memorandum 
in August 2014 to the Kementerian Kesejahteraan 
Bandar, Perumahan and Kerajaan Tempatan (KPKT) 
for the purpose of highlighting the issues and 
difficulties potentially faced by approved liquidators in 
Malaysia once the Housing Development (Control and 
Licensing) (Amendment) Act 2012 (HDA Amendment 
Act 2012), which was passed in the Parliament in 
December 2011, is enforced. Subsequently in May 
2015, the Institute jointly submitted with the Insolvency 
Practitioners Association of Malaysia (IPAM) and the 
Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(MICPA), the proposed amendments to the Housing 
Development (Control and Licensing) Regulations 
1989, for the purpose of rectifying certain provisions of 
the HDA Amendment Act 2012, which will potentially 
cause negative impacts on the liquidation of housing 
development projects. 
 
The Institute has also engaged with the IPAM and the 
MICPA, to gather their feedback on MIA’s proposed 
pathway to become liquidators in Malaysia and the 
proposed syllabus outline for Malaysian Insolvency 
Examination, following the issuance of Companies Bill in 
July 2013 which removes the current requirement for an 
applicant to be an auditor prior to becoming a liquidator. 
A meeting to engage with SSM on the Institute’s 
proposal also was held during this reporting period. 
 
MIA continues to strengthen ties with authorities such 
as the Association of Banks in Malaysia (ABM). A forum 
was conducted in August 2014 with 13 of the ABM 
member banks, including the major local Malaysian 
banks, to gauge their receptiveness towards using the 
electronic platform that enables users to perform the 
audit confirmation process electronically.
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Professional Accountants 
in Business 

MIA is constantly looking at activities and projects to 
develop and support members who are professional 
accountants in business. MIA strives to provide a platform 
to facilitate the exchange of information regarding current 
developments and emerging issues that shape the 
profession and to promote global best practices for the 
enhancement of the profession.

Ultimately through this platform, MIA hopes to provide 
thought leadership to stakeholders and excellent services 
to members by maintaining and enhancing the reputation 
and status of the Institute and its members in technical 
areas. To support these objectives, MIA carried out the 
following activities:

1. The organising of the MIA Articles of Merit Award on 
PAIB 2014. Member development is one of MIA’s main 
agendas and as such, contributions from members who 
are professional accountants in business (PAIB) have to 
be acknowledged. MIA in turn consistently interacts with 
members and encourages them towards developing 
their professional knowledge and skills with the objective 
of enhancing the members’ status. This award intends 
to provide a platform for engagement on issues and 
topics relevant to the profession and hope that it would 
spur the adoption and development of best practices in 
order to promote the value of professional accountants 
in business.  

2. Debuting in 2004, the National Award for Management 
Accounting (NAf MA) is jointly organised by the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) and the 
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA). 
The award recognises best practices in management 
accounting by companies in Malaysia that lead to value 
creation and excellent business performance. NAf MA 
also aims to promote the application of management 
accounting techniques and systems within organisations 
in Malaysia. 
 
In 2014 NAf MA was revamped to reflect the expanded 
mandate of management accountants as well as key 
developments affecting the management accounting 
profession. New award categories were created to 
recognise the excellence of professional management 
accountants such as CEOs, CFOs, entrepreneurs, 
business managers and organisations for their 
outstanding contribution towards management 
accounting in Malaysia. These awards are about 
showcasing the evolving role that finance professionals 
are playing in driving organisations that are both 
successful and sustainable. Today, many Malaysian 
businesses are embracing the value that management 
accounting can bring to businesses in both the public 
and private sectors. 
 
The Awards for NAf MA 2014 were presented at a Gala 
Dinner held on 8 September 2014. Datuk Ahmad Maslan, 
Deputy Minister of Finance, presented the awards. 
 

The award winners clearly demonstrated that they 
have successfully deployed innovative techniques and 
concepts of management accounting in their business 
environment, displayed leadership qualities as well as 
upheld the integrity of the accounting profession. 
 
The main sponsor of NAf MA was Public Bank Berhad 
who has supported NAf MA since its inception in 2004. 
The supporting partners were KPMG and Universiti 
Teknologi MARA. NAf MA 2014 was endorsed by the 
Accountant-General’s Department of Malaysia, EU-
MCCI (EU Malaysia Chamber of Commerce & Industry), 
Bursa Malaysia and the Malaysia International Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry. 

3. The Institute proposed a more informal approach in 
interacting with the PAIB members in an informal setting 
on topics/ issues more related to general business and 
soft skills. In line with this, a Networking Coffee event 
was held on 2 October 2014 at one of the outlets of the 
San Francisco Coffee chain. The speaker was Datuk 
Abdul Rahim Mohd Zain the CEO of the San Francisco 
Coffee (SFC). 
 
Datuk Rahim shared his experience on how being 
an accountant has helped him to succeed as an 
entrepreneur. He also related how he came to be 
involved with SFC and his business philosophy. He 
generously allowed MIA the use of the SFC premises for 
the event as well as providing refreshments. 
 
The feedback from the participants was positive as they 
felt that the knowledge sharing was beneficial to them. 

4. The Institute endeavours to reinforce ties with its 
stakeholders in providing the foundation to strengthen 
professional accountants and enhance the quality of 
Malaysian companies. In line with this, representatives 
from the Institute organised an engagement session 
with Bursa Malaysia Berhad to explore mutual areas 
of interest in the advancement of the accountancy 
profession and the Malaysian capital market. 
 
An engagement session was also held with the 
Malaysian Institute of Corporate Governance (MICG) 
to talk about areas of enhancement in the level of 
Malaysian corporate governance in relation to the 
accountancy profession. It is envisaged that the 
enhancement of corporate governance would have an 
impact on the quality of financial reporting. 

5. The Institute in collaboration with the Institute of Internal 
Auditors Malaysia (IIAM) embarked on a survey on the 
outsourcing/ co-sourcing of the internal audit function. 
The purpose of this survey was to determine the 
importance and impact of outsourcing/ co-sourcing the 
internal audit function within organisations. In addition, 
the survey seeks to provide insights on the reasons 
why organisations choose to opt for outsourcing of the 
internal audit function. As at 30 June 2015, the survey 
has been completed and the findings are currently being 
analysed by IIAM.





Sustain
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Surveillance and Enforcement 
- Executive Summary
As a leading regulator for the accountancy profession, the 
Institute plays a primary role in upholding and enforcing 
regulations and standards in moulding a profession which is 
highly compliant, ethical and trusted. 

Within the Institute, the Surveillance and Enforcement 
Division is instrumental in discharging the Institute’s 
obligation to regulate the accountancy profession. The 
Division is further entrusted with the task of building a 
responsive and secure regulatory environment where 
members and stakeholders can progress equitably.

Specifically, the Division conducts Practice Review, Financial 
Statement Review, Continuing Professional Education 
Compliance Audit and Investigation and Disciplinary 
proceedings. Collectively, these units are responsible for 
executing the necessary initiatives in order to achieve our 
objectives of exemplary performance and good governance.
Since audit services are the bread-and-butter of the 
accountancy profession, it is essential for the Institute to 
keep a close eye on audit quality.  To manage reputational 
and governance risks arising from poor audit quality, the 
Practice Review unit conducts surveillance activities on 
registered audit firms to ensure that audit practitioners 
comply with auditing standards, legal and regulatory 
requirements in their work. 

Apart from audit, quality financial statements are the domain 
of the accountancy profession. As such, the Institute is 
strongly focused on promoting excellence in financial 
reporting to improve the quality of financial information 
in-line with global best practices, which in turn ensures the 
profession’s relevance and long-term viability. Enhancing 
financial disclosures is crucial to meet escalating market 
expectations, facilitate sustainable decision-making and 
ensure Malaysia’s international competitiveness. The 
Institute’s Financial Statements Review (FSR) function 
monitors the quality of financial information and reports of 
public-listed and public interest entities that are prepared 
by or are the responsibility of members of the Institute 
through the review of financial statements. The Institute 
also collaborates with Bursa Malaysia and the Malaysian 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants to nationally sponsor 
prestigious awards for excellence in financial reporting. 
This encourages preparers to improve the quality of 
disclosures, enhance voluntary reporting, improve reporting 
comparability and transparency, and overall, raise Malaysia’s 
profile as an attractive business destination.

Excellence in auditing and financial reporting can only be 
attained if our members continue to upskill themselves. 
The Institute has stringent Continuous Professional 
Education (“CPE”) requirements to ensure that accountancy 
professionals keep abreast with current developments 
that affect their current and future professional work and 
encourage their compliance with increasingly complex and 
numerous regulations. To ensure that members meet this 
obligation, the Institute conducts CPE compliance audits on 
all active members.

Apart from focusing on audit and financial statement quality, 
it is imperative that the Institute has effective investigative, 
disciplinary and punitive mechanisms to promote efficient 
regulation. Such measures deter misbehaviour among 
members, instil confidence in the profession among the 
public and stakeholders, and demonstrate the Institute’s 
commitment in upholding standards and ethical behaviour 
without fear or favour.  

These investigative and corrective mechanisms are 
discharged separately by the Investigation Committee, 
the Disciplinary Committee, and where necessary, the 
Disciplinary Appeal Board. The Investigation Committee 
of the Institute is a statutory committee established under 
the Accountants Act 1967 (“Act”) to investigate complaints 
against members and where justified these complaints are 
referred to the Disciplinary Committee.

Disciplinary actions and the imposition of punishments 
such as fines and suspension are carried out by the 
Disciplinary Committee. This right, accorded under the 
Act, allows the Disciplinary Committee to consider all 
complaints referred to it by the Investigation Committee, 
including cases that come directly to it under Rule 18(2) of 
the MIA (Disciplinary) Rules 2002.

In our commitment to justice and upholding the rule of law, 
the Institute enables any member aggrieved by the decision 
of the Disciplinary Committee to appeal to the Disciplinary 
Appeal Board (DAB) of the Institute within a specific time 
frame. The DAB is empowered under the Act to consider 
appeals by members and may confirm, reverse or vary the 
decisions of the Disciplinary Committee.

Looking ahead, the Institute remains committed to 
strengthening the processes of surveillance and 
enforcement to cultivate a positive regulatory environment 
that supports the development of highly compliant and 
ethical finance professionals, who in turn can help champion 
good governance and integrity in the broader economy. This 
is essential to manage reputational and governance risks, 
and to boost public trust and confidence in the profession 
amidst a challenging landscape. Indeed, the Institute exhorts 
all members to work together to raise the quality of our 
services and our stakeholders’ perception, if the profession 
is to remain relevant and sustainable in the long run.   
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Ensuring Competence Through 
Continuing Professional Education 
(CPE) Compliance
All professional accountants have an ethical obligation to 
maintain professional competence and exercise due care 
at all times. They have responsibility to themselves, their 
employers, their clients and other stakeholders to ensure 
that they keep abreast with current development that affect 
their professional work.

To do so, professional accountants are required to participate 
in Continuing Professional Education (CPE) learning activities 
that are relevant to their professional responsibilities. CPE 
compliance ensures that members adhere to the basic tenets 
of ethical and professional conduct.

To ensure that standards of professional competence 
are rigorously upheld, MIA will continue to conduct CPE 
compliance audit on all active members.

In July 2014, the CPE Compliance Unit compiled and 
reviewed the results of the CPE Audits carried out during 
the past 3 years from 2011 to 2013, and of a special audit 
carried out in April 2014. The purpose of this exercise was 
to assess the CPE compliance rate of the audited members 
and to propose ways to increase the compliance rate. The 
results of the study were not encouraging, with compliance 
rates at 40% for year 2011, 35% for 2012 and 40% for 2013. 
To address this, the CPE Compliance Unit has proposed to 
make improvements and to take various remedial measures.
While members themselves should strive to achieve 
compliance, the Institute at the same time is implementing 
effective measures to increase the compliance rate.

CPE is an essential need for accountants as it ensures that 
members continue to participate in learning activities that will 
uphold and build their competencies; and to retain the high 
regard and respect it has earned in the profession.

Practice Review
 
The MIA is a regulatory body for the accountancy profession 
in Malaysia. This role is mandated by Section 6 of the 
Accountants Act 1967 which states the functions of the 
Institute. In upholding this mandate, the Practice Review 
department of the Institute is specifically tasked to carry 
out surveillance activities on audit firms registered with 
the Institute to ensure that audit practitioners are adhering 
to international auditing standards, legal and regulatory 
requirements when they perform their audit work. It 
is appropriate to add that MIA is required to set up a 
quality assurance program in Malaysia to comply with its 
membership obligations of IFAC.

In carrying out their audit work in accordance with 
international auditing standards, auditors are required to 
exercise their skills with due care and diligence to avoid 
any risk of negligence associated with their work that 
may affect their professional reputation and credibility. 
Auditors demonstrate their skills through the application 
of professional scepticism, analytical review and good 
judgmental skills, leading inevitably to high audit quality.

The practice review framework requires all audit firms to 
submit to practice review. The basis of practice review is 
based on the risk approach and consequently, the selection 
of audit firm for practice review is determined by a number 
of risk factors which are embedded in the profile of the 
practitioner and his audit firm as well as risks which had 
arisen from other sources such as external parties who may 
have been afflicted and as a result suffered loss or damages 
through reliance on the work of auditors.

Low audit quality work performed on engagements is one of 
the root causes of practice review failure. Low or poor audit 
quality work is associated with sub-standard work performed 
by auditors resulting in non-compliance with auditing and 
accounting standards and legal requirements. This may be 
due to a poor or lack of understanding of the client’s business 
or international auditing and accounting standards.

Weak implementation of the elements of ISQC 1, which 
pertains to the internal control system in the firm, is also 
another cause in practice review failure. Sole-proprietorships 
generally assume that ISQC 1 is not applicable to them due 
to their size and therefore have not set up proper policies 
and procedures to strengthen their internal control and 
governance of their practices. 

The lack of documentation in the audit working papers of 
a majority of audit firms continues to be an issue which 
have not been properly addressed by practitioners. While 
standard audit programmes are in use by audit firms to 
achieve consistency in their work, the practitioners have 
not ensured that audit tick marks in the boxes of the audit 
programmes are sufficiently and appropriately supported by 
working papers to evidence work done. Inevitably, there is 
no cross-referencing between the audit programmes and the 
audit working papers. This is an example of the weaknesses 
of practitioners who maintain that they do not know how to 
implement ISQC 1 in their firm.

To improve the audit quality of audit firms which failed 
practice review for the first time and therefore will be 
reviewed for a second time in a follow up review, the MIA has 
designed some remedial programmes which are aimed at 
enhancing audit quality of practitioners at all levels.
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The remedial programme covers the following topics:
a. Audit Quality Enhancement Programme. 

The topics covered are as follows: 
1. Implementing ISQC 1
2. Overview of Practice Review
3. Addressing common deficiencies 

and the importance of documentation.
4. Auditor Reporting 

b. Audit Series on Key Audit Areas 
The topics covered are as follows:
1. Auditing of Inventories and Production Cost 
2. Auditing of Property Development
3. Going Concern Indicators and Managing 

Impairment of Assets and Restructuring Provisions
4. Audit Opinion and Reporting 

– Proposed ISA 700 (Revised)
5. Audit Documentation for ISA Compliance

i. As at end of the financial year, the statistics for 
the first review showed the following:

 

State

Total 
Registered 
Audit 
Firm (a)

Completed 
First 
Review 
(report 
signed by 
MIA) (b)

Total 
Balance of 
Firms not 
reviewed
(c)= (a)-(b)

Johor 128 103 25

Kedah 27 22 5

Kelantan 11 1 10

Melaka 34 21 13

Negeri 
Sembilan

20 5 15

Pahang 23 1 22

Penang 113 88 25

Perak 55 43 12

Perlis 1 0 1

Sabah 86 56 30

Sarawak 76 67 9

Selangor 326 80 246

Terengganu 9 0 9

Federal 
Territory

498 173 325

Grand Total 1407 660 747

 
Note: The reporting of the above statistics is based on 
the number of completed final review reports which had 
been signed off by MIA. During the financial year ended 30 
June 2015, we completed reviews of 35 first time reviews 
comprising 16 (Type 2) and 19 (Type 3) reports. The final 
reports were signed off and sent to the audit firms. 
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No. of registered audit firms 1407 1378

a. No. of completed first review (report 
signed by MIA)

660 625

b. Percentage of firms completed 
reviewed

47% 45%

c. Total firms notified for 
follow-up review

152 116

d. Cumulative results of review
1. Type 1 (satisfactory)
2. Type 2 (assurance of compliance)
3. Type 3 (follow-up)

7%
46%
47%

7%
46%
47%

 

ii. Statistics on follow up review firms 
 
In addition to the first time reviews as 
mentioned above, we completed reviews of 37 
follow up reviews, comprising 19 (Type 2)  and 
18 (Unsatisfactory) reports for the financial year 
2014/2015.

iii. In summary, the following reports were 
completed and signed off during the financial 
year ended 30 June, 2015:

Type of Reviews Type 1 Type 2 Type 3 Total

First time review - 16 
(45.7%)

19 
(54.3%)

35

Follow-up review - 19 
(51.4%)

18 
(48.6%)

37
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Financial Statements Review
The Malaysian Institute of Accountants’ Financial Statements 
Review (FSR) function serves to monitor the quality of 
financial information and reports that are prepared by or are 
the responsibility of members of the Institute.

Under this function, MIA monitors compliance with statutory 
and other requirements, approved accounting standards 
and approved auditing standards in Malaysia in relation to 
financial reporting. MIA also shares with its members about 
financial reporting best practices based on common findings 
identified during the review process.

The review of financial statements is carried out by MIA’s 
Financial Statements Review Committee (FSRC) which 
monitors the quality of financial statements through the 
review process. In addition to cases referred by other 
regulators, MIA also monitors the media as part of a 
proactive surveillance approach on potential accounting 
irregularities and reporting deficiencies in public-listed 
companies and public-interest entities and will take action, 
where necessary, should a member be found to have 
breached any by-laws and/or other statutory requirements in 
the preparation of the financial statements.

In supporting MIA to regulate the practices and strengthen 
the credibility of the accountancy profession in Malaysia, the 
Financial Statements Review Department (FSRD) carried out 
the following activities during the year: 

1. To monitor compliance with statutory and other 
requirements, approved accounting standards and 
approved auditing standards in Malaysia in relation 
to financial reporting, the FSRC reviewed financial 
statements of listed companies selected on a random 
basis and cases of public interest (inclusive of those 
referred by other regulators).  During the financial year 
ended 30 June 2015, FSRC conducted sixteen (16) 
new reviews on financial statements of public -listed 
companies.  
 
In summary, the reviews conducted were as follows: 

Random selection

Cases b/f from the previous 
financial year

5

Cases initiated by /referred to FSRC 16

Cases closed during the 
financial year

(12)

Cases c/f to the next 
financial year 

9

During the year of review, the FSRC categorised 
three (3) cases as Category 2 of the penalty tariff, 

whereby a warning letter was issued to the preparer 
for a substantial number of non-compliances with 
the requirements of Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards. One (1) case was categorised as Category 
3, whereby the matter was referred to the Investigation 
Committee of MIA for appropriate action. 

2. MIA also actively keeps track of cases of public interest 
reported in the media on financial reporting irregularities 
and ensures prompt action is taken to address the issue. 
During the financial year, media reports and referrals 
from other regulators that prompted further analysis by 
MIA were as follows: 

Total

Cases b/f from previous financial year 5

Cases initiated 12

Cases closed during the financial year (10)

Cases referred (1)

Cases in progress as at the end of the 
financial year

6

 

3. To promote higher standards of financial reporting in 
Malaysia, MIA jointly organises the National Annual 
Corporate Reporting Awards (NACRA) with Bursa 
Malaysia and the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (MICPA). NACRA is aimed at promoting 
greater and more effective communication of financial and 
business information through the publication of timely, 
informative, factual and reader-friendly annual reports.
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Ensuring Checks and Balances 
in the Profession
As the regulatory body for the accountancy profession in 
Malaysia, MIA is responsible to ensure that the credibility of 
the profession is maintained and public interest is upheld. MIA, 
through its enforcement mechanism, uses the statutory powers 
accorded to impose effective sanctions in an effort to further 
raise the standard of professional conduct of members.  

Complaints

Under Rule 3 of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(Disciplinary) (No.2) Rules 2002, every complaint against any 
MIA member shall be addressed in the first instance to the 
Registrar of MIA (“Registrar”). The Registrar shall then refer 
such complaint to the Investigation Committee (“IC”) once it 
satisfies the requirements of Rule 4 of the said rules.

There were 30 complaints pending the issuance of Notices 
of Complaint (“NOC”) brought forward from the previous 
financial year. During the financial year, the Registrar received 
49 (2014: 45) formal complaints and issued 37 (2014: 49) 
NOCs to respective members. As at the financial year-end, 
32 complaints are pending the issuance of NOC. A total of 
30 (2014: 70) complaints were referred to the IC during the 
financial year subsequent to the receipt of replies to the NOC 
or upon the lapse of the notice period given.

The Registrar also received 192 (2014: 88) informal 
complaints during the financial year. These included walk-
ins and online complaints and complaints from other 
regulators/parties against our members. As most of these 
complaints do not contain sufficient details for MIA to act on, 
the Registrar accordingly advises the complainants on the 
fundamental requirements for a complaint to be valid. Most 
times, our statistics show that these Complainants do not 
follow up with a formal complaint.

Statistics of Complaints from 1 July 2014 to 
30 June 2015

Complaints brought forward from previous 
financial years (pending issuance of NOC) 

30

Complaints received during the financial year 49

NOC issued during the financial year (37)

Defective complaints closed before 
the Registrar

(10)

Complaints carried forward
(pending issuance of NOC)

32

Complaints referred to IC during the 
financial year

30

Investigation

The IC is a statutory committee established under 
Section 19(a) of the Accountants Act 1967. It investigates 
all complaints referred by the Registrar and refers the 
complaints to the Disciplinary Committee (“DC”), where 
appropriate. Each complaint is investigated and assessed 
objectively in line with natural justice.

There were 115 (2014: 84) complaints pending investigation 
brought forward from the previous financial year. During the 
financial year, the IC received 30 (2014: 70) complaints from 
the Registrar for investigation on various forms of alleged 
misconduct. The IC held 11 (2014: 8) investigative meetings 
during the financial year which resulted in the dismissal of 
66 (2014: 20) complaints and the referral of 21 (2014: 39) 
complaints to the DC. As at the financial year end, 58 (2014: 
115) complaints are under investigation of which 6 (2014: 20) 
are under active deliberation by the IC.

The IC, in its course of investigation, accords the parties 
involved in the investigation the opportunity to be heard. 
The IC held 9 (2014: 7) such interviews during the financial 
year. These interviews which are also conducted prior to 
IC sittings by the Investigation Officer (“IOs”) provides an 
avenue for the parties involved to render their explanations 
and representations and for the IC and IOs to clarify matters 
pertaining to the complaint.

The IC is also involved in DC mentions and hearings as 
prosecutors. At a DC mention, the IC renders clarification 
(if requested by the DC) while at a DC hearing, the IC is 
required to present the case against the Respondent, 
examine the Complainant, re-examine the Respondent and 
make its final submission. The IC is also required to prepare 
written submissions and written submissions in reply, where 
appropriate. The IC attended 41 (2014: 34) mentions of 
which 23 (2014: 11) turned into DC hearings.

MIA also accords the Respondent an avenue to appeal 
through the Disciplinary Appeal Board (“DAB”). During the 
financial year, 5 (2014: 8) requests for written representations 
were made by DAB. The IC completed 6 (2014: 7) written 
representations comprising 1 brought forward from previous 
financial year and 5 for the current year.

Statistics of Investigation from 1 July 2014 to 
30 June 2015

Complaints under investigation brought 
forward from previous financial year 

115

Complaints received from the Registrar 
during the financial year

30

Complaints dismissed by IC during the 
financial year

(66)

Complaints referred by IC during the 
financial year

(21)

Complaints under investigation 
carried forward

58
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The investigations above are in respect of various types of alleged misconduct as narrated below.

Types of misconduct

Complaints 
under 
investigation 
brought forward 
from previous 
financial years

Complaints 
received from 
the Registrar 
during the 
financial year

Complaints 
dismissed by 
IC during the 
financial year

Complaints 
referred by 
IC during the 
financial year 

Complaints 
under 
investigation 
carried forward 

Accounting & auditing 
failure

69 20 49 9 31

Liquidators’ failure 9 1 5 - 5

Company secretary’s 
failure

30 3 12 - 21

Practice Review failure 7 6 - 12 1

Total 115 30 66 21 58

Statistics of complaints referred to 
Disciplinary Committee from 1 July 2014 
to 30 June 2015

Reports of Investigation submitted to DC 
during the financial year

43

No. of DC Mentions attended 41

No. of DC Hearings attended 23

No. of Written Submissions & Submissions in 
Reply submitted to DC

2

Statistics of Written Representation to 
Disciplinary Appeal Board from 1 July 2014 
to 30 June 2015

Written Representation yet to be attended 
brought forward

1

Request for Written Representations by DAB 5

Written Representations submitted to DAB 6

Written Representation yet to be attended 
carried forward

-
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Disciplinary Action Taken

The Disciplinary Committee (“the DC”) is the other statutory 
arm of the Institute established under Section 19(b) of the 
Accountant’s Act 1967. The DC is empowered under the Act 
to consider all complaints referred to it by the Investigation 
Committee (“the IC”) and cases coming directly to it under 
Rule 18(2) of the MIA (Disciplinary) Rules 2002 (“the 18(2) 
Rule”). The DC derives its powers to impose disciplinary 
punishments where it thinks fit and proper against members 
of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA”) pursuant to 
Rule 18(3) of the MIA (Disciplinary) Rules 2002. 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2015, as indicted in 
Table A below, the DC dealt with four (4) complaints referred 
by IC which were brought forward from the previous financial 
year, and a total of forty nine (49) complaints in the current 
financial year, forty seven (47) of which were referred by the 
IC and two (2) cases came directly under the 18(2) Rule. The 
number of complaints heard and disposed by the DC varies 
annually because of the timing of the individual hearings but 
averaged about twenty two (22) complaints each year over 
the past five financial years. The scheduling of hearings of 
these cases has to take into account the availability of the 
DC members, the representatives of the IC, the member 
involved and if they are represented, his/her legal counsel.

Data show that the DC is more inclined to impose costs and/
or a fine against members for minor audit or accounting 
offences and membership issues while the DC is seen 
to take a more drastic stand of removing or suspending 
members where cases come to DC via the Rule 18(2) route. 
Rule 18(2) cases relate to those where judgments have 
been obtained against the member for offences involving 
fraud, gross negligence, misconduct or dishonesty or where 
members have been declared a bankrupt. The DC views 
such offences with seriousness as it involves the dignity 

and integrity of the profession. Some referrals by the IC that 
involved serious audit related breaches have also resulted in 
removal or suspension of the member in the past. 

Where the DC makes a decision on a case and metes out its 
punishment, these decisions, including the members’ names 
are published in the Institute’s magazine, Accountants Today 
and in both an English and Bahasa Malaysia news daily. 
Such information is also given to all relevant Government 
licensing authorities and to the association of accountants 
to which the member is associated with.  It is also uploaded 
to the Institute’s website for transparency and to serve as a 
warning to potential wrongdoers. 

Table B below illustrates the type of decisions meted 
out by the DC from FY 2010 till 2015. Cases referred 
with punishments meted out rose significantly between 
FY 2012 to 2015 testifying the increasing importance the 
Institute places on complaints lodged against its members 
and the seriousness in sending a stern message across 
to the accounting fraternity. To put the numbers in the 
DC’s reporting in perspective, the number of members 
disciplined, though relatively low compared with the current 
Institute membership of more than 30,000, demonstrates 
the spirit of the Institute in upholding the standard and the 
integrity of its members. However, these punishments, it 
hopes, will continue to serve as a deterrent to members from 
committing offences that will tarnish the professional image 
of the accounting profession. 

Table A: Cases Before the Disciplinary Committee From 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 

Cases 
from 
previous 
financial 
years

No. of 
Cases 
referred 
to the DC 
during 
current 
financial 
year

Cases Heard
(including cases from 
previous financial years)

No. of Cases 
Withdrawn 
by the 
Investigation 
Committee 

Pending 
cases

Complainant Cases Involving :

No. of Cases 
Resulting in 
Disciplinary 
Punishment

No. of Cases 
Dismissed 
by the 
Disciplinary 
Committee

Individual/
Internal/ 
Council 
Complaints

Regulators Auditors -Directors
-Liquidators
-Company  
  Secretary
-Others

4 45** 39 2 1 7* 48 1 8 41

* Pending cases: 7
• 2 cases pending at Disciplinary Committee due to on-going court proceedings.
• 5 cases pending fixing of Mention/ Hearing date.

** 2 cases came directly to the Disciplinary Committee under Rule 18 (2) of the MIA (Disciplinary) Rules, 2002
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Table B : Punishments Meted Out by the 
Disciplinary Committee

PUNISHMENTS
METED BY 
DISICPLINARY
COMMITTEE 20

10
/ 

20
11

20
11

/ 
20

12

20
12

/ 
20

13

20
13

/2
01

4

20
14

/2
01

5

Removal (includes
Costs and/or Fine) 2 0 1 2 1

Suspension (includes 
Costs, Fine, and/or 
Attend Course

0 1 1 3 0

Reprimand/Attend 
Course/ Costs and/
or Fine

3 9 10 5 4

Fine and/ or Costs 0 0 5 23 34

Admonish/ Censure/
Reprimand Only 5 0 1 0 0

Punishments Meted Out by 
the Disciplinary Committee

Disciplinary Appeals

Any member aggrieved by the decision of the Disciplinary 
Committee (DC) may, within a period of twenty one (21) 
days after the said decision has been communicated to him, 
appeal to the Disciplinary Appeal Board (DAB) of the Institute. 

The DAB has been established under the Accountants Act 
1967 to hear and decide appeal against any decision of the 
DC. The DAB is also empowered to confirm, reverse or vary 
any decision of the DC. The decision made by the DAB 
shall be final. 

During the year of review, out of the total of twelve (12) 
appeals, three (3) were new appeals which have been 
lodged with DAB whereas the remaining nine (9) were 
appeals brought forward from the financial previous year. 

A total of nine (9) appeals have been heard by the DAB 
during the year of review. The DAB targets to dispose of the 
remaining three (3) appeals next financial year.  

Total No. of Appeals brought forward 9

Total No. of New Appeals lodged with DAB 
during the financial year

3

Total No. of Appeals heard by DAB during 
the financial year

9

Total No. of Appeals carried forward 3
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Statutory
Investigation Committee 

No. of Meetings: 11

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Chairman Re-appointed 27 October 2014 9/11

2. Dr. Mohd Nordin Mohd Zain Member Re-appointed 27 October 2014.
Retired 18 December 2014

3/4

3. Leong Kah Mun Member Re-appointed 27 October 2014 9/11

4. Mohamad Azmi Ali Member Appointed 18 December 2014 7/7

5. Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member Appointed 29 May 2013.
Retired 31 December 2014

2/4

6. Prof. Dr. Che Ruhana Isa @ Mohamed Isa Member Appointed 1 January 2015 5/7

7. Prof. Dr. Rozainun Hj Abdul Aziz Member Appointed 1 November 2013.
Retired 27 September 2014

3/3

8. Tan Theng Hooi Member Appointed 1 January 2015 6/7

Disciplinary Committee

No. of Meetings:  11  
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Chan Wan Siew, Paul Chairman Appointed 27 October 2014 9/11

2. Kua Choo Kai, Simon Chairman Retired 27 September 2014 1/1

3. Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi Member Appointed 1 January 2015 2/8

4. Mohd Noh Jidin Member Retired 30 November 2014 2/2

5. Ng Kean Kok Member Appointed 27 October 2014 8/10

6. Yap Seng Chong Member Appointed 27 October 2014 9/10

7. Yeo Tek Ling Member Appointed 27 October 2014 7/10
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Disciplinary Appeal Board

No. of Meetings: 3                                          
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dato’ Abdul Rauf Rashid Chairman Re-appointed 27 October 2014 3/3

2. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sabri Mohamat Hassan Member Re-appointed 27 October 2014 2/3

3. Dato’ Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Member Re-appointed 27 October 2014 1/3

4. Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member Re-appointed 27 October 2014 3/3

5. Dr. Veerinderjeet Singh Member Re-appointed 27 October 2014 2/3

Technical
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (AASB)

No. of Meetings: 4

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Lee Tuck Heng Chairman - 4/4

2. Ahmad Shahrul Mohamed Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 2/4

3. Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member - 3/4

4. Cheong Thoong Farn Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 3/4

5. Hooi Kok Mun Member - 3/4

6. Josephine Phan Su Han Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 2/4

7. Lock Peng Kuan Member - 3/4

8. Loh Kam Hian Member - 4/4

9. Ooi Song Wan Member - 4/4

10. Prof. Takiah Mohd Iskandar Member Retired 3 September 2014 1/1

11. Quay Chew Soon Member - 4/4

12. Sukanta Kumar Dutt Member - 4/4

13. Tan Bun Poo, Robert Member - 3/4

14. Tang Seng Choon Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 3/4

15. Thong Foo Vung Member - 1/4

16. Walter Sandosam Member - 2/4
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Ethics Standards Board (ESB)

No. of Meetings: 4                                            
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Eugene Wong Weng Soon Chairman - 4/4

2. Chan Siew Mei Member Appointed 24 July 2014 3/3

3. Loh Kam Hian Member Resigned 24 July 2014 0/1

4. Mohd Nizam Mohd Ali Member - 2/4

5. Prof. Dr. Ayoib Che Ahmad Member - 2/4

6. Ravi Navaratnam Member - 3/4

7. Stefanie Ng Member Resigned 8 May 2015 4/4

8. Tan Khoon Yeow Member - 2/4

9. Tan Soo Yan Member - 4/4

10. Teoh Wuey Sze Member - 1/4

Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Terrorism Financing Act (AMLATFA) Committee

No. of Meeting(s): 1                                         
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dato’ Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Chairman Appointed 18 December 2014 -

2. Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Chairman Retired 18 December 2014 1/1

3. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nor Aziah Abu Kassim Member - 0/1

4. Foong Mun Kong Member Appointed 18 December 2014 -

5. Kua Choo Kai, Simon Member Retired 18 December 2014 1/1

6. Leong Kah Mun Member - 1/1

7. Ng Kim Tuck Member - 1/1

8. Prof. Dr. Rozainun Hj. Abdul Aziz Member Appointed 18 December 2014 -
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Capital Market Advisory Committee (CMAC)

No. of Meetings: 7                                           
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi Chairman - 7/7

2. Chan Jee Peng, Kris Member Appointed 18 December 2014 3/5

3. Chan Kuan Chee, James Member - 5/7

4. Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member - 5/7

5. Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Member Resigned 23 March 2015 -

6. Dato’ Wong Wing Seong Member - 6/7

7. Eng Hooi Ling, Carol Member - 7/7

8. Foong Mun Kong Member - 5/7

9. Huang Khean Yeong, Gary Member - 6/7

10. Leong Shook Kheng, Kelly Observer
Reclassification from member to 
observer on 21 July 2014

-

11. Lock Peng Kuan Member - 3/7

12. Ng Chee Hong Member Appointed 23 March 2015 1/2

13. Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member - 5/7

14. Sukanta Kumar Dutt Member - 4/7

15. Tan Lay Khoon Observer
Reclassification from member to 
observer on 12 December 2014

-

16. Tiang Woon Meng Member - 7/7
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Financial Reporting Standards Implementation Committee (FRSIC)

No. of Meetings: 3                                           
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Johan Idris Chairman - 3/3

2. Cheong Thoong Farn Member - 3/3

3. Esther Chuah Member - 2/3

4. Ng Kean Kok Member - 3/3

5. Ng Kim Tuck Member - 3/3

6. Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member - 2/3

7. Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member - 3/3

8. Sharon Sung Member - 1/3

9. Siew Kar Wai Member - 3/3

10. Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Member - 2/3

11. Thong Foo Vung Member - 3/3

12. Yeah Seok Luan Member - 2/3

Integrated Reporting Steering Committee (IRSC)

No. of Meeting(s): 1                                           
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Johan Idris Chairman Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

2. Cheong Thoong Farn Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

3. Chiew Chun Wee Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

4. Datuk Tong Poh Keow Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

5. Kasturi Paramanathan Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

6. Ong Chee Wai Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

7. Pauline Ho Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

8. Tang Seng Choon Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

9. Venkatt Ramanan Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1
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SSM Committee

No. of Meeting(s): 1                                            
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Johan Idris Chairman - 1/1

2. Abraham Verghese Member - 0/1

3. Dato’ Heng Ji Keng Member - 0/1

4. Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad Member - 1/1

5. Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member - 0/1

6. Lee Hin Kan Member Retired 18 December 2014 1/1

7. Mohd Noh Jidin Member - 1/1

8. N. Chanthiran Nagappan Member Retired 18 December 2014 0/1

9. Ng Kean Kok Member - 1/1

10. Ong Ching Chuan Member - 1/1

11. Thong Foo Vung Member Retired 18 December 2014 0/1

Public Sector Accounting Committee (PSAC)

No. of Meeting(s): 1                                            
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Wan Selamah Wan Sulaiman Chairman - 1/1

2. Chong Dee Shiang, Teresa Member - 1/1

3. Datuk Hj. Anwari Suri Member - 1/1

4. Dato’ Hj. Che Pee Samsudin Member Appointed 23 March 2015 0/1

5. Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi Member - 0/1

6. Dato’ Zahrah Abd Wahab Fenner Member - 1/1

7. Dr. Mohd Nordin Mohd Zain Member - 1/1

8. Dr. Nurmazilah Dato’ Mahzan Member - 1/1

9. Er Beng Kiong Member - 1/1

10. Muhammad Syarizal Abdul Rahim Member - 1/1

11. Nor Yati Ahmad Member - 0/1

12. Nurul Ain Abdul Latif Member - 1/1
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Taxation Practice Committee (TPC)

No. of Meetings: 3                      
                      

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dr. Veerinderjeet Singh Chairman - 3/3

2. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Choong Kwai Fatt Member Retired 18 December 2014 0/2

3. Beh Tok Koay Member - 2/3

4. Datin Tam Poh Lin, Pauline Member - 2/3

5. Dato’ Abdul Rauf Rashid Member - 0/3

6. Dato’ Heng Ji Keng Member Retired 18 December 2014 0/2

7. Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Member Retired 24 September 2014 0/1

8. Dealanathan Joseph Lourdes Member - 1/3

9. Eng Hooi Ling, Carol Member - 3/3

10. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member - 2/3

11. Michael Hendroff Member Appointed 18 December 2014 0/1

12. Mohd Noor Abu Bakar Member - 1/3

13. Po Yih Ming, Frances Member - 2/3

14. Salihin Abang Member - 1/3

15. Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member - 3/3

16. Wong Yok Chin Member - 3/3

17. Woon Yoke Lee Member - 3/3

18. Yeo Eng Ping Member - 1/3
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Education Committee

No. of Meetings: 3                                            
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan Chairman Re-appointed as Chairman 
18 December 2014

3/3

2. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mohamat Sabri Hassan Member Retired 20 January 2015 0/1

3. Dato’ Mohammad Faiz Mohammad Azmi Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 3/3

4. Dr. Veerinderjeet Singh Member Appointed 18 December 2014 2/3

5. Josephine Phan Su Han Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 2/3

6. Kua Choo Kai, Simon Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 2/3

7. Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member Appointed 18 December 2014 2/3

8. Prof. Dr. Che Ruhana Isa @ Mohamed Isa Member Appointed 18 December 2014 3/3

Examination Committee

No. of Meetings: 3                                          

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dr. Mohd Nordin Mohd Zain Chairman Re-appointed as Chairman 
18 December 2014

3/3

2. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nor Aziah Abu Kasim Member Retired 28 February 2015 0/3

3. Assoc. Prof. Noorbijan Abu Bakar Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 3/3

4. Dato’ Rosini Abd Samad 
Representative: Rosenida Abd Rahman

Member Retired 22 December 2014 2/2

5. Foo Yoke Pin Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 1/3

6. Prof. Dr. Che Ruhana Isa @ Mohamed Isa Member Appointed 30 June 2015 0/0

7. Prof. Dr. Nik Nazli Nik Ahmad Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 1/3

8. Prof. Dr. Rozainun Hj. Abdul Aziz Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 3/3

9. Saat Esa
Representative: Abd Majid Salleh

Member Appointed 23 March 2015 1/1

10. Syahrul Idzuan Mohamad
Representative: Mohd Noramin Khalid

Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 3/3

11. Yeo Tek Ling Member Appointed on 18 December 2014 1/1
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Surveillance
Financial Statements Review Committee (FSRC)

No. of Meetings: 8  

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Ahmad Zahirudin Abdul Rahim Chairman - 8/8

2. Lam Kee Soon Deputy 
Chairman

- 3/8

3. Abu Bakar Rajudin Member Appointed 18 December 2014 2/7

4. Asna Atqa Abdullah Member - 3/8

5. Chan Kuan Chee, James Member - 5/8

6. Cheah Pooi Lin, Esther Member Appointed 18 December 2014 6/7

7. Chen Voon Hann Member - 4/8

8. Cheong Chye Hin, Raymond Member - 6/8

9. Cheong Thoong Farn Member - 1/8

10. Chew Lam Koon Member - 5/8

11. Foong Mun Kong Member Appointed 18 December 2014 4/7

12. Khairudin Ibrahim Member - 5/8

13. Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member - 7/8

14. Ow Peng Li Member - 4/8

15. Prof. Dr. Ayoib Che Ahmad Member Resigned 24 July 2014 0/0

16. Prof. Dr. Rozainun Hj. Abdul Aziz Member Appointed 18 December 2014 6/7

17. Soon Teck Thong Member - 5/8

18. Sung Foong Fui, Sharon Member - 3/8

19. Tan Lay Khoon (alternate member to 
Wong Kay Yong)

Alternate
member

- 7/8

20. Tang Seng Choon Member - 4/8

21. Wong Kay Yong Member - 7/8
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Practice Review Committee (PRC)

No. of Meetings: 4
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Foong Mun Kong Chairman Appointed 18 December 2014 4/4

2. Ahmad Zahirudin Abdul Rahim Chairman Retired 27 September 2014 1/1

3. Chan Kuan Chee, James Member - 3/4

4. Huang Shze Jiun Member Appointed 18 December 2014 2/3

5. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member - 4/4

6. Mohd Afrizan Husain Member Retired 18 December 2014 1/1

7. Ooi Chee Kun Member - 4/4

8. Pauline Ho Member - 2/4

9. Prof. Dr. Ayoib Che Ahmad Member - 1/4

10. Siew Kah Toong, David Member - 1/4

11. Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member Retired 18 December 2014 1/1

Representative of Membership
Professional Accountants in Business (PAIB) Committee

No. of Meetings: 2                                           
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Mohd Nasir Ahmad Chairman - 2/2

2. Assoc. Prof. Dr. A. Thillaisundaram Member - 2/2

3. Chan Wan Siew, Paul Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/2

4. Dr. Ng Boon Beng Member - 2/2

5. Eugene Wong Weng Soon Member - 0/2

6. Jeremy Nasrulhaq Member Appointed 18 December 2014 2/2

7. Lee Hin Kan Member Resigned 18 December 2014 -

8. Leong Kah Mun Member - 1/2

9. Mazhairul Jamaludin Member - 1/2

10. N. Chanthiran Nagappan Member - 2/2

11. Nur Hayati Baharuddin Member - 1/2

12. Yeo Tek Ling Member - 1/2



82          Malaysian Institute of Accountants    •   ANNUAL REPORT 2015         

Public Practice Committee (PPC)

No. of Meetings: 5                                          
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dato’ Narendra Kumar Jasani Chairman Re-appointed 18 December 2014 5/5

2. Abu Bakar Rajudin Member Appointed 1 January 2015 2/3

3. Dato’ Heng Ji Keng Member - 4/5

4. Dato’ Liew Lee Leong, Raymond Member - 4/5

5. Huang Shze Jiun Member - 4/5

6. Kang Wei Geih, Billy Member - 3/5

7. Khaw Hock Hoe, Alex Member Retired 18 December 2014 0/1

8. Leong Kah Mun Member - 5/5

9. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member - 4/5

10. Mohd Noh Jidin Member Retired 30 November 2014 1/1

11. Ngiam Mia Teck Member - 4/5

12. Ooi Chee Kun Member - 3/5

13. Ooi Thiam Poh, Alex Member Re-appointed 18 December 2014 1/5

14. Oong Kee Leong, Stephen Member - 4/5

15. Salihin Abang Member - 3/5

16. Soh Siong Hoon, Sam Member - 5/5

17. Soo Hoo Khoon Yean Member - 2/5

18. Subramaniam AV Sankar Member - 5/5

19. Tan Chee Beng, Desmond Member - 0/5

20. Tan Cheng Hooi, Michael Member - 4/5

21. Tan Poh Ling Member - 4/5

22. Yap Seng Chong Member Appointed 18 December 2014 2/3

23. Yap Weng Seong Member - 3/5
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Small and Medium Practices Committee (SMPC)

No. of Meeting(s): 1

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Datuk Zaiton Mohd Hassan Chairman Appointed 23 March 2015 1/1

2. Dato’ Heng Ji Keng Member Appointed 23 March 2015 1/1

3. Dato’ Narendra Jasani Kumar Member Appointed 23 March 2015 1/1

4. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member Appointed 23 March 2015 1/1

Note: The SMP Committee was established on 23 March 2015.

Islamic Finance Committee (IFC)

No. of Meeting(s): 1                                           
                         

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Abdul Rahim Abdul Hamid Chairman - 1/1

2. Ahmad Nasri Abdul Wahab Member - 1/1

3. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mohamat Sabri Hassan Member - 1/1

4. Badlisyah Abdul Ghani Member Appointed 23 March 2015 -

5. Daud Vicary Abdullah Member - 1/1

6.
Dato’ Mohammad Faiz
Mohammad Azmi

Member - 1/1

7. Dr. Mohd Nordin Mohd Zain Member - 1/1

8. Hizamuddin Jamalluddin Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

9. Mohd Zabidi Md Nor Member - 0/1

10. Nik Mohd Hasyudeen Yusoff Member - 1/1

11. Norfadelizan Abdul Rahman Member Resigned 18 December 2014 -

12. Prof. Dr. Ayoib Che Ahmad Member - 0/1

13. Syarizal Rahim Member Appointed 18 December 2014 1/1

14. YM Raja Teh Maimunah Raja Abdul Aziz Member Appointed 23 March 2015 -

15. Zainal Izlan Zainal Abidin Member - 1/1
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Insolvency Practice Committee (IPC)

No. of Meeting(s): 1

No. Name Designation Status Attendance

1. Dato’ Heng Ji Keng Chairman - 1/1

2. Dato’ Gan Ah Tee Member Retired 18 December 2014 1/1

3. Dato’ Liew Lee Leong, Raymond Member - 1/1

4. Dato’ Narendra Jasani Kumar Member - 1/1

5. Datuk Ng Seing Liong Member - 1/1

6. Duar Tuan Kiat, Stephen Member - 1/1

7. Foo Lai-Don, Geoffrey Member - 1/1

8. Kumar Kanagasingam Member - 1/1

9. Lim San Peen Member - 1/1

10. Lim Swee Geok, Amy Member - 1/1

11. Lim Thiam Kee, Peter Member - 0/1

12. Lok Peng Chuan, Aaron Member - 1/1

13. Mak Kum Choon Member - 1/1

14. Mohd Noh Jidin Member Retired 30 November 2014 0/0

15. Mok Chew Yin Member - 0/1

16. Nirmala Devi Ramadass Member - 1/1

17. Subramaniam AV Sankar Member - 1/1

18. Wong Chee Lin Member - 0/1



Financial Statements
For the Financial Year
Ended 30 June 2015
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 2015 2014

Note RM            RM

Assets  

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 22,998,497 12,141,792

Intangible asset 4 253,996 120,148

Investment 5 7,458 7,458

23,259,951 12,269,398

Current assets

Inventories 6 4,158 28,926

Receivables, deposits and prepayments 7 1,643,281 2,019,550

Subscriptions receivables 8 - -

Current tax recoverable - 83,828

Fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions 9 30,433,960 25,124,707

Cash and bank balances                             5,138,780 4,175,898

37,220,179 31,432,909

Total assets                                                                      60,480,130 43,702,307

Non-current liabilities

Islamic financing 10 16,683,600 5,561,200

Deferred tax liability       11 74,543 123,864

16,758,143 5,685,064

Current liabilities

Subscriptions in advance 1,163,620 3,815,300

Payables and accruals 12 7,279,830 5,791,030

Deferred income 13 1,784,933 2,903,907

Deferred income - Government grants 14 525,152 132,895

Current tax payable 204,164 -

10,957,699 12,643,132

Total liabilities                                                                 27,715,842 18,328,196

Total net assets                                                           32,764,288 25,374,111

Accumulated fund                                                        32,764,288 25,374,111

The notes on pages 93 to 114 form an integral part of the financial statements

Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2015 
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The notes on pages 93 to 114 form an integral part of the financial statements

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for the financial year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014

Note RM RM

Membership income                  15 12,814,400 12,305,950

Income from events and conferences 16 30,289,199 19,246,667

Total revenue 43,103,599 31,552,617

Other income 17 2,652,516  2,255,576

Total income                                                                                                    45,756,115 33,808,193

Operating expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment                                       3 452,612 522,221

Amortisation of intangible assets                                                                      4 55,241 51,739

Expenses for events and conferences                                                                  16 13,554,407 10,182,788

Employees’ benefits                                                                                18 18,149,282 14,827,070

Membership services                                                                     1,298,441 1,310,727

Other operating expenses 4,446,404 4,193,958

Total expenses                                                                                                    37,956,387 31,088,503

Surplus before tax 19 7,799,728 2,719,690

Income tax 20 (409,551) 642,659

Surplus for the financial year, representing

total comprehensive income for the financial year 7,390,177 3,362,349
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The notes on pages 93 to 114 form an integral part of the financial statements

Statement of Changes in Accumulated Fund
for the financial year ended 30 June 2015

RM

At 1 July 2013             22,011,762

Surplus for the financial year, representing total comprehensive income for the financial year 3,362,349

At 30 June 2014/1 July 2014 25,374,111

Surplus for the financial year, representing total comprehensive income for the financial year 7,390,177

At 30 June 2015 32,764,288
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2015 2014

Note RM RM

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from members and non-members 43,015,128 38,218,596

Payments for expenditures (37,786,555) (31,157,162)

Cash generated from operations 5,228,573 7,061,434

Government grants received 14 626,632 63,340

Rental income 33,600 33,600

Management fees 6,500 6,000

Tax paid (172,008) (155,796)

Tax refund 1,128 637,316

Net cash generated from operating activities 5,724,425      7,645,894

Cash flows from investing activities

Placement of fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions maturing later 
than 3 months (4,265,037) (4,436,699)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible asset (Note A) (11,594,027) (287,349)

Dividend received from institutional trust account  - 36,383

Interest received 1,019,337 662,709

Net cash used in investing activities (14,839,727) (4,024,956)

Cash flow from financing activity

Proceeds from borrowing, representing net cash generated from financing 
activity 11,122,400 -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,007,098 3,620,938

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 13,691,715 10,070,777

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 15,698,813 13,691,715

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents:

Cash in hand 7,868 4,345

Bank balances 5,130,912 4,171,553

Fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions maturing within 3 months 9 10,560,033 9,515,817

15,698,813 13,691,715

Note A: Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible asset

Purchase of property, plant and equipment during the financial year 3 11,309,351 283,462

Purchase of intangible asset during the financial year 4 189,089 93,027

Add: Unpaid purchases as at previous financial year end 109,990 20,850

11,608,430 397,339

Less: Unpaid purchases as at financial year end (14,403)  (109,990)

11,594,027 287,349

Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 30 June 2015

The notes on pages 93 to 114 form an integral part of the financial statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2015

1. General Information 

The Institute is established under the Accountants Act, 1967 
(‘the Act”) and domiciled in Malaysia. The principal objectives/
activities of the Institute under the Act are:
a. to determine the qualifications of persons for admission 

as members;
b. to provide for the training and education by the Institute 

or any other body, of persons practising or intending to 
practice the profession of accountancy;

c. to approve the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
Qualifying Examination and to regulate and supervise the 
conduct of that Examination;

d. to regulate the practice of the profession of accountancy 
in Malaysia;

e. to promote, in any manner it thinks fit, the interests of the 
profession of accountancy in Malaysia;

f. to render pecuniary or other assistance to members or 
their dependents as it thinks fit with a view to protecting 
or promoting the welfare of members; and

g. generally to do such acts as it thinks fit for the purpose of 
achieving any of the aforesaid objectives.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of 
the principal objectives/activities of the Institute during the 
financial year.

The registered office of the Institute is located at Dewan 
Akauntan, 2 Jalan Tun Sambanthan 3, Brickfields, 50470 
Kuala Lumpur.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
Council in accordance with a resolution of the Council on 
30 July 2015.
 
2. Significant Accounting Policies

2.1. Basis of Preparation of the Financial 
Statements

 
The financial statements of the Institute have been prepared 
in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards 
(“MFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Standards.  
 
The financial statements of the Institute have been prepared 
under the historical cost basis, unless otherwise stated in the 
accounting policies below.
 
The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia 
(“RM”), which is the Institute’s functional currency.  

2.2. Adoption of New and Revised 
Pronouncements 

As of 1 July 2014, the Institute adopted the following applicable 
pronouncements that have been issued by the Malaysian 
Accounting Standards Boards (“MASB”) as listed below: 
 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 July 2014
 

Amendments to 
MFRS 13           

Fair Value Measurement 
(Annual Improvements to MFRSs 
2011-2013 Cycle)  

Amendments to 
MFRS 116

Property, Plant and Equipment 
(Annual Improvements to MFRSs 
2010 - 2012 Cycle)

Amendments to 
MFRS 119

Employee Benefits - Defined Benefit 
Plans: Employee Contributions

Amendments to 
MFRS 124

Related Party Disclosures 
(Annual Improvements to MFRSs 
2010 - 2012 Cycle)

Amendments to 
MFRS 138

Intangible Assets (Annual Improvements 
to MFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle)

 
The adoption of the above MFRSs and amendments to 
MFRSs did not have any significant impact to the Institute 
upon its initial application.

2.3 New and Revised Pronouncements 
Yet in Effect

The accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 
that have been issued by the MASB which are expected to 
be applicable and have not been adopted by the Institute are 
as follows:
 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2016

Amendments to 
MFRS 116 

Property, Plant and Equipment - 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation 

Amendment to 
MFRS 5

Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations 
(Annual Improvements to MFRSs 
2012-2014 Cycle)

Amendment to 
MFRS 7  

Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
(Annual Improvements to MFRSs 
2012-2014 Cycle)

Amendment to 
MFRS 101

Presentation of Financial Statements 
(Disclosure Initiative)

Amendment to 
MFRS 119

Employee Benefits 
(Annual Improvements to MFRSs 
2012-2014 Cycle)
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Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2017

MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to the periods presented in these financial 
statements. 

a. Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially 
recorded at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it 
is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Institute and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.
 
Cost includes expenditure that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the asset and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to working condition 
for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and 
removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are 
capitalised in accordance with the accounting policy on 
borrowing costs.
 
Subsequent to recognition, costs are included in the 
asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Institute and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
 
Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment 
are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.
 
Freehold land is not depreciated as it has an infinite life. 
Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is 
computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the assets as follows:
 

Buildings 50 years

Office equipment 10 years

Furniture and fittings 10 years

Computer equipment 3 years

Renovation 10 years

 

Office suite under construction included in the property, 
plant and equipment is not depreciated as this asset is 
not available for use.
 
The carrying values of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not 
be recoverable.
 
The residual value, useful life and depreciation method 
are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal.  Any gain or loss on 
derecognition of the asset is included in the profit or loss 
in the year the asset is derecognised.

b. Intangible asset - computer software
 
Computer software is measured initially at cost. Following 
initial acquisition, computer software is measured at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.
 
The useful lives of computer software are assessed 
to be finite. Computer software is amortised over their 
estimated useful lives of 3 years and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
computer software may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least 
at each financial year end. The amortisation expense on 
computer software with finite lives is recognised in profit 
or loss.
 
Gain or loss arising from derecognition of computer 
software is measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceed and the carrying amount of the asset 
and is recognised in profit or loss when the computer 
software is derecognised.

c. Impairment of non-financial assets
 
The Institute assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If 
any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment 
assessment for an asset is required, the Institute makes 
an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)).
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset.  Where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is written down to its recoverable amount. 
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Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to 
whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the 
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 
its recoverable amount. The increase cannot exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined net of 
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised 
previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss 
unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which 
case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

d. Inventories
 
Inventories such as publications are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined on first-in first-out basis. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

e. Subscriptions receivables
 
Subscriptions receivables for 6 months and above due 
from members who were removed from the Register of 
Members and where, in the opinion of the Council, these 
debts are no longer recoverable are written off to the 
profit or loss.  An impairment of receivables is carried 
out based on a review of all subscription in arrears at 
the reporting date. Subsequent recovery is taken up on 
a cash basis. Members who have ongoing investigation 
and disciplinary proceedings instituted against them 
and whose subscriptions are in arrears for more than 
6 months will not be removed from the Register of 
Members.

f. Cash and cash equivalents
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank balances, 
deposits with licensed financial institutions with original 
maturities within 3 months and highly liquid investments 
which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. The statement of cash flows is prepared using 
the direct method.

g. Financial assets
 
The Institute recognises all financial assets in its 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the 
Institute becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instruments.

(i) Classification and measurement
 
Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus, in 
the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit 
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
 

Financial assets are classified into financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-
to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial 
assets, depending on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and are determined at the time of initial 
recognition.

The Institute categorises its financial assets as follows:
 
Loans and receivables
 
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market are classified as loans 
and receivables.
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
 
Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, 
except for those having maturity dates later than 12 
months after the reporting date which are classified as 
non-current.
 
Available-for-sale financial assets
 
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investment 
in equity and debt securities instruments that are not 
held for trading and do not fall in other categories of 
financial assets.
 
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets 
are measured at fair value.  Any gains or losses from 
changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised 
in other comprehensive income, except that impairment 
losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary 
instruments and interest calculated using the effective 
interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit 
or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial 
asset is derecognised.  Interest income calculated using 
the effective interest method is recognised in profit or 
loss.  Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument 
are recognised in profit or loss when the Institute’s right to 
receive payment is established.
 
Investment in equity instruments whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less 
impairment loss.
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(ii) Derecognition of financial assets
 

A financial asset is derecognised when, and only when, 
the contractual right to receive  cash flows from the 
financial assets has expired or it transfers the financial 
asset without retaining control or substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
to another party. On derecognition of a financial asset 
in its entirety, the difference between the carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and 
any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised 
in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit 
or loss.

(iii) Regular way purchase or sale of 
financial assets

 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets 
within the period generally established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace concerned. All 
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 
are recognised or derecognised on the trade date 
i.e., the date that the Institute commits to purchase 
or sell the asset.

h. Impairment of financial assets
 
The Institute assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
is impaired.

(i) Receivables and other financial assets carried 
at amortised cost

 
To determine whether there is objective evidence 
that an impairment loss on financial assets has 
been incurred, the Institute considers factors such 
as the significant financial difficulties of the debtor 
and default or significant delay in payments. Certain 
categories of financial assets that are assessed not to 
be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for 
impairment on a collective basis based on similar risk 
characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment for 
a portfolio of receivables could include the Institute’s 
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in 
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past 
the average credit period and observable changes in 
national or local economic conditions that correlate 
with default on receivables.

 
If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment 
loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced 
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets  
with  the exception of amount due from events and 
conferences participants and other receivables, 

where the carrying amount is reduced through the 
use of allowance accounts.  When trade receivables 
and other receivables become uncollectible, they are 
written off against the allowance accounts.

 
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent 
that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The 
amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Unquoted equity securities carried at cost
 

If there is objective evidence (such as significant 
adverse changes in the business environment where 
the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or 
significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that an 
impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has 
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a 
similar financial asset. The difference is recognised 
in profit or loss. Such impairment losses are not 
reversed in subsequent periods.

i. Financial liabilities
 
Financial liabilities are classified according to the 
substance of the contractual agreements entered into 
and the definitions of a financial liability. 
 
The Institute recognises all financial liabilities in its 
statement of financial position when, and only when, the 
Institute becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the financial instruments.

(i) Classification and measurement
 

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit and loss or 
other financial liabilities. The Institute categorises its 
financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. 

 
Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at 
fair value plus directly attributable transaction  cost   
and  subsequently measured  at  amortised  cost  
using the  effective interest method. Other financial 
liabilities of the Institute include subscriptions in 
advance, payables and Islamic financing.

 
For other financial liabilities, gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised, and through the amortisation process.



Malaysian Institute of Accountants    •   ANNUAL REPORT 2015           97

(ii) Derecognition of a financial liability
 

A financial liability is derecognised when, and 
only when, the obligation specified in the contract 
is extinguished. 

 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, 
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in profit or loss.

 
j.  Provisions

 
Provisions are recognised when the Institute has a 
present legal and constructive obligation as a result of 
past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources 
will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is 
reversed.  If the effect of time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as 
finance cost.

k.  Government grants
 
Government grants are recognised initially at their fair 
values in the statement of financial position as deferred 
income where there is reasonable assurance that the 
grants will be received and all conditions attached will 
be complied.
 
Grants related to property, plant and equipment are 
set up as deferred income and recognised as income 
on a systematic basis over the estimated lives of the 
assets. Grants that compensate the Institute for 
expenses incurred are recognised as income over the 
periods to match the cost that the grants are intended 
to compensate.

l.  Income recognition 

(i) Membership subscription and practising certificate 
fees are payable annually at the beginning of the 
financial year. Only subscription which is attributable 
to the current financial year is recognised as income. 
Subscription relating to periods beyond the current 
financial year is recognised as subscription in 
advance in deferred  income  under current liabilities 
in the statement of financial position.

(ii) Membership admission is recognised upon approval 
by Council. Membership subscription and admission 
fees for applicants approved after the end of the 
financial year but received during the financial year 
are taken up as deferred income under current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(iii) Income from events and conferences is recognised 
in the period the services are provided. Advanced 
payments received from events and conferences 
are recognised as deferred income under current 
liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(iv) Processing fee on registration as a candidate for the 
Qualifying Examination is recognised upon receipt but 
the candidacy fee is only recognised upon approval 
by the Examination Committee.  Examination fees 
are recognised twice every calendar year when the 
examination is held. Tuition fees are recognised over 
the tuition term.

(v) Income from advertisements placed in the Institute’s 
journal is recognised over the advertisement period. 
Income received for such advertisements that take 
place before the said period is taken up as deferred 
income. Sponsorship income is deferred until the 
activities are rolled out.

(vi) Deferred income on review of accreditation of 
universities or other institutions of higher learning 
(“IHL”) represents the initial amount agreed, to 
the extent that it is probable that they will result in 
revenue and can be measured reliably. The deferred 
income is recognised in profit or loss in proportion to 
the stage of completion. 

(vii) Income from sale of technical materials/publications 
is recognised when physical control of the technical 
materials/publications passes to the purchasers.

(viii) Practice review income is recognised upon 
completion of field work and subsequent issuance of 
the draft practice review report to the firm.

(ix) Dividend income is recognised when the right to 
receive payment is established.

(x) Interest income is recognised based on an effective 
yield basis.

(xi) Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.

m. Income taxes
 
Income tax on profit or loss for the financial year comprises 
current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected 
amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable 
profit for the financial year and is measured using the tax 
rates that have been enacted at the reporting date.
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Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on 
temporary differences at the reporting date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences, except for the deferred tax liability 
that arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss.
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses 
can be utilised, except for the deferred tax asset that 
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at 
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss.
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised.
 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at 
each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow 
the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. Deferred tax is recognised as income or expense 
and included in the statement of profit or loss for the 
period, except when it arises from a transaction which is 
recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred 
tax is also recognised directly in equity.
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the 
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

n. Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits
 

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security 
contributions are recognised as an expense in the 
year in which the associated services are rendered by 
employees of the Institute. Short term accumulating 
compensated absences such as paid annual 
leave are recognised when services are rendered 
by employees that increase their entitlement to 
future compensated absences. Short term non-
accumulated compensated absences such as sick 
leave are recognised when the absences occur. 

(ii) Defined contributions plans
 

Defined contribution plans are post-employment 
benefit plans under which the Institute pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities or funds and 
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further contributions if any of the funds do not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating 
to employee services in the current and preceding 
financial years. Such contributions are recognised 
as an expense in the profit or loss in the period in 
which the related service is performed.  As required 
by law in Malaysia, such contribution is made to the 
Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”).

o. Foreign currency transactions and balances
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into 
Ringgit Malaysia, which is also the Institute functional 
currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the 
transaction dates or, where settlement has not yet taken 
place at the end of the financial year, at the approximate 
exchange rates prevailing at that date. All exchange gains 
and losses are taken up in the profit or loss.

p. Leases

(i) As lessee
 

Finance leases, which transfer to the Institute 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the 
inception of the lease at the fair value of the  leased  
asset or , if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also 
added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments 
are apportioned between the finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or 
loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses 
in the periods in which they are incurred.

 
Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated 
useful life of the asset. However, if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Institute will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is 
depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful 
life and the lease term.

 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of 
incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as 
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on 
a straight-line basis.

(ii) As lessor
 

Leases where the Institute retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 
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to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised over the lease term on the same bases 
as rental income. The accounting policy for rental 
income is set out in Note 2.4 (l)(xi).

q. Borrowing costs
 
Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of 
a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. 
Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use are in 
progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are 
incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets 
are substantially completed for their intended use.
 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss 
in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist 
of interest and other costs that the Institute incurred in 
connection with the borrowing of funds.
 

2.5 Significant Accounting Estimates 
and Judgements 

There were no significant judgements made in applying the 
accounting policies of the Institute which may have significant 
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Management makes key assumptions concerning the future 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

The following represents a summary of the key sources of 
estimation uncertainty:

i. Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible asset
 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The 
Council estimates that the useful lives of the property, 
plant and equipment to be within 3 years to 50 years. 
The carrying amount of the Institute’s property, plant 
and equipment as at 30 June 2015 was RM22,998,497 
(2014: RM12,141,792). Changes in the expected level of 
usage and technological developments could impact the 
economic useful lives and residual values of the property, 
plant and equipment. Therefore, the future depreciation 
charge could be revised.
 
For intangible asset, changes in the expected useful 
lives or the expected pattern of consumption of 
future embodied in the asset are accounted for by 
changing the amortisation period or method, as 
appropriate and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. The amortisation expenses on computer 
software with finite lives are recognised in profit or 
loss. The carrying amount of the intangible asset as 
at 30 June 2015 was RM253,996 (2014: RM120,148). 

ii. Impairment of receivables
 
The Institute makes an allowance for impairment 
losses based on an assessment of the recoverability of 
receivables. Allowances are applied to receivables where 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In assessing 
the extent of irrecoverable debts, the Council has given 
due consideration to all pertinent information relating 
to the ability of the debtors to settle debts. Where the 
expectation is different from the original estimate, such 
difference will impact the carrying value of receivables. 
The carrying amounts of the receivables and the 
cumulative allowance for impairment losses are disclosed 
in Note 7 and Note 8.

iii. Income taxes and deferred tax
 
Estimation is required to determine the provision for 
income taxes.  There are transactions and calculations for 
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during 
the ordinary course of business. The Institute recognises 
liabilities for tax based on estimates of assessment of 
the tax liability due. Where the final tax outcome of these 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially 
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax 
and deferred tax provisions, where applicable, in the 
periods in which such determination is made.
 
Deferred tax implications arising from the changes in 
income tax rates are measured with reference to the 
estimated realisation and settlement of temporary 
differences in the future periods in which the tax rates 
are expected to apply, based on the tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  While the 
Institute’s estimates on the realisation and settlement 
of temporary differences are based on the available 
information at the reporting date, future operating 
performance and other factors could potentially impact 
on the actual timing and amount of temporary differences 
realised and settled.  Any difference between the actual 
amount and the estimated amount would be recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which actual realisation 
and settlement occurs. The carrying amount of the 
deferred tax liability as at 30 June 2015 was RM74,543 
(2014: RM123,864).

iv. Stage of completion for review of accreditation
 
Accreditation fees are charged to universities or other 
IHL which desire to be listed in the First Schedule to the 
Accountants Act 1967, whereby before being listed in the 
said schedule, the university or IHL would be required to 
undergo an accreditation process. Universities and IHL 
are also subjected to a review process to ensure that its 
qualifications are still at par with the current needs. 
 
The stage of completion for the review of accreditation 
is assessed by reference to the proportion of work 
performed as of the reporting date.
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4. Intangible Asset
2015 2014

RM RM

Computer software

Cost

At beginning of financial year 354,284        261,257        

Addition during the financial year 189,089 93,027

At end of financial year 543,373 354,284

Accumulated amortisation

At beginning of financial year 234,136 182,397

Amortisation for the financial year (Note 19) 55,241 51,739

At end of financial year 289,377 234,136

Net carrying amount at end of financial year 253,996 120,148

The computer software represents the costs of software acquired. The costs of software acquired, including all directly attributable 
costs of preparing the assets for their intended use, are amortised on the straight line basis over the estimated useful life of 3 years.

5. Investment
2015 2014

RM RM

At cost

Investment, unquoted 7,458        7,458        

The Institute has acquired 9.09% share in the issued and paid-up share capital of Ultimate Professional Centre (Sarawak) Sdn. 
Bhd. (“UPC”) in the financial year ended 30 June 1996.

6. Inventories
2015 2014

RM RM

At cost

Publications 4,158                      28,926                      

During the financial year, the amount of inventories recognised as expense was RM62,014 (2014: RM56,155).
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7. Receivables, Deposits and Prepayments
2015 2014

RM RM

Amount due from events and conferences participants          519,297 936,648

Other receivables 613,264 325,764

1,132,561 1,262,412

Less : Allowance for impairment losses (68,435) (69,783)

1,064,126 1,192,629

Prepayments 412,471          664,837          

Deposits 166,684 162,084

579,155         826,921         

1,643,281 2,019,550

The credit period granted to receivables ranges from 30 days to 90 days (2014: 30 days to 90 days).

The ageing analysis of receivables is as follows:

2015 2014

RM RM

Neither past due nor impaired 474,056 858,002

1 to 30 days past due not impaired 318,788 167,022

31 to 60 days past due not impaired 119,698 94,459

61 to 90 days past due not impaired 151,584 73,146

1,064,126 1,192,629

Impaired 68,435 69,783

1,132,561 1,262,412

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with the Institute. 
The Institute does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

Receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to debtors with slower repayment pattern. Based on past experience, the 
Council of the Institute is confident to collect the debts and is of the opinion that no allowance for impairment is necessary in 
respect of these balances as these balances are assessed to be fully recoverable. The Institute does not hold any collateral over 
these balances.
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7. Receivables, Deposits and Prepayments (Cont’d)

Receivables that are impaired

Receivables that are impaired at the reporting date are as follows:

2015 2014

RM RM

Receivables - nominal amounts         68,435 69,783

Less : Allowance for impairment losses   (68,435) (69,783)

- -

These receivables have been individually determined to be impaired when the debt is past due and collection has not 
been successful. 

The movement of allowance for impairment losses during the financial year is as follows:

2015 2014

RM RM

At beginning of financial year 69,783 28,769

Impairment losses recognised during the financial year (Note 19) 68,335 69,783

Reversal of impairment losses (Note 19) (61,345) (28,769)

Written off (8,338) -

At end of financial year 68,435 69,783

During the financial year, receivables amounting to RM18,264 (2014: RM9,901) was written off in profit or loss (Note 19).

8. Subscriptions Receivables

In accordance with the (Membership and Council) Rules 2001, Part II, para 7(1), the Council may require the Registrar to remove 
from the register the name of any member who is in arrears for 6 months or more in the payment of any fees. Members who have 
ongoing investigation and disciplinary proceedings instituted against them and who are in arrears of more than 6 months will not 
be removed from the Register of Members. An estimate is made for allowance for impairment losses based on a review of all 
subscriptions in arrears at the reporting date.

2015 2014

RM RM

Subscriptions receivables        5,100 11,150

Less : Allowance for impairment losses     (5,100)    (11,150)

- -

These receivables have been individually determined to be impaired when the debt is past due and collection has not 
been successful.
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8. Subscriptions Receivables (Cont’d)

The movement of allowance for impairment losses during the financial year is as follows: 

2015 2014

RM RM

At beginning of financial year 11,150 9,250

Impairment losses recognised during the financial year (Note 19) 2,450 5,350

Reversal of impairment losses (Note 19) (2,850) (1,700)

Written off (5,650) (1,750)

At end of financial year 5,100 11,150

During the financial year, subscriptions receivables amounting to RM151,250 (2014: RM209,850) was written off in profit or 
loss (Note 19).

9. Fixed Deposits with Licensed Financial Institutions

The effective interest rates receivable for the fixed deposits placed with licensed financial institutions range from 3.25%  to 4.20% 
(2014: 3.05%  to 3.80%) per annum.  

The maturity profile of fixed deposits is presented as follows:

2015 2014

RM RM

Within 3 months 10,560,033 9,515,817

Later than 3 months 19,873,927 15,608,890

30,433,960 25,124,707

10. Islamic Financing    
2015 2014

RM RM

Repayable between two to five years 5,213,625 1,390,300

Repayable later than five years 11,469,975 4,170,900

16,683,600 5,561,200

The Institute obtained an Islamic financing amounting to RM18.9 million during 2013 to part finance the acquisition of 2 units of 
office suite in Bangsar South. The financing is secured over the office suite under construction (Note 3). The Effective Profit Rate 
(“EPR”) of the financing is at 4.2% per annum. However, the EPR should not exceed the Ceiling Profit Rate (“CPR”) of 10.75% per 
annum. The financing is repayable over 192 monthly instalments.

The Bank has undertaken to grant Ibra’ (rebate) of such amount if any where the EPR is less than CPR; upon early settlement of 
the facility; and/or upon receipt by the Bank of early settlement amount pursuant to occurrence of any of the Events of Default 
per facility agreement.
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11. Deferred Tax Liability 
2015 2014

RM RM

Deferred tax liability 74,543 123,864

At beginning of financial year 123,864 129,207

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 20)

- property, plant and equipment 9,430 (5,343)

- provisions (58,751) -

(49,321) (5,343)

At end of financial year 74,543 123,864

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Balance of unutilised capital allowance and unutilised losses totalling RM542,137 as at the end of the current financial year 
represents brought forward amounts from membership activities that was prior to  the Addendum to Public Ruling No 6/2005 
in relation to Trade Association tax treatment. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these items at the 
reporting date as the potential of utilising the tax benefit is not foreseeable in the near future. 

2015 2014

RM RM

Deductible temporary differences - 187,998          

Unabsorbed capital allowance 346,573 1,207,652

Unitilised tax losses 195,564 2,026,662

542,137 3,422,312

Potential deferred tax assets not recognised at 25% (2014: 24%) 135,534  821,355

12. Payables and Accruals
2015   2014    

 RM  RM 

Payables 595,958 512,859

Accruals - events and conferences expenses 697,195 1,376,378

Accruals - employee benefits 4,799,333 3,335,381

Accruals - education expenses 75,536 71,000

Accruals - others 1,012,608 397,612

Deposits 99,200 97,800

7,279,830 5,791,030

The credit periods granted by sundry payables to the Institute ranges from 14 days to 60 days (2014: 14 days to 60 days).

13. Deferred Income 
 2015  2014 

 RM  RM 

Membership admission pending Council’s approval 409,050 319,957 

Practising certificate holders pending Council’s approval 14,000 9,000 

Deferred income - readmission pending Council’s approval 3,400 15,700 

Deferred income - events and conferences 1,045,461 2,251,078 

Deferred income - review on accreditation of universities 38,000 85,000

Deferred income - qualifying examination 184,909 154,790

Deferred income - others 90,113   68,382   

1,784,933 2,903,907
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14. Deferred Income - Government Grants

ICS
Capacity 
building 

SMIDEC 
training grant

FRSIC & 
CMAC Total

RM RM RM RM RM 

(a) (b) (c) (d)

2015

At beginning of financial year 8,276 44,017 80,602 - 132,895

Grant received during the financial year    -    - 121,632 505,000 626,632 

8,276 44,017 202,234 505,000 759,527

Deferred income released to profit or loss (8,276) (37,817) (138,282) (50,000) (234,375)

At end of financial year - 6,200 63,952 455,000 525,152

2014

At beginning of financial year 34,371 238,703 338,550 - 611,624

Grant received during the financial year    -    - 63,340 - 63,340 

34,371 238,703 401,890 - 674,964

Deferred income released to profit or loss  (26,095) (194,686) (321,288) - (542,069)

At end of financial year 8,276 44,017 80,602 - 132,895

a. ICS
 
This represents grant from the Ministry of Higher Education Malaysia obtained in Financial year 2009/2010 for the Institute to 
develop integrated cases to be used by universities under a newly introduced course, namely Integrated Case Study (“ICS”). 
Grant received in 2009 was RM125,000.

b. Capacity Building
 
Approval on government assistance for Capacity building was obtained on 12 April 2012 to carry out various programmes in 
upgrading the capacity building for the nation. Total grant received to-date is RM1.37 million (2014: RM1.37 million).

c. SMIDEC training grant
 
The Institute was offered training grant from SMECorp Malaysia (“SMIDEC”) for mandatory and skill program for subsidising 
qualified participants’ course fees. The total subsidy received to-date is RM2.75 million (2014: RM2.63 million).

d. FRSIC and CMAC
 
During the financial year, Capital Market Development Fund (“CMDF”) has approved a grant to the Institute. This grant is for 
implementing and administering of Financial Reporting Standards Implementation Committee (“FRSIC”) and Capital Market 
Advisory Committee (“CMAC”) projects. The grant will be receivable yearly over a period of 4 years from May 2015 to 31 
December 2018 totalling RM4.52 million to carry out initiatives in capacity building of professional accountants through the 
provision for knowledge and skills upgrading courses and to achieve consistent application of the securities laws and rules 
of the stock exchange and accounting standards through provision for guidance notes, clarification and consensus. During 
the financial year, the Institute received RM505,000 of the grant.
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15. Membership Income
2015  2014 

RM RM 

Members’ annual subscription fees 11,243,650 10,904,450 

Members’ admission fees 812,500       694,000 

Practising certificate fees 758,250 707,500 

12,814,400 12,305,950 

16. Income From and (Expenses For) Events and Conferences
 2015 2014

 RM RM

Income  30,289,199 19,246,667

Direct expenses  (13,554,407) (10,182,788)

16,734,792 9,063,879

17. Other Income
 2015  2014 

 RM  RM 

Education income 502,853 649,025

Accountants Today and other web advertisements 128,735 179,175

Practice review billings 176,103 206,838

Income from joint activities with other professional bodies 115,302 97,645

Amortisation of deferred income - government grant  (Note 3) - 66,667

Dividend from institutional trust accounts - 12,325

Interest on fixed deposits and current accounts 1,177,367 718,100

Rental income 33,600 33,600

Regional office activities 12,723 -

Enforcement penalty - reimbursement 124,400 88,050

Miscellaneous income 381,433 204,151

2,652,516    2,255,576

18. Employees’ Benefits
2015 2014 

RM RM 

Salaries, overtime and bonus 14,704,678 11,993,694 

Contributions to EPF 2,232,831 1,838,292 

Other staff benefits 467,115 449,086 

Social security contribution 88,906 84,519 

Staff training 276,085 279,911 

Staff welfare 379,667 181,568

18,149,282 14,827,070
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19. Surplus Before Tax
 2015       2014 

Note  RM  RM 

Surplus before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Education expenses 385,879 489,511

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3 452,612 522,221

Amortisation of intangible asset 4 55,241 51,739

Auditor’s remuneration - statutory audits 18,002 15,032

Impairment loss on financial assets:

- receivables 7 68,335 69,783

- subscriptions receivables 8 2,450 5,350

Reversal of impairment loss on financial assets:

- receivables 7 (61,345) (28,769)

- subscriptions receivables 8 (2,850) (1,700)

Financial assets written off:

- receivables 7 18,264 9,901

- subscriptions receivables 8 151,250 209,850

Non-financial assets written off:

- Property, plant and equipment 3 34 8

- Inventories - 15,390

Assets expensed off 6,178 5,070

Office rental 538,250 526,350

20. Income Tax
 2015       2014 

 RM  RM 

Income tax

 - current year 460,000                  -                   

 - over provision in respect of previous years (1,128) (637,316)

458,872 (637,316)   

Deferred tax (Note 11)                     

- relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (49,321) (5,343)

409,551 (642,659)  

For tax purposes, the Institute is treated as a “Trade Association” under section 53(3) of the Income Tax Act 1967 under which 
its income is taxed at scale rates.
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20. Income Tax (Cont’d)

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to surplus before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax expense 
at the effective income tax rate of the Institute is as follows:

2015 2014

RM RM 

Surplus before tax 7,799,728 2,719,690 

Taxation at applicable statutory tax rate of 25% (2014: 24%) 1,949,932 652,726

Tax effects of:

- expenses not deductible for tax purposes 26,764 56,985

- unabsorbed capital allowances for the current year disregarded
  under Addendum to Public Ruling No. 6/2005  31,551 38,507

- deferred tax assets not recognised - 68,720

- utilisation of deferred tax assets previously not recognised (720,045) -

- membership income not subject to tax (877,523) (822,281)

- over provision of income tax in respect of previous years (1,128) (637,316)

409,551 (642,659)

21. Related Party Disclosures

The transactions carried out with related parties during the financial year were as follows: 

a. Fees paid by Council members

2015 2014

RM RM 

Members’ annual subscription fees 9,350 8,850

Practising certificate fees 3,250 3,000

12,600 11,850
 

b. Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Institute either directly or indirectly.
 
The key management personnel of the Institute are the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Directors 
of Member Development & Education, Professional Standards & Practices and Surveillance & Enforcement. 
Their remunerations for the financial year are as follows:

2015 2014

RM RM 

Salaries and bonus 1,609,211 1,273,936

Contribution to EPF 238,335 188,925

Social security contribution 1,859 2,014

1,849,405 1,464,875

The year-end outstanding balance of RM541,711 (2014: RM350,838) in relation to compensation payable to key management 
personnel is included in payables and accruals.
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22. Financial Instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one enterprise and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another enterprise.

a. Categories of financial instruments

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Loans and 
receivables 

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

 RM  RM  RM  RM 

As at 30 June 2015

Financial assets:

- Investment 7,458 - - 7,458

- Receivables and deposits - 1,230,810 - 1,230,810

- Fixed deposits with licensed financial 
  institutions - 30,433,960 - 30,433,960

- Cash and bank balances - 5,138,780 - 5,138,780

Total financial assets 7,458       36,803,550 - 36,811,008

Financial liabilities:

- Islamic financing - - 16,683,600 16,683,600

- Payables - - 695,158 695,158

- Accruals - - 6,584,672 6,584,672

Total financial liabilities - - 23,963,430 23,963,430

As at 30 June 2014

Financial assets:

- Investment      7,458 -                      - 7,458

- Receivables and deposits - 1,354,713                      -      1,354,713 

- Fixed deposits with licensed financial 
  institutions - 25,124,707 - 25,124,707

- Cash and bank balances - 4,175,898                      - 4,175,898

Total financial assets      7,458 30,655,318                      - 30,662,776

Financial liabilities:

- Islamic financing - - 5,561,200  5,561,200                     

- Payables - - 610,659 610,659

- Accruals - - 5,180,371 5,180,371

Total financial liabilities - - 11,352,230 11,352,230

b. Net gains arising from financial instruments

2015 2014 

RM RM 

Net gain on loans and receivables 1,001,263 466,010
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22. Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

c. Financial risk management objectives and policies
 
The Institute’s financial risk management objectives are to ensure that the Institute creates value and maximises returns to the 
Institute and its members at large. The Institute’s financial risk management policies seek to ensure that adequate financial 
and non-financial resources are available for the smooth implementation of its operations. The Institute has exposure on 
liquidity risk, interest rate risk and profit rate risk arising from Islamic financing. The Institute does not invest in quoted shares 
and is, therefore, not exposed to market risk arising from the risk of the financial instruments fluctuating due to changes in 
market prices.

(i) Credit risk
 

Receivables and transactions with banking institutions may give rise to credit risk which requires the loss to be recognised 
if a counter party fails to perform as contracted. The counter parties are licensed financial institutions and organizations. 
It is the policy of the Institute to monitor the financial standing of these counter parties on an  on-going basis to ensure 
that the Institute is exposed to minimal credit risk. The Institute has also exercised strict control in removing members 
in arrears of more than 6 months as provided under the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (Membership and Council) 
Rules 2001.

 
Other than as mentioned, the Institute has no significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum exposures to credit 
risk are represented by the carrying amounts of the financial assets in the statement of financial position.

(ii) Liquidity risk
 

Liquidity or funding risk is the risk of the inability to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.
 

The Institute practices prudent liquidity risk management to minimise the mismatch of financial assets and liabilities and 
to maintain sufficient levels of cash or cash equivalents to meets its requirements of working capital.    

 
Maturity analysis

 
The maturity profiles of the Institute’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period based on undiscounted 
contractual payments are as follows:

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
profit rate 

Gross 
contractual 

cash flow
 < than a 

year   
 1 - 5 
years 

> 5
years 

 RM RM RM RM RM

2015

Islamic financing 16,683,600 4.20% 22,940,544 1,624,956 6,499,824 14,815,764

Payables and accruals 7,279,830 7,279,830 7,279,830 - -

23,963,430 30,220,374 8,904,786 6,499,824 14,815,764

2014

Islamic financing 5,561,200 4.20% 7,646,784 - 6,499,824 1,146,960

Payables and accruals    5,791,030 5,791,030 5,791,030 - -

11,352,230 13,437,814 5,791,030 6,499,824 1,146,960

(iii) Interest rate risk 
 

The  Institute  is  also  exposed  to  interest  rate  in  respect  of  its  fixed  deposits and profit rate risk in respect of Islamic 
financing  with  licensed  financial institutions and banks.

 
The Institute is exposed to interest rate risk in respect of its fixed deposits with licensed financial institutions and banks. 
The Institute places fixed deposits at competitive rates under the most favourable terms and conditions.  As fixed 
deposits are subject to fixed rate and not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, a change in the market interest 
rates would not affect the financial result for the financial year and the fund of the Institute.
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22. Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

(iii) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
 

The Institute is also exposed to profit rate risk for its Islamic financing with a licensed bank to a maximum ceiling rate 
of 10.75%. The Bank will grant “Ibra” (rebate) to the Institute where EPR is less than CPR; upon early settlement of the 
facility; and/or upon receipt by the licensed bank of the settlement amount pursuant to occurrence any of the Events of 
Default as set out in the facility agreement.

d. Fair value
 
The carrying amount of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Institute at the end of the financial year approximated 
their fair values, on the following basis: -
 
Short-term financial assets and financial liabilities
Carrying amounts approximated fair values due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments. 
 
Long-term financial liability (Islamic financing)
The fair value of the Islamic financing is determined by discounting the relevant cash flows using current profit rates for similar 
instruments at the end of the reporting period.

23. Capital Management

The Institute regards the accumulated fund as capital.

The objectives of the Institute in managing capital are:

• to safeguard the Institute’s function, which is to regulate and develop the accountancy profession in Malaysia in line with its 
statutory obligations under  the  Accountants Act, 1967;

• to develop and enhance competency through continuous education and training to meet the challenges of the global 
economy; and

• to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Institute’s operational efficiency. 

The Institute regularly reviews and manages its capital to ensure adequacy for both operational and capital needs. All surpluses 
are transferred to the accumulated fund for future operational needs. For the purpose of capital disclosure, the Council regards 
the accumulated fund as capital of the Institute.

24. Commitments
 2015       2014 

Note  RM  RM 

Capital commitments

Property, plant and equipment

Approved and contracted for (a) 2,224,480 13,346,880

Intangible asset

Approved and contracted for (b) 304,253 72,473

(a): This relates to the acquisition of new office suite at Bangsar South.

(b): This relates to the acquisition of Human Resource System and new accounting system.
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25. Operating Leases 

Lease of office premises
 
Leases as lessee
 
The Institute has entered into leases of office premises. These non-cancellable leases have remaining lease terms of between 
1 to 3 years. Future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating lease at the reporting date are as follows:

2015 2014

RM RM

Less than one year 461,450 494,350

Between one and five years 142,775 326,225

604,225 820,575
 
Leases as lessor
 
The Institute has entered into leases of office premises. These non-cancellable leases have remaining lease term of half year. 
Future minimum rental receivable under non-cancellable operating lease at the reporting date are as follows:
 

2015 2014

RM RM

Less than one year 3,000 33,600

Between one and five years - -

3,000 33,600

26. Comparatives

Certain comparative figures have been restated to conform with the current financial year’s presentations.

As previously stated Restatement As restated

 RM RM  RM 
Statement of financial position

Receivables, deposits and prepayments 1,921,750 97,800 2,019,550

Payables and accruals 5,848,020 (56,990) 5,791,030

Deferred income 2,749,117 154,790 2,903,907

Commitments

Capital Commitments 16,683,480 (3,336,600) 13,346,880

The RM3,336,600 represented 15% cash payment made by the Institute in financial year ended 30 June 2013 towards the 
purchase of the office suite.



Significant Event
Highlights

RM
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Stakeholder Lingkages 

MIA organised a series of key events to engage with our stakeholders to strengthen its relationship and create public 
awareness on issues affecting the accountancy profession. To promote growth and development of the profession locally, 
regionally and globally, MIA enlisted the support and collaboration from the Government, regulatory bodies, industry, academia 
and also, our members. 

27.09.2014
MIA 28th Annual General Meeting

04.11.2014
MIA-ACCA MoU Signing Ceremony

04.09.2014
MIA Calls on Minister of Finance II

30.09.2014
MIA-CPA Australia Launch of Guides and Forum on Stakeholders’ Expectation of Audit
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09.12.2014
MIA-CIMA MoA Signing Ceremony

11.11.2014
Peneraju Students Visit to MIA

12.12.2014
KICPAA visit to MIA

30.01.2015
117th AFA Council Meeting

18.03.2015
ICAEW CEO Visits
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05.03.2015
Vietnamese delegates visit MIA

11.05.2015
MIA hosts Study Group from Myammar
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30.03.2015
CIPFA, MIA & MICPA - MoU Signing Ceremony

08.06.2015
Courtesy Visit to Bursa Malaysia

19.06.2015
Indian delegates visit MIA

 30.06.2015
Courtesy Visit to MICG
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17.07.2014
GST Conference 2014

Enhancing Competency and Maintaining Integrity 

MIA organised key events aimed at communicating, enhancing and promoting MIA’s brand values.  These events were 
also targeted at inculcating a  culture of competency and integrity among members in order to uplift the standards of the 
accountancy profession in line with global best practices.  These events provided platforms to deliver the latest knowledge
to members, enabling them to function effectively as essential business partners. 

23.08.2014
Talent Corp Mini SFCF 2014

04.11.2014
MIA International Accountants Conference 2014

27.102014
Budget 2015 Seminar
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24.03.2015
Audit Committee Conference 2015

03.12.2014
Talk by Paul Thompson of IFAC

21.01.2015
Islamic Finance Conference 2015

19.12.2014
ESB Outreach - Ethical Challenges in Today’s World

30.01.2015
MIA-AFA Seminar 2015
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30.03.2015
Government Accrual Accounting Conference 2015

24.03.2015
Merger, Acquisition and Affiliation of Accounting Firms - A Market Update
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Corporate Social Responsibility 

For the year under review, MIA continued its focus on corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives. Among the major 
accomplishments include capacity building through student outreach and accountancy awareness programmes targeted at the 
Generation Y students. MIA together with other stakeholders also initiated major activities that advocate excellence in business 
reporting and practices.

CSR in Business 

20.11.2014
NACRA 2014 Awards

11.09.2014
NAfMA 2014 Awards
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CSR in the Community 

15.12.2014
MIA QE Graduation 2014

13.09.2014
National Accounting Quiz (NAQ) 2014

14.05.2015
PAIB Article of Merits 2014 Awards

15.11.2014
Best Accounting
Students Award
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Food Distribution for the Homeless

Interaction Day with the Homeless Community

Volunteer at Zoo Negara

MIA Flood Relief Drive

Food Distribution for the Homeless
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19.09.2014
Career Talk at MARA Professional College Bandar Penawar

04.12.2014
Talk on Unclaimed Money Act, 1965
by Jabatan Akauntan Negara Malaysia

16.10.2014
MIA Johor Annual Dinner

Regional Activities 

Johor Region 
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17-18.01.2015
Johor Career & Postgraduate EXPO 2015

25.03.2015
Dialogue between IRB Johor State and Professional Bodies

06.04.2015
Career Talk with SMK Kota Masai 2
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12.08.14
Sentral College Penang visits MIA Northern Regional Office

13.12.2014
Spice up your life with MIA

Northern Region 

12.08.2014
MIA-USM Roundtable Discussion

10.09.2014
Career Talk and Membership Recruitment initiative at SEGI College
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Sabah Region 

12.08.14
Sabah Regional Sports Committee calls on the State Minister of Youth & Sports

04.09.2014
Special Members’ Briefing on GST by the Royal Malaysian Customs Department

16.07.14
Courtesy Call to Sabah Customs Director

02.11.2014
Tiens Health Charity Run 2014



130          Malaysian Institute of Accountants    •   ANNUAL REPORT 2015          

27-29.03.2015
Mount Kinabalu Climb & National Park Tour 2015
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Sarawak Region 

24.10.2014
Career Talk and Dialogue with UiTM

28.10.2014
Career Talk at Sunway College

25.03.2015
Career Talk at
University College of Technology Sawarak (UCTS)
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26.06.2015
Courtesy cum Education visit to Sejingkat Power Station
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Media and Communications 

MIA actively engages with the media to communicate issues affecting the accountancy profession. Throughout the year 
under review, MIA received many significant coverage in leading broadcast & print media such as The Star, News Straits Times, 
The Malaysian Reserve, Utusan Malaysia, Berita Harian and the China Press. The media coverage also articulates and 
enhances MIA’s brand and strategic objectives for building competency, quality and reputation.

27.07.2014
179 teams enter Accounting Quiz 2014 quarter-final
Source: New Straits Times

26.08.2014
Wanted: More Accountants
Source: New Straits Times

17.09.2014
Cadang pinda Akta 

Akauntan 1967 
bertujuan perkasa 

profesion perakaunan
Source: Utusan Malaysia

05.11.2014
20,000 registrations for
GST by year-end
Source: China Press

05.11.2014
GST set to go

Source:
The Malaysian Reserve

04.10.2014
Interesting times for MIA
Source: The Star

05.11.2014
MIA tingkat program 

pendidikan GST
Source: Berita Harian
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13.01.2015
Ambrin: Serve with integrity
Source: The Sun

22.11.2015
Pertumbuhan positif 
hab kewangan Islam
Source: Utusan Malaysia

19.03.2015
Malaysian audit committee
to rise to the occasion
Source: The Malaysian Reserve

12.02.2015
16,000 bumiputera

terima manfaat - PM
Source: Utusan Malaysia

20.03.2015
New award category for
corporate reporting by NACRA
Source: The Malaysian Reserve

26.03.2015
MIA: Professional accountants generally
are ready for GST
Source: The Malaysian Reserve

11.05.2015
Asean MRA a boon for accountancy

Source: StarBiz

06.06.2015
Can auditors be

insightful, transparent?
Source: StarBiz
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